

LUND UNIVERSITY

Identification of intrinsic regulators in normal and malignant human hematopoiesis. An **RNA-interference** approach.

Galeev, Roman

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Galeev, R. (2018). Identification of intrinsic regulators in normal and malignant human hematopoiesis. An RNAinterference approach. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Laboratory Medicine]. Lund University: Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

IDENTIFICATION OF INTRINSIC REGULATORS IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT HUMAN HEMATOPOIESIS

An RNA-interference approach

ROMAN GALEEV DIVISION OF MOLECULAR MEDICINE AND GENE THERAPY | LUND UNIVERSITY







Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy

> Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2018:111 ISBN 978-91-7619-679-3 ISSN 1652-8220



IDENTIFICATION OF INTRINSIC REGULATORS IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT HUMAN HEMATOPOIESIS

An RNA-interference approach

Roman Galeev



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Lux aula övre, Thursday 2018-09-13 at 09.00.

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Doctor Johannes Zuber, MD, PhD Research Institute of Molecular Pathology (IMP) Vienna, Austria

> > *Supervisor* Professor Jonas Larsson, MD, PhD

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY, Faculty of Medicine

Department of Laboratory Medicine, Lund Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy

Author(s) Roman Galeev

Document name DOCTORAL DISSERTATION Date of issue September 13, 2018 Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle

IDENTIFICATION OF INTRINSIC REGULATORS IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT HUMAN HEMATOPOIESIS An RNA-interference approach

Abstract

Blood cell formation, also known as hematopoiesis, is maintained by a small number of undifferentiated hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) residing in our bone marrow. These cells have the capacity to self-renew, but also give rise to all mature blood cell lineages and types, effectively generating approximately 11 million cells every second throughout the life of an individual.

Despite arguably being one of most studied adult stem cells in humans, the molecular principles governing HSC fate remain incompletely defined. In this thesis, to gain deeper insights into the mechanisms underlying renewal and differentiation, we developed a global RNAi screening paradigm targeted to human cord blood derived CD34⁺ cells, screening for negative regulators of HSC renewal and proliferation. Using both a pre-selected and a near genome wide lentiviral library, we identified MAPK14, the Cohesin complex, and JARID2 as negative regulators of human HSCs, where attenuation of each of these genes increased HSC activity.

Additionally, we used the data from our RNAi screens as a preselection tool to identify novel regulators of malignant hematopoiesis, specifically acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). By sequencing the preselected genes in over 400 patient samples and subsequently validating our genetic candidates in both human and murine systems, we identified NCAPD2 and SDPR as potential AML and MDS-associated genes.

In summary, in this thesis, we employed global RNAi screens targeted to primary human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs). We show that this approach is a feasible strategy to identify novel modifiers of cell fate, and may also complement genome-wide sequencing approaches to guide the identification of functionally relevant disease-related genes in hematopoietic malignancies.

Key words				
Hematopoietic stem cell, RNA interference, acute myeloid leukemia, myelodysplastic syndrome, genetic screens, next generation sequencing, genetic regulators				
Classification system and/or index ter	ms (if any)			
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language		
		ENGLISH		
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-7619-679-3		
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 125	Price		
	Security classification			

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

ann Caely

Signature

Date August 7th, 2018

IDENTIFICATION OF INTRINSIC REGULATORS IN NORMAL AND MALIGNANT HUMAN HEMATOPOIESIS

An RNA-interference approach

Roman Galeev



Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy Department of Laboratory Medicine Faculty of Medicine

> Lund University August 2018

Copyright © Roman Galeev

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine, Department of Laboratory Medicine Division of Molecular Medicine and Gene Therapy

ISBN 978-91-7619-679-3 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



To everyone with the tenacity to read this thesis from cover to cover O

"There is nothing worse than death" – Tom Riddle

"Come with me. Save yourself. You don't owe these people anymore; you've given them everything" – Selina "Not everything...not yet" – Bruce

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	8
ABBREVIATIONS	9
ARTICLES AND MANUSCRIPTS INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	13
PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS	14
PREFACE	15
HEMATOPOIESIS AND THE HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL	16
 Hematopoiesis – a brief overview 1.1. The function of the hematopoietic system 	16 16
1.2. Hematopoiesis throughout life – from the fetus to the supercentenarian	19
 Discovery, isolation and biology of the hematopoietic stem cell 2.1. Discovery 	22
2.2. Isolation2.3. Biology of HSPCs	23
 3. Studying human HSCs and hematopoiesis. 3.1. Acquisition of human HSCs. 2.2. Analysis and characterization of human USCs. 	29 29
 4. Regulation of the hematopoietic stem cell	29 34 35 40
MALIGNANT HEMATOPOIESIS	44
1. Introduction to malignant hematopoiesis	44
 Acute myeloid leukemia 2.1. Epidemiology and pathogenesis 2.2. Treatment 	47 47 48
 Myelodysplastic syndrome	49 49 50
4. Differences between AML and MDS4.1. Disease development4.2. Mutation landscape	51 51 51

5. Gene and hematopoietic stem cell therapies	. 52
5.1. History	. 53
5.2. Sources of human HSCs	. 53
5.3. Bone marrow transplantation	. 54
5.4. Improvements and future challenges for BMT	. 33
6. Targeted therapies for hematopoietic malignancies	. 57
RNA INTERFERENCE	. 59
1. RNA interference – Basic principles and discovery	. 59
2. RNAi – from Saccharomyces to Homo sapiens	. 59
2.1. Exogenous and endogenous RNAi	. 59
2.2. The mechanism of RNA interference	. 61
3. Using RNAi to study gene function	. 63
3.1. RNA interference in the study of hematopoiesis	. 63
3.2. Identification of HSC regulators using RNAi screens	. 68
AIMS OF THIS THESIS	. 71
SUMMARY OF ARTICLES	. 72
Paper I – RNAi screen identifies MAPK14 as a druggable suppressor of human hematopoietic stem cell expansion	. 72
Paper II – Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies Cohesin genes as modified of renewal and differentiation in human HSCs	ers . 73
Paper III – Jarid2 regulates hematopoietic stem cell function by acting warpolycomb repressive complex 2	ith . 73
Paper IV – Identification of potential disease associated genes in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome using RNAi screens an targeted sequencing	d . 74
CONCLUSIONS	. 76
GENERAL DISCUSSION	77
PNAi based genetic screens	. , , 77
	. / /
Conesin as a novel regulator of HSPCs and a therapeutic target in leukemis	ì /9
SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING	. 84
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	. 85
REFERENCES	. 88

ABSTRACT

Blood cell formation, also known as hematopoiesis, is maintained by a small number of undifferentiated hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) residing in our bone marrow. These cells have the capacity to self-renew, but also give rise to all mature blood cell lineages and types, effectively generating approximately 11 million cells every second throughout the life of an individual.

Despite arguably being one of most studied adult stem cells in humans, the molecular principles governing HSC fate remain incompletely defined. In this thesis, to gain deeper insights into the mechanisms underlying renewal and differentiation, we developed a global RNAi screening paradigm targeted to human cord blood derived CD34⁺ cells, screening for negative regulators of HSC renewal and proliferation. Using both a pre-selected and near genome wide lentiviral library, we identified MAPK14, the Cohesin complex, and JARID2 as negative regulators of human HSCs, where attenuation of each of these genes increased HSC activity.

Additionally, we used the data from our RNAi screens as a preselection tool to identify novel regulators of malignant hematopoiesis, specifically acute myeloid leukemia (AML) and myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS). By sequencing the preselected genes in over 400 patient samples and subsequently validating our genetic candidates in both human and murine systems, we identified NCAPD2 and SDPR as potential AML and MDS-associated genes.

In summary, in this thesis, we employed global RNAi screens targeted to primary human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells (HSPCs), and show that this approach is a feasible strategy to identify novel modifiers of cell fate, and may also complement genome-wide sequencing approaches to guide the identification of functionally relevant disease-related genes in hematopoietic malignancies.

ABBREVIATIONS

AGM	aorta-gonad mesonephros
AHR	aryl hydrocarbon receptor
ALL	acute lymphoblastic leukemia
AML	acute myeloid leukemia
APL	acute promyelocytic leukemia
ATAQ	assay for transposase-accessible chromatin
BMT	bone marrow transplantation
CAR	CXCL12 abundant reticular cell
CAR-T	chimeric antigen receptor
CB	cord blood
CD	cluster of differentiation
CDKN	cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor
CFC	colony forming cell
CFU	colony forming unit
CGD	chronic granulomatous disease
CGL	chronic granulocytic leukemia – effectively the same as CML
CHIP	clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential
ChIP	chromatin immunoprecipitation
CLL	chronic lymphocytic/lymphoid leukemia
CLP	common lymphoid progenitor
CML	chronic myelogenous/myeloid/myelocytic leukemia
СМР	common myeloid progenitor
CRISPR	clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats
DC	dendritic cell
DGCR8	DiGeorge syndrome chromosome/critical region 8
DMARD	disease-modifying antirheumatic drug

DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DS-AMKL	down syndrome - acute megakaryoblastic leukemia
ER	endoplasmatic reticulum
ErP	erythroid progenitor
ET	essential thrombocytosis
FACS	fluorescence activated cell sorting
FGF	fibroblast growth factor
FLT	fms like tyrosine kinase
G-CSF	granucolyte – colony stimulating factor
GM-CSF	granulocyte/macrophage - colony stimulating factor
GMLP	granulocyte/macrophage/lymphoid progenitor
GMP	granulocyte-macrophage progenitor
GvHD	graft-versus-host disease
GvL	graft-versus-leukemia
НСТ	hematopoietic cell transplantation
HDAC	histone deacetylase
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HMA	hypomethylating agent
HSC	hematopoietic stem cell
HSPC	hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell
IFN	interferon
IL	interleukin
iPSC	induced pluripotent stem cell
JARID	jumonji, AT rich interactive domain
LSC	leukemic stem cell
LT-HSC	long-term hematopoietic stem cell
MDS	myelodysplastic syndrome
MEP	megakaryocyte-erythroid progenitor
MF	myelofibrosis

MGUS	monoclonal gammopathy of unknown significance
MHC	major histocompatibility complex
miRNA	micro RNA
MkP	megakaryocytic progenitor
MM	multiple myeloma
MPN	myeloproliferative neoplasm
MPP	multipotent progenitor
NF-κB	nuclear factor kappa B
NGS	next generation sequencing
NOD/SCID	non-obese diabetic, severe combined immunodeficiency
NSG	NOD/SCID/Il2Rγ
PCA	principal component analysis
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PDGF(R)	platelet derived growth factor (receptor)
PRC	polycomb repressor complex
PV	polycythemia vera
RBC	red blood cell
RNA	ribonucleic acid
RNAi	RNA interference
RNP	ribonucleic protein
SCF	stem cell factor
scRNA-seq	single cell RNA sequencing
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
siRNA	small inhibitory RNA
SMC	structural maintenance of chromosomes
ST-HSC	short-term hematopoietic stem cell
STAG	stromal antigen
STK	serine threonine kinase
TAD	topology associated domain

TBI	total body irradiation
TF	transcription factor
TGF	transforming growth factor
TKI	tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TPO	thrombopoietin
TSG	tumor suppressor gene
VAF	variant allele frequency
VEGF(R)	vascular endothelial growth factor (receptor)
VPA	valproic acid
WAS	wiskott-aldrich syndrome
WBC	white blood cell
X-SCID	x-linked severe combined immunodeficiency

ARTICLES AND MANUSCRIPTS INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

I – Baudet, A., Karlsson, C., Safaee Talkhoncheh, M., **Galeev, R.,** Magnusson, M. and Larsson J. (2012). RNAi screen identifies MAPK14 as a druggable suppressor of human hematopoietic stem cell expansion. Blood *119*, 6255-6258.

II – **Galeev, R.,** Baudet, A., Kumar, P., Rundberg Nilsson, A., Nilsson, B., Soneji, S., Törngren, T., Borg, Å., Kvist, A. and Larsson, J. (2016). Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies Cohesin genes as modifiers of renewal and differentiation in human HSCs. Cell Reports *14*, 2988-3000.

III – Kinkel, S.A., **Galeev, R.,** Flensburg, C., Keniry, A., Breslin, K., Gilian, O., Lee, S., Liu, J., Chen, K., Gearing, L.J., Moore, D.L., Alexander, W.S., Dawson, M., Majewski, I.J., Oshlack, A., Larsson, J., and Blewitt, M.E. (2015). Jarid2 regulates hematopoietic stem cell function by acting with polycomb repressive complex 2. Blood *125*, 1890-1900.

IV – Galeev, R., Yoshida, K., Karimi, M., Žemaitis, K., Lehmann, S., Hellström-Lindberg, E., Ogawa, S., and Larsson J. Identification of potential disease associated genes in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome using RNAi screens and targeted sequencing. (Manuscript)

PUBLICATIONS NOT INCLUDED IN THIS THESIS

I – Galeev, R., Karlsson, C., Baudet, A., and Larsson J. (2017). Forward RNAi screens in human hematopoietic stem cells. Methods Mol Biol. *1622* 29-50 (invited protocol chapter)

II – **Galeev, R.,** and Larsson J. (2018). Cohesins in haematopoiesis and leukaemia. Curr Opin Hematol. *25* 259-265 (invited review).

III – Sigurdsson, V., Takei, H., Soboleva, S., Radulovic, V., **Galeev, R.,** Siva, K., Leeb-Lundberg, L.M.F., Iida, T., Nittono, H., and Miharada, K. (2016). Bile acids protect expanding hematopoietic stem cells from unfolded protein stress in fetal liver. Cell Stem Cell *18*, 522-532.

IV – Kumar, P., Baudet, A., Beck, D., Thomas, J., **Galeev, R.,** de Jong, I., Pimanda, J., and Larsson, J. (2017). Overexpression of HMGA2 promotes the myeloerythroid biased long-term reconstitution of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *Submitted*

PREFACE

I like to say that modern medicine has developed through several distinctly defined stages, although often in canon, each relying on a unique brand of science and technology. First came the carbon-based pharmaceuticals, much due to advances in organic chemistry; drugs like painkillers, antibiotics and blood pressure medications. Then came the biomolecules, from general insulin to specific antibodies targeting specific epitopes (infliximab and alemtuzumab to name a few). And then, finally, tissue and cell therapy; transplanting cells, tissues or whole organs to cure or treat a certain condition.

This thesis addresses a tiny part of the widely used bone marrow transplantation, possibly the first of the cell-based therapies. The focus lies on the identification of genes that control the biology and fate of the cell that makes bone marrow transplantation possible; the hematopoietic stem cell.

Most of the work presented in the thesis has been done in parallel with my studies in medical school and later work at the Skåne University Hospital. It has been an amazing journey, where work in the clinic interchanged with work in the research department created a positive feedback loop of motivation, interest and energy. Meeting with and taking care of patients suffering from the diseases presented here was perhaps the greatest motivation of all.

I hope my readers will enjoy reading this thesis as much as I enjoyed writing it.

Rann Coch

Lund, Sweden, August 2018 Roman Galeev

HEMATOPOIESIS AND THE HEMATOPOIETIC STEM CELL

1. Hematopoiesis – a brief overview

1.1. The function of the hematopoietic system

Many words in the modern languages of today's Europe stem from Greek and Latin. And so does "hematopoiesis" where "hema" means "blood" and "poies" means "to make" in Greek. The field of hematopoiesis is thus concerned with understanding how blood, with all its different components and functions, is made.

Blood is a truly unique organ devoid of solid shape, and with its liquid form, it has the ability to reach and penetrate virtually every part of the human body with a few exceptions (such as the cornea, cardiac valves and nails to name a few). There is no test that doctors do more frequently than the blood test, and the constituents of blood, likely due to the omnipresence of blood in our bodies, with all the trace elements and proteins, reflect the state in the entire organism quite remarkably.

Broadly speaking, the mature blood cells are divided into three groups; erythrocytes (red blood cells), responsible for delivering oxygen and removing carbon dioxide; thrombocytes, also known as platelets, responsible for coagulation, making sure we do not bleed out when we get an injury, and finally leukocytes (white blood cells), combating foreign micro-organisms, as well as monitoring the integrity of our own cells.

The white blood cells show the highest complexity in their mature state. There is practically one kind of erythrocytes and thrombocytes, but a wide range of leukocytes. The leukocytes are usually, in turn, divided into two major groups; the lymphoid cells, and the myeloid cells. The term "myeloid cell" is used slightly differently in the literature. My definition of myeloid cell is: "every leukocyte that is not a lymphocyte". It is tempting to say that the myeloid lineage is responsible for the innate immune defense, while the lymphoid lineage is adaptive, however, this would be an oversimplification.

Myeloid cells are usually described as the "first-line" of defense. They are not specific for a particular virus, bacteria, fungus, or protozoa, and respond fairly similarly to all kinds of infections. Myeloid cells consist of granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages and mast cells.

There are three types of granulocytes; neutrophils, eosinophils and basophils. Neutrophils, the most abundant granulocyte in our body, attack primarily bacteria using phagocytosis, a process of taking up the foreign invader into its own cytoplasm for digestion and degranulation; release of toxic substances extracellularly, combating bacteria in the tissues (Witko-Sarsat et al., 2000). Eosinophils are the main arsenal against parasitic infections. Naturally, parasites are usually too big to be ingested, and the attack against them is primarily an extracellular one using degranulation of toxic substances stored inside the eosinophils. Eosinophils also have a role in combating viral infections, and together with the mast cells, play a critical role in development and maintenance of allergies and asthma (Uhm et al., 2012). The role of basophils, the rarest granulocyte, and also the one least studied appears to be fairly similar to eosinophils. They also fight parasites, ectoparasites (parasites that live outside the body like lice, fleas and mites) being their main preference and like the eosinophils, contribute to the pathogenesis of allergies and asthma (Mukai and Galli, 2013).

Monocytes themselves have little function. They circulate the blood waiting for cues from granulocytes and the adaptive immune response to migrate into tissues. There, they transform into macrophages that phagocytose foreign substances and invaders. Contrasting with granulocytes, macrophages do not secrete granules and their main function is strictly phagocytosis. Cells of the adaptive immunity, mainly T and NK cells, stimulate and activate the macrophage (Nichols et al., 1971; Swirski et al., 2009).

The cell types I have mentioned above have, in turn, several sub-groups. One worth mentioning is the osteoclast, a macrophage exclusive to bone that remodels and strengthens the bones together with the osteoblast. Both the osteoblast and the osteoclast have a role in the regulation of HSC function (Vaananen et al., 2000).

Finally, the role of the mast cell is not as clear-cut. It is primarily known as the main culprit behind allergies and asthma, diseases that continue to increase more and more in Western countries. However, they also have a role in immune tolerance, pathogen defense and blood-brain barrier function (da Silva et al., 2014; Polyzoidis et al., 2015).

A critical role of myeloid cells not discussed as often is wound healing and regenerative medicine in general, making them critical players in scar formation, regeneration and aging. After hemostasis is achieved by platelets, myeloid cells play a critical role in keeping the invading bacteria out as well as clearing out all the damaged and dead tissue before development of new blood vessels (angiogenesis) and collagen deposition occurs to rebuild the connective tissue. Lastly, re-epithelialization repairs the broken skin and the wound closes (Stadelmann et al., 1998).

Lymphoid cells, in turn, are made of three distinct sub-lineages; the B-cells ("B" standing for "bursa of Fabricius" an unique organ in birds where B-cells were firstly discovered) (Stadelmann et al., 1998), T-cells (T standing for thymus) and the natural killer (NK) cells. B-cells produce antibodies that recognize specific molecules or epitopes on foreign invaders and help the innate immune system to destroy them (Stadelmann et al., 1998). T-cells work as master regulators of the immune response in general, activating other cells to produce antibodies or phagocytize pathogens (Buchholz et al., 2016). NK-cells work primarily on their own, and are more focused on problems within our own bodies, such as killing off virus-infected cells or cells that have transformed to cancer.

Finally, the source of dendritic cells (DC) is not as clear-cut as for the rest of the leukocytes. Their origins have been traced back to progenitors of both the myeloid and the lymphoid lineages. DCs are primarily residing in tissues close to the external environment; such as the mucosa of the gastrointestinal tract or the epidermis of the skin. They digest foreign substances and present them to T-cells residing in a lymph node nearby, thus primarily functioning as first informants of a coming microbial invasion (Vivier et al., 2011).

Blood cells have one of the highest turnover rates in the body. There have been huge variations in the proposed number of cells in an adult human being from different sources and different methodologies. In an attempt to pool the existing data together, it has recently been estimated and proposed that the human body contains approximately $3.72 \cdot 10^{13}$ cells where as much as 70% is blood cells and 94% of the blood cells, in turn, are erythrocytes. (Bianconi et al., 2013). Different blood cells have vastly different lifespans, with neutrophils lasting 1-5 days in contrast to memory T-cells that live almost as long as the organism.

To keep up with this demand, the body needs to make approximately 10¹² blood cells every day which is the equivalent of approximately 11 million cells every second (Ogawa, 1993). To ensure and enable such a tremendous output, HSCs go through differentiation into stage-specific progenitors undergoing proliferative expansion, increasing the cell number and restricting stem cell plasticity at each stage until the final, mature effector cell stage, is reached (Figure 1A). Or at least, this has been the prevailing paradigm of hematopoiesis for several decades. Lately however, the integrity of defined progenitor populations in particular have come into question. The alternative model argues for a more continuous differentiation process, where cells do not go through specific stages, but rather move through a continuum, from HSCs to mature effector cells (Figure 1C). This topic will be covered in greater detail in part 2.3.



Illustration: Veronika Bendoriūtė

Figure 1. Evolution of the model of the hematopoietic hierarchical tree. **A**, the first model; a homogeneous pool of LT-HSCs goes through several distinct intermediate progenitor stages before terminally differentiating into mature effector cells. **B**, the revised model, initially described in 2007; the HSC pool contains several different types of HSCs, each with a certain lineage preference. The myeloid/lymphoid branching points does not occur as early as previously thought; cells retain their lineage plasticity further down in the tree. **C**, The revised model of the hematopoietic hierarchy in 2018. HSCs are unique and lineage restricted, and their path of differentiation is, to some extent, predefined. There are no clear intermediate differentiation stages, rather, cells move along a continuum, from LT-HSC to mature cells.

1.2. Hematopoiesis throughout life – from the fetus to the supercentenarian

Due to ethical constraints, studying developing hematopoiesis and the way blood formation changes during life is particularly difficult in humans. The vast information we have on this topic, particularly the details, comes from studies done in mice.

In the very early stages of gestation, where differentiation just reached the morula and blastocyst stages, nutrient supply and waste removal is achieved through diffusion. However, quite soon after implantation this is not enough and some form of circulation is required (Palis, 2016).

Interestingly, the human hematopoietic system develops in "waves"; transient proliferation of hematopoietic cells originating in different sites of the developing embryo, without any clear-cut "stem" cells. Intriguingly, this is, in effect, hematopoiesis without HSCs. The site of the first wave is in the human yolk sac, where hematopoietic cells can be detected as early as day 15 (Tavian and Peault, 2005). The yolk sac forms cells almost exclusively of the erythroid lineage, with only few monocyte/macrophages and megakaryocytes and no lymphoid cells. The yolk sac remains the primary hematopoietic organ of the embryo until the 6th week (i.e. the 8th week of pregnancy), when this role is taken over by the fetal liver (Palis and Yoder, 2001).

The fetal liver is seeded with hematopoietic progenitor cells from the yolk sac around day 23 (Gomez Perdiguero et al., 2015; McGrath et al., 2015), but there is also a second wave of hematopoiesis that originates from the wall of the newly formed aorta around day 27 and seeds the liver around day 30 where the HSCs expand at least two orders of magnitude (Ivanovs et al., 2011). There are several controversies regarding the process that follows, particularly the origin of the multilineage, long term reconstituting HSCs. While some authors claim that the yolk sac, at least partially contributes to LT-HSCs where the primitive HPCs mature into true LT-HSCs and eventually expand in the fetal liver before colonizing the bone marrow to sustain lifelong hematopoiesis (Lee et al., 2016; Samokhvalov et al., 2007), others claim that definitive LT-HSCs are produced *de novo* from the ventral wall of the dorsal aorta (Medvinsky and Dzierzak, 1996; Muller et al., 1994).

Regardless, it is likely that the primitive HPCs fulfill the oxygen needs of the rapidly growing embryo, while the cells emerging from the second hematopoietic wave are capable of not only long-term engraftment but also exhibit all-lineage potential, making them complete LT-HSCs.

Since the HSCs disappear from the aorta around day 40, the fetal liver maintains the intraembryonic hematopoiesis until the gradual overtake (beginning in 10th week of gestation, i.e. the 12th week of pregnancy) of hematopoiesis by the bone marrow which eventually becomes the primary hematopoietic organ throughout life (Cheng et al., 2000; Christensen et al., 2004). Out of all HSCs studied throughout development and life, the ones emerging from the aorta display the highest activity, likely due to their requirement of expansion as they migrate into the fetal liver (Bianconi et al., 2013).

While it is difficult to study embryonic and fetal hematopoiesis in humans, neonatal sources, i.e. cord blood, is likely the most accessible source of human HSCs today. After a child is born, the umbilical cord is cut. After 15 to 30 minutes, the placenta is detached from the uterus and is vaginally expelled as well. During gestation, the placenta has many functions, one of which is to act as a membrane or a barrier, separating the systemic circulation of the mother from her child, allowing only certain molecules and substances to pass. The placenta is therefore filled with both maternal and fetal blood when expelled, but the intraplacental membrane separates the blood. By applying pressure on the placenta, neonatal blood can easily be harvested (squeezed out) through the umbilical cord; an outstanding HSC source that before this discovery was completely disregarded and discarded (Broxmeyer et al., 1989).

Through development and aging, the number of phenotypic HSC, defined as having a certain combination of cell surface receptors, increases while their activity decreases. HSCs with the highest activity and potential for self-renewal are found in the wall of the aorta in the embryo, with gradual decline throughout the developmental stages; fetal liver, cord blood, young bone marrow and finally old bone marrow (Holyoake et al., 1999; Lansdorp et al., 1993; Pawliuk et al., 1996; Rebel et al., 1996a; Rebel et al., 1996b; Rundberg Nilsson et al., 2016; Weekx et al., 1998).

It is an intriguing question, why the number of HSCs (as determined by their cell surface marker expression) increases while the actual HSC activity decreases. The deeper biological meaning behind this change is unclear, whether there are signaling cues that push cells into self-renewal vs. differentiation, or if it is a compensatory mechanism in body homeostasis due to decreased output of mature effector cells.

In general, hematopoiesis of older people displays slight abnormalities in their blood cell profiles, the most common one is anemia that is not due to inflammation, infection or deficiency of iron, folate, or cobalamins. There is also a "myeloid skewing" in the old hematopoietic system, where relatively more myeloid than lymphoid cells are produced. The overall myeloid output is lower in the old individuals; the lymphoid output simply decreases even further. Often, the myeloid skewing is coupled with the development and establishment of clonal hematopoiesis. In newborns and young adults, thousands of different HSCs give rise to mature effector cells. In older people, this diversity diminishes and fewer and fewer pools of seemingly identical stem cells form the output. In a wholegenome sequencing effort of a 115-year-old healthy woman, it was discovered that she only had two clones of HSCs maintaining the whole hematopoiesis (Holstege et al., 2014). This case study was particularly interesting in regards to the other mutations found in her blood. It was discovered that her blood cells harbored near 450 mutations, but luckily none of them were cancerous. Random mutations in HSCs are known to be accumulated with time and this of course raises the question whether it therefore is only a matter of time before a random mutation strikes a critical gene, leading to development of leukemia.

Overall, the developing and aging hematopoiesis can be summarized as emerging from the aorta with a high stem cell activity, expanding in the fetal liver before seeding the bone marrow. Throughout life, stem cell activity progressively decreases, as does the overall hematopoietic output coupled with myeloid skewing and clonal hematopoiesis, often resulting in anemia, increased risk of malignant transformation and in the end, mortality and death.

2. Discovery, isolation and biology of the hematopoietic stem cell

2.1. Discovery

Due to advances in microscopy, the German pathologist Franz Neumann concluded, in the late 19th century, that blood formation had to be in the bone marrow. The Russian scientist Alexander Maximow developed this theory to include a common cell, located somewhere in the bone marrow that had to give rise to the blood cells Neumann saw (Maximow, 1909). Doubtlessly, this theory was met with extreme skepticism at the time, but it was here, with Maximow, and with blood, that the concept of hematopoietic stem cell research, and stem cell research in general, began.

There were many studies indicating the presence of a stem cell or at least a precursor cell following the nuclear bombings in 1945 (the cause of death of the lowest lethal irradiation dose was bone marrow failure), where lethally irradiated mice were saved by injection of cells from the bone marrow or spleen harvested from another mouse, but they were not aiming at the stem cell concept, rather it was the restoration of the blood, as a whole, that was in focus here.

In 1961, a wider range of effects of a bone marrow transplantation following lethal irradiation were studied by Ernest A. McCulloch and James E. Till. They discovered that injected bone marrow cells gave rise to colonies in the spleen of transplanted animals, and that the amount of colonies formed was directly proportional to the amount of bone marrow cells injected (approximately 1 colony for every 7000 cells injected) (Till, 1961). The colonies formed, denoted CFU-S (colony forming unit-spleen), gave rise to multilineage (except lymphoid; these colonies are difficult to achieve *in vitro* and *in vivo*) colonies, clearly demonstrating the multilineage potential of bone marrow cells. To assay that the colonies arose from a single cell, chromosomal breaks were introduced by sublethal irradiation. In the subsequent analysis it was shown that each colony had its own set of chromosomal abberations and that every cell in that colony had the same karyotypic change (Becker, 1963).

As it later turned out, cells giving rise to colonies in the spleen of lethally irradiated recipient mice were actually progenitors and not HSCs. HSCs form colonies quite rarely and when they do, it usually occurs at a later time point (after 12 to 14 days), as compared to progenitor derived colonies that can be visualized as early as after 8 days (Morrison and Weissman, 1994; Na Nakorn et al., 2002).

Cells residing in our bone marrow, while looking quite similar under the microscope, especially as far as the HSCs and restricted progenitors are concerned, are in fact quite heterogeneous and it was not until the development of fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS) that the actual stem cells could be isolated.

2.2. Isolation

Isolation of murine HSCs predated the isolation of human HSCs. Starting in the 80s, many cell surface markers have been identified that enrich for HSC activity in the mouse. However, no combination has been able to isolate absolutely pure HSCs. An intuitive finding is the absence of lineage specific markers, i.e. HSCs do not express proteins associated with a distinct differentiated lineage, referred to as "Lin" (Spangrude et al., 1988; Uchida and Weissman, 1992). Additional markers commonly used today are c-kit (CD117) (Ikuta and Weissman, 1992), stem cell antigen 1 (sca-1) (Spangrude et al., 1988; Uchida and Weissman, 1992), CD48 (Kiel et al., 2005), CD150 (Kiel et al., 2005), CD34 (Osawa et al., 1996), and Flt3 also known as Flk2 (Christensen and Weissman, 2001). The combination Lin Sca1⁺c-kit⁺ is usually referred to as LSK. To obtain a sufficient number of LT-HSCs, all combinations are rarely used together, and the majority of studies today use either the LSKCD34⁻flk2⁻ or the LSKCD48⁻CD150⁺ combination to obtain a reasonable number of LT-HSCs with an adequate purity (approx. 1 in 3-4).

If a higher degree of purity is required, the ability of LT-HSCs to expel substances from their cytosol through membrane-bound pumps can be used. In the murine system, it is possible to isolate HSCs to 96% purity (i.e. in that given population, 24 out of 25 cells are pure, engraftable HSCs) (Matsuzaki et al., 2004). For most studies though, the sacrifice of yield for purity is to great.

Finding markers that isolate human HSCs with the same precision has been difficult. CD34 was the earliest marker for human HSCs discovered and is still of great use today (Civin et al., 1984). It took several years before additional markers that further define the human HSPC population were discovered. Perhaps it was due to difficulties in obtaining human material, or the primary research interest was more focused on the murine system. Possibly, studying the murine hematopoiesis was considerably easier and/or there was no real clinical demand; patients receiving BMT were given whole bone marrow transplants, not particular isolated cellular subsets. Eventually, additional markers for human HSPCs were discovered. CD45RA emerged as a novel marker in 1990, marking more mature cells, where it was shown that cell populations enriched from HSCs are CD45RA⁻ (Lansdorp et al., 1990). CD90 (Baum et al., 1992) and CD38 (Larochelle et al., 1996) were discovered soon after. A combination of these markers later led to

subfractionation of human HSPCs into HSCs, MPP and more commited progenitors (Majeti et al., 2007). CD133 was proposed to mark engrafting human hematopoietic HSPCs (Hess et al., 2006), but this marker did offer any additional purification, particularly if CD90 was included.

The most recently discovered human HSPC marker is CD49f (Notta et al., 2011). But even with the most stringent marker combination of CD34⁺38⁻90⁺45RA⁻49f⁺ and including the efflux of dye by the membrane pump as for murine HSCs, the purity of HSCs barely reaches 10%. The Endothelial Protein C Receptor (EPCR) has recently been shown to be a promising candidate for human HSPC isolation, but this study failed to take CD49f⁺ into account and more research will have to be done to ascertain whether EPCR truly can narrow down the human HSC population further (Fares et al., 2017).

Interestingly, the marker combination for different populations through ontogeny (human fetal liver, cord blood, young and old bone marrow) has proven to be remarkably consistent.

2.3. Biology of HSPCs

2.3.1. HSCs

Studying human HSCs is considerably harder than their murine counterpart. Measuring the division rate for instance, or even something as simple as total number of HSCs in the human body in steady state is not an entirely trivial task. Using cell labeling studies to study human HSCs *in vivo* is not only technically challenging, but also ethically completely indefensible. We are therefore left to do such measurements indirectly, and through simulation and modeling. Using hemizygous selection (i.e. the fact that different HSCs in human females have alternate imprinting of the X-chromosome, and measuring the changes in this ratio) one study estimated the number of HSCs in an adult human to be approximately only 3 000 - 10 000 cells (Catlin et al., 2011), and these cells have to produce approximately 10^{11} - 10^{12} every day or around 100 million cells every second throughout the lifetime of a human being. For a long time, the hematopoietic system was viewed as a rigid hierarchical pyramid, or tree as depicted in Figure 1A. At the top were the LT-HSCs; the only true stem cells, a relatively homogeneous population displaying multipotency, self-renewal and long-term engraftment/blood cell production capabilities (Orkin and Zon, 2008). The way so few cells achieved this tremendous output was believed to be due to a vast number of progenitor cell stages, where cells originating from the asymmetric division of the multipotent HSCs go through different progenitor cell stages as depicted in figure 1A, with exponential amplification of cell number and subsequent lineage restriction. In this model, long-term self-renewal is lost first;

ST-HSCs and MPPs are capable of self-renewal but just within a limited timeframe while remaining multipotent. Complete multipotency is lost at the first branching point, where cells become either myeloid, erythroid and megakaryocytic or lymphoid precursors. These two progenitor populations; CMP and CLP, differentiate further to more lineage specific precursors, becoming bi- and eventually unipotent, while at every stage greatly increasing the cell number (Figure 1A).

During the last decade, this model has become increasingly challenged, and today, it is safe to say that it is a gross oversimplification. It is primarily the ability to increase cell resolution, obtaining quality data from fewer cells and thus decreasing the noise present in bulk analysis, that demanded a revision of the hematopoietic tree. The LT-HSC compartment appeared not to be as homogenous as previously thought; rather, cells within this population display different degrees of skewing and differentiation preference; using single cell transplantation, it was shown that LT-HSCs exhibit one of four distinct differentiation patterns (Dykstra et al., 2007). Further, data suggested that the MEP population, while still believed to mainly arise through maturation and differentiation of the MPP and CMP, could develop from ST/LT-HSCs directly, bypassing the hierarchical pyramid (Adolfsson et al., 2005; Notta et al., 2016; Yamamoto et al., 2013). Additionally, the clear separation between the lymphoid and other lineages became blurred, or at least pushed significantly further down in the hierarchy (Figure 1B) (Gorgens et al., 2013).

During the last years, genetic and fluorescent labeling emerged as a pivotal strategy to study murine HSC function. In this method, a unique barcode is introduced into the genome of a cell after exposure to a stimulus. Since this barcode distributes fairly randomly, each cell will have a unique integration site. Analyzing the integration sites at different time points and different cells will allow the identification of the cell of origin for different mature cells as well as progenitor cells. In 2014, a paper questioned the contribution of LT-HSCs to mature effector cells altogether (Sun et al., 2014). This study showed that LT-HSCs had very little barcode overlap with mature cells, while the different MPP populations did, arguing that at steady-state, MPPs appear to be the primary source of mature blood cells. Following on the ST-HSC to MEP shortcut, a follow up study by the same group in 2018, questioned the existence of the MEP cell in steady-state altogether, and further showed that it is LT-HSCs, rather than ST-HSCs that give rise to platelets directly, bypassing several other progenitor cell stages (Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). While these findings have a huge potential to cause a paradigm shift in the field of hematopoiesis, they should be interpreted with caution, particularly since the transposase labeling requires cell division which likely results in a fairly small amount (and fraction) of HSCs being labeled. Further, results are likely to differ when conducting single cell vs. bulk assays, and also when studying hematopoiesis in steady-state vs. transplantation.

Studies using fluorescent protein tagging of HSCs in the cytoplasm or nucleus (where cell division is not as critical of a requirement) has shown that HSCs contribute to a substantially higher degree to multilineage hematopoiesis than what was deduced after analyzing data acquired using the transposon barcode approach (Busch et al., 2015; Sawai et al., 2016; Sawen et al., 2016). Nonetheless, while these studies provided compelling proof of reestablishing LT-HSCs at the top of the hierarchy of blood cell production during steady state, they indicated strongly that single LT-HSCs were doing so in a fairly lineage restricted manner. This started to bring doubt on the established 4 sub-type model of LT-HSCs that was done in bulk.

Two studies published this year have brought additional light on this topic (Carrelha et al., 2018; Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). While the methodology in these two studies was quite different (steady-state and barcode labeling vs. single cell transplantation), several common conclusions can be drawn. LT-HSCs appear to be uni-, bi-, tri- or multipotent. The unipotency is observed only for the platelet lineage, with subsequent add-on of erythrocytes, myeloid cells, B-cells and finally T-cells. Interestingly, this is not observed *in vitro*, where the same LT-HSCs show complete multilineage potential including generating T-cells. The lineage restriction was propagated upon transplantation into secondary recipients but alleviated when cells were put in culture. While this subgrouping is tentative and needs to be further validated and elucidated, there is a general consistency using different experimental approaches in addressing the same question. Additionally, the long-term engraftment kinetics of the lymphoid lineages seem to be decoupled from the other lineages; cells giving rise to B and T-cells long-term show only transient engraftment of the other lineages (Carrelha et al., 2018).

While it is now fairly well established that lineage priming occurs early, and there appears to be significantly less plasticity at single cell level, at least *in vivo*, than was previously described, it is quite unclear how the lineage commitment is achieved. Using Mx1-Cre-induced fluorescent tagging of HSCs, Yu et al. did not observe any distinct transcriptional differences between LT-HSCs with distinct differentiation patterns, which raises the question at what level this is controlled (Yu et al., 2016). Likewise, Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al. found that while LT-HSCs are subdivided into several different groups based on principal component analysis (PCA) of single cell RNA-sequencing (scRNA-seq), this data provides little information about the differentiation pathways these cells will take, apart from the platelet lineage, which is the only mature lineage observed at the LT-HSC level (Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). Instead, the different MPP populations (MPP1-4) were genetically primed for further differentiation, with skewing patterns

different from the 4 LT-HSC subsets identified over 10 years earlier. However, while the different MPP populations give rise to cells of different lineages with certain skewing ratios at bulk level, single-cell MPP also appear to be committed to a certain specific mature effector cell.

It seems that lineage priming of LT-HSCs appears to be established at the epigenetic level, as there are profound differences in histone methylation and accessible chromatin around enhancers and promoters of lineage specific genes (Ugarte et al., 2015; Yu et al., 2016). Possibly it is the epigenetic marks that determine which differentiation path a certain LT-HSC will take. A confusing observation is though how it is possible that no transcriptional differences are observed despite certain genes being epigenetically activated, consistent with the idea that transcriptionally, LT-HSCs appear to be fairly homogeneous. If a certain lineage gene has open enhancers and active promoters, why are they then not transcribed at a higher level than genes that are epigenetically "closed"? There could be several explanations for this. The most obvious one is the requirement of transcription factors to bind the open enhancers and promoters that may not be present at the undifferentiated stage. The genes could also be post-transcriptionally silenced. Taken together, this implies that, at least in vivo, there is much less plasticity than previously imaged which likely is compensated for by increased heterogeneity.

2.3.2. Progenitors

At the progenitor cell level, it was previously believed that the plastic state was established and maintained by (amongst others) expression of transcription factors of different lineages. As an example, GMPs were thought to express both CEBPa (required for neutrophil differentiation) as well as PU.1 (required for monocyte differentiation) (Scott et al., 1994; Suh et al., 2006). And at the bulk level, this was indeed the case. However, when analyzing single cells, cells that expressed multiple lineage-specific transcription factors were not found (Hoppe et al., 2016). Rather, just as LT-HSC, cells within the phenotypic GMP-compartment were heterogeneous and committed to a certain distinct mature effector cell. Also, selfrenewal turned out to be not as exclusive to HSCs as was previously thought. GMP are capable of activating a self-renewal program in emergency myelopoiesis (Herault et al., 2017). It is interesting to speculate whether it is this very same selfrenewal program that gets "hijacked" in acute myeloid leukemia (AML), since fusion-protein leukemias are believed to arise at this level, and normal karyotype leukemia, while initiated in HSCs, also likely become established at the "GMPstage" (Krivtsov et al., 2006).

Taken together, these studies indicate that lineage specification and commitment occur much earlier than previously thought, likely even at the LT-HSC level. This clearly illustrates the power of the resolution achieved at the single-cell level.

These studies challenge the notion that distinct progenitor populations such as CLP, CMP and GMP even exist. Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al. failed to identify MEPs in steady-state hematopoiesis even at bulk level (Rodriguez-Fraticelli et al., 2018). While there appeared to be phenotypic, functional and molecular characteristics of HSPCs at the bulk level that enabled us to group them into the above-mentioned groups, in reality, single cells might just as well be along a continuous, and not discreet as previously imagined, differentiation spectrum from LT-HSCs to mature effector cells of the blood (Figure 1C). Furthermore, the plasticity of HSPC populations at bulk level (multi, tri, bi), appears to be severely attenuated when examining the hematopoietic system at the single-cell level.

Naturally, if stem cells are primed and show little plasticity from the very beginning, this raises the question how the hematopoietic system is then able to quickly respond to specific demands in production of certain cells. The priming of LT-HSCs towards the two most abundant lineages (platelets and erythrocytes) is certainly one factor, the ability of more downstream progenitors (such as GMPs) to self-renew is another.

While these studies answer many pivotal questions regarding HSC biology, they likely ask even more. It is unclear how well this translates to human cells and which clinical relevance this has at this time. While single cell transplantations can be done for human HSCs, tracking human hematopoiesis in steady-state will be much more challenging if possible at all. The ethical question of using such a vast number of mice as is necessary for robust single-cell transplantations should also be kept in mind. Additionally, despite the remarkable similarities between murine and human hematopoiesis, it is hard to know whether these findings are translatable to humans at all since the mice share identical genetic background, are kept in very clean environments with no exogenous stressors and are required to sustain hematopoiesis for much shorter time given their lifespan. Exogenous stressors are particularly relevant for human HSC biology where a quite diverse range of different stressors; inflammation (Takizawa et al., 2012), acute and chronic infections (Hirche et al., 2017; Matatall et al., 2016), DNA damage (Milyavsky et al., 2010; Mohrin et al., 2010), metabolic stress and autophagy (Warr et al., 2013), ER stress (Sigurdsson et al., 2016), replication stress (Flach et al., 2014), and even less obvious factors such as psychosocial stress (Heidt et al., 2014) and obesity (Ambrosi et al., 2017) affect HSC-function.

3. Studying human HSCs and hematopoiesis

3.1. Acquisition of human HSCs

Studying human HSCs is quite difficult compared to murine. There is just as much scientific effort devoted to understanding how human HSCs are regulated and function, as to developing new technologies, assays and enrichment and isolation strategies for those same purposes. The nature of this difficulty is three-fold; first, true HSCs are a very rare population in the bone marrow, Second, even with an abundant source, it is hard to isolate "homogenous" HSCs, because they are not particularly homogenous; in the human system where we can only enrich for 10% HSCs using the most stringent cell surface marker combination, the other 90% work as quite substantial confounding factors (Notta et al., 2011). Thirdly, HSCs lose their stem cell activity quite rapidly when removed from their natural environment. There is therefore only a short window of opportunity for characterizing these cells once they are isolated for analysis.

Adult human HSCs are usually derived from healthy volunteers through bone marrow aspirations. Acquisition of HSCs from old individuals is not as straightforward; it is not ideal to subject older people to unnecessary invasive procedures. Therefore, the source is usually limited to the femoral head extracted during hip replacement surgery. These patients often have dislocated fractures in the neck of the femur which cuts of the blood supply to the femoral head for a significant period of time in an anatomical location that has a remarkably poor blood supply to begin with. The lack of blood supply to HSCs later isolated from this region has caused controversy regarding to which conclusions can be drawn about old human HSC biology using this source.

As an alternative to adult bone marrow derived HSCs, umbilical cord blood is often used instead, due to its non-invasive acquisition procedure. And while there are many similarities between human HSCs from different ontogenic sources, there are also notably differences, particularly in stem cell activity, and results acquired using one source may not always necessarily be transferable to another.

3.2. Analysis and characterization of human HSCs

With the hallmark experiments of Till and McCullough (Till, 1961), the colony forming unit (CFU) was established, and is still widely used to this day. In this assay, undifferentiated cells are placed into a semi-solid medium containing cytokines that enable and promote differentiation. After two weeks, the formed colonies are scored on type (i.e. which mature cells were the plated cells able to

produce), as well as size of the colony (measuring the proliferative potential). An expansion on this technique is the long-term culture-initiating cell (LTC-IC) assay. Here, only one cell per well is plated and their ability to grow long term in culture is evaluated. As it later turned out, both these assays were in fact assaying the potential of progenitor populations and not true HSCs, and we have to this day no *in vitro* assay to assess the function of the HSC. The increased demand brought on cells through serial replating could be an option and we have seen that human HSCs are able to form colonies more times than progenitors (Galeev, R. and Larsson, J. unpublished data). The assay is likely still too unreliable though, as the ability to form colonies several times might as well be an effect of increased progenitor, and not stem cell, activity.

Another commonly used *in vitro* assay is the ordinary long-term culture, assaying the effect of various conditions on HSPC activity and differentiation. Sometimes, co-culture with stromal cells is used. Depending on the identity of the stromal cells, HSPCs can maintain their activity longer and/or enable differentiation towards the lymphoid, and particularly T-cell, lineages.

To evaluate true HSC function, *in vivo* experiments are required. The gold standard assay for HSC function is transplantation; a lethally irradiated recipient mouse is transplanted with donor HSPCs, usually with stromal support and or/competitor cells, where the observed levels of chimerism provide a direct measurement of HSC function. Since the strains are congenic there is no immune system response and the existence of two isoforms of the marker CD45 (CD45.1 and CD45.2, expressed on the majority of hematopoietic cells) makes it possible to track dynamics of donor vs. host HSC activity. However, as CD45 is not expressed on mature erythrocytes or platelets, even the *in vivo* assays carry a risk of severe result skewing given that only leukocytes and upstream progenitors are analyzed.

When assaying human HSCs, the immunological mismatches need to be considered. If human HSCs were to be transplanted into an immunocompetent mouse, the mouse immune system would mount a response and destroy the foreign cells. For this reason, human HSCs can only be assayed in immunodeficient mice. Initially, Rag^{-/-} mice were used; Rag (Recombination-activating gene) is required for generating the diverse repertoire of B and T cells, and deleting this gene effectively reduces the recombination at least 1000-fold, severely crippling the ability of these mice to mount an immune response to human cells (Mombaerts et al., 1992; Oettinger et al., 1990). To improve upon the human engraftment levels seen in Rag^{-/-} mice, the NOD/SCID mouse was developed in the middle to late 1990s. NOD (Non-obese diabetec), or rather NOD/ShiLtJ, reduces innate immunity through defects in macrophage activity, reduced dendritic cell function and absence of the hemolytic complement system,

while SCID attenuates the levels of B and T cells even further. Interestingly, the NOD mouse was shown to harbor a polymorphism in the Sirpa gene (expressed on mouse macrophages and found to bind to human CD47; the "don't phagocytose me" signal), decreasing the monocyte/macrophage response against the transplanted human cells (Greiner et al., 1998; Shultz et al., 2005; Shultz et al., 1995; Takenaka et al., 2007).

The most commonly used mouse model today is a slight improvement of the NOD/SCID; called NSG ("NS" standing for NOD/SCID). This is a NOD/SCID mouse where there is an additional deletion in the interleukin 2 receptor gamma chain (IL2R γ), a subunit that is common for several other interleukin receptors (Cao et al., 1995). This effectively removes all lymphoid cells, including NK, thereby, in theory at least, overcoming the last major obstacle in the generation of an efficient xenograft transplantation model (Shultz et al., 2005). While this strain remains the gold standard to evaluate and model human hematopoiesis today, there are still several shortcomings.

First, the NSG model, while enabling higher levels of engraftment that the older NOD/SCID or the Rag-/- mice allows the analysis of virtually only one mature lineage; the leukocytes. Evaluating erythropoiesis hematopoietic and thrombopoiesis is considerably harder for the same reasons as described above for the murine system. Second, the engraftment is severely skewed towards the lymphoid lineage of the leukocytes and B-cells in particular. While the majority of leukocytes produced in steady state in the adult human being are myeloid, the myeloid chimerism reaches only an average of 10% in the NSG mouse. Third, engrafting leukemic cells has surprisingly proven to be quite difficult, where barely 50% of primary leukemic samples engraft. This is seemingly counterintuitive since leukemia, and AML in particular, can guickly take over the human bone marrow. A possible explanation (discussed in greater detail in part 3 of this thesis) could be niche factors; leukemias tend to remodel the niche to support the development and maintenance of malignant hematopoiesis through altered cytokine profile and signal interpretation. In the NSG mouse, the xenobiotic and "healthy" nature of the murine bone marrow could prove inhospitable to primary leukemic cells (Schepers et al., 2015).

To allow more efficient myeloid engraftment, and leukemia in particular, NSG mice have been engineered to express three human cytokines, all shown to play important roles in development of myeloid malignancies, in the murine bone marrow; stem cell factor (SCF), granulocyte/macrophage–colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interleukin 3 (IL3). These mice, termed NSGS, while only modestly increasing the amount of engraftable leukemias, elevate the malignant chimerism levels on average one order of magnitude. The relative myeloid

engraftment is increased 2-3-fold as well (Coughlan et al., 2016; Wunderlich et al., 2010).

A certain time after transplantation the chimerism (percentage of human cells in the mouse blood and bone marrow) is assayed. Higher chimerism argues for higher number or higher activity of stem cells. The initial hematopoiesis is established by progenitors, and to evaluate the contribution of *de facto* HSCs, chimerism is assayed at least four months post-transplant. While this may seem like a long time, several studies have suggested that four months still may not be enough. By introducing unique genetic barcodes in HSCs before transplantation, it was shown that some HSCs lie dormant for near a year before giving rise to progeny (reviewed in (Ema et al., 2014)). Complete evaluation of HSCs can therefore easily prove to a lengthy endeavor.

While the NSG/NSGS is the most widely used, and likely one of the best in vivo assays of human hematopoiesis, there at least five major error factors, where several are shared with evaluation of murine hematopoiesis as well. First, the lineages; in effect, we are only assaying hematopoietic progenitors and leukocytes in vivo. While progenitors of both the erythroid and megakaryocytic lineage are analyzed, the donor contribution to mature erythrocytes and platelets is not. Second, time; murine hematopoiesis has been proposed to come in waves, where certain HSC clones lie dormant for >1 year. Likely, this is similar for human hematopoiesis and therefore, bone marrow analysis after four-five months might display an incomplete picture. It is of course worth asking whether this risk motivates such a profound delay in research as would be required. Third, location; the contribution of different bones to the transplanted hematopoietic system is vastly different (Rundberg Nilsson et al., 2015). To account for this error, the majority of mouse bones would have to be collected, including the spine and cranium, and not just the tibia, femur and sometimes iliac bones as is usually done. Fourth, the external environment; the environment of immunodeficient mice is quite clean, whereas transplanted human are constantly challenged with foreign microorganisms, even in the clean wards of a hematology clinic. And fifth, the internal environment; it does not matter how many human cytokines are expressed in the murine bone marrow, it will still be murine. Whether there are missing external cues, and the transplanted human cells have to rely on intrinsic regulators only for the establishment of a new blood system, will always be in question.

Despite the drawbacks of *in vivo* mouse models, the majority of results obtained from such studies have been translatable to transplantation into human hosts. It is a matter of whether the question being asked is more academic or practical.

Intertwined with both the *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays is perhaps one of the most useful tools used to investigate the hematopoietic system; flow cytometry. Using flow cytometry, cells can be separated based on three key characteristics; size and

shape, complexity of their cytoplasm, and presence of specific proteins both inside the cell and on the cellular membrane.

An invention that has revolutionized all of life science is next generation sequencing (NGS). Initially, in order to sequence DNA, the region of interest had to be PCR-amplified and only one sequencing reaction could occur in one test tube. With NGS, billions of sequences can be analyzed in parallel, several orders of magnitude cheaper and, more importantly, faster. Further, NGS is not limited to DNA sequencing; the epigenetic and transcription profiles, transcription factor (TF) localization, chromatin accessibility and chromatin interactions can readily be assessed as well using RNA-sequencing (RNA-Seq), chromatin immune-precipitation (ChIP), assay for transposase-accessible chromatin (ATAC-Seq) and Hi-C respectively, the last three naturally combined with NGS as well. While it was initially thought that such an in-depth analysis would make research easier, in reality, it has rather made it harder. The depth and resolution this technology provides, generates a huge amount of data, which requires the skills of an experienced bioinformatician, but also scientific acumen to separate technological artifacts from actual findings.

The combination of flow cytometry with NGS has proven to be quite a powerful toolset. The advance we can expect in the field of NGS in the near future will make it possible to answer several of the most pressing questions. Since virtually all HSPC populations appear to be more heterogeneous on the population level and less plastic on single cell level than was previously thought, optimizing the applications of NGS to suit smaller and smaller input number of cells will likely bring more clarity on this dynamic process. RNA-Seq has already been performed successfully on single cell level, and pilot studies for ATAC-Seq are well on the way. ChIP and Hi-C were originally designed for huge cell quantities, and likely the protocols will have to be changed substantially before such assays can be done reproducibly at the single cell level. Nevertheless, it is likely not more than a few years away, and with it, an even deeper understanding of murine and human hematopoiesis.
4. Regulation of the hematopoietic stem cell

A hematopoietic stem cell, as it resides in the bone marrow, has several different fate options (Figure 2). It can (i) enter quiescence (i.e. G0), where it lies dormant, waiting for an activating signal. (ii) The HSC can go into apoptosis, for instance if it sustains serious DNA damage from radiation exposure or chemotoxic agents. (iii) The HSC can expand if there is a shortage of both HSCs in the body, or if some HSCs are removed as in a donor bone marrow aspiration. (iv) The HSC can differentiate to give rise to mature progeny; presumably their most common role. (v) It can transform to a malignant cell through a series of mutation acquisitions, in effect becoming a leukemic stem cell (LSC), vital in establishment and maintenance of disease, and a critical target of new cancer therapy drugs.

The balance between (iii) and (iv) is a field of intense investigation. It is of particular interest what controls whether the HSC divides symmetrically or asymmetrically. Naturally, the delicate balance of these five different fate options is controlled in a highly complex manner. HSCs are regulated in many ways, by direct interaction with other cells in their niche, endocrine, paracrine and perhaps even autocrine signaling, genetically and epigenetically.



Figure 2. The various cell fate options of the HSC as it resides in the bone marrow.

4.1. Extrinsic regulators

Broadly, extrinsic regulators of HSCs can be divided into two categories; regulators that exert their effects locally in the "HSC niche", and regulators that control HSC behavior from afar, such as the endocrine and nervous systems (Figure 3). The concept of an HSC niche was first proposed by Schofield, in 1978, when he was reviewing a myriad of articles describing the biology and behavior of CFU-S (Schofield, 1978). Since then, the definition of the HSC niche has come to be by anatomy and function (Morrison and Spradling, 2008; Scadden, 2006); a local tissue microenvironment in the bone marrow that regulates HSPC behavior.

In the decades that followed, the key components of the HSC niche have been characterized and visualized. HSCs reside in a complex environment in the bone marrow where they are subject to a wide range of both short-range and long-range regulatory signals. The vasculature in the marrow is composed of sinusoids and arterioles enriched along the bone surface (Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013). The blood vessels are made up of a single endothelial cell layer surrounded by perivascular mesenchymal stem/stromal cells. Nerve fibers of the sympathetic nervous system run along the blood vessels. The marrow is well vascularized and innervated permitting a quick response and ability to mobilize HSPCs into the bloodstream. There are many secreted factors and membrane bound ligands that regulate HSCs; stem cell factor (SCF), platelet factor 4 (PF4 a.k.a. CXCL4), transforming growth factor beta-1 (TGF- β 1), thrombopoietin (TPO) and angiopoietin (ANGPT1) control quiescence. Vascular cell adhesion protein 1 (VCAM-1), CXCL12/CXCR4, fibronectin, hyaluronic acid and several different



Figure 3. A simplified illustration of the HSC niche in the bone marrow. Illustration: Veronika Bendoriüte

selectins are all important for HSC homing and anchoring in the niche. Notch ligands, erythropoietin (EPO) and various interleukins are important drivers of proliferation and differentiation (Schepers et al., 2015).

Signals to the HSCs may come from direct cell-to-cell contact, as well as in a paracrine and endocrine manner. The cells in the niche can broadly be divided into two types; essential types and accessory types. The essential types are endothelial cells (EC), mesenchymal stromal cells, also known as mesenchymal stem cells (MSC), and functional, differentiated megakaryocytes (Megs). These three cell types are in direct vicinity of HSCs, and provide direct signals to them, both through secretion of factors as well as by expressing ligands on their cell surface that directly interacts with receptors on HSCs. The accessory cells types consist of osteoblasts (OB); cells that are responsible for building up bone, macrophages, and nerve cells. While these three cell types have an effect on HSCs, they exert their effects through long-range interactions or by an indirect effect; affecting the essential cell types than in turn influence HSC behavior (Frenette et al., 2013; Pietras et al., 2011).

While the concept of an HSC niche is near 40 years old, our understanding of it is still quite limited, and there have been several major controversies in the field, even regarding the actual location of HSCs in the niche. During the last decade, much due to advances in gene technology and especially imaging, the controversies have slowly but steadily begun to be resolved, and with the speed at which research and technology improvement is currently being done, it is likely that the remaining controversies will be solved within the next several years.

The osteoblasts were the first niche cells shown to influence HSPC behavior (Calvi et al., 2003; Zhang et al., 2003), and initially, it was believed that the quiescent, LT-HSCs reside in their immediate vicinity at the surface of the endosteum (Nilsson et al., 2001). This location, furthest away from the blood vessels, was also believed to be hypoxic, where the LT-HSCs dependence on HIF- 1α signaling supported this notion (Takubo et al., 2010) along with the fact that the LT-HSCs stained with pimonidazole, indicating hypoxia (Kubota et al., 2008; Levesque et al., 2007). Additionally, transplanted HSCs tend to preferentially migrate to the endosteum (Ellis et al., 2011). Other studies have instead argued that LT-HSCs instead are located in spaces near the vasculature (the so called perivascular spaces) (Kiel et al., 2005; Kunisaki et al., 2013).

Due to better imaging resolution and the ability to use the same markers in confocal microscopy as for flow cytometry, this conflicting finding has almost been completely resolved. It is now believed that the majority of LT-HSCs are in fact perivascular, and only 20% are located within a few cell diameters (10-20 μ m) of the endosteum (Kiel et al., 2007; Kiel et al., 2005; Lo Celso et al., 2009; Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013). However, HSCs are found in the trabecular region

of the bone marrow, arguing, at least, for an indirect regulation by factors on the bone surface. Selective depletion of osteoblasts from otherwise unperturbed bone marrow had little effect on HSCs though, rather affecting progenitors, particularly of the B-cell lineage. The trabecular bone itself, formed by osteoblasts, has been shown to be critical for hematopoiesis. It is therefore more likely that osteoblasts play a role in the formation of the HSC niche itself, rather than directly regulating HSCs (Chan et al., 2009; Sacchetti et al., 2007; Zhou et al., 2010).

While it is clear that HIF-1 α is important for HSC maintenance, the signalling from this transcription factor does not necessarily have to be induced by hypoxia. Indeed, cells adjacent to pimonidazole-staining LT-HSCs remained unstained, and another imaging study using a nanoprobe instead of pimonidazole, found that oxygen tension was actually low around the sinusoids and high at the endosteum (Nombela-Arrieta et al., 2013; Spencer et al., 2014). Since most LT-HSCs as well as progenitors appear to be located around the vasculature, and activated progenitors rely on oxidative phosphorylation to meet their high energy demands rather than just glycolysis, as is preferred by quiescent HSCs, it is more likely that it is the consumption of oxygen due to active hematopoiesis that causes a hypoxic environment, rather than there being an oxygen gradient caused by diffusion barriers.

The data acquired during attempts to solve the controversies regarding the exact nature of the contributory role of cells from the osteoid lineage indicates that different progenitors have their own "sub-niches". In addition to osteoblasts being important for development of B-cells, it has been shown that macrophages are crucial for erythroid development (Chow et al., 2013). More experiments are required to understand these relationships.

Non-hematopoietic cells in the niche regulate HSPCs both through membranebound and soluble ligands as well as cytokines. ECs express CXCL12, essential for homing of HSPCs to the bone marrow, SCF, various Notch ligands and Eselectin (Butler et al., 2010; Winkler et al., 2012). MSCs also express SCF and CXCL12, a particular subset of MSCs termed CXCL12-abundant reticular cells (CAR cells) express CXCL12 approximately 100 times higher than ECs (Ding and Morrison, 2013). There exist several other different subsets of MSCs, together controlling a major part of HSC biology including trafficking, relocalization in the niche and cell cycle (Ding et al., 2012; Greenbaum et al., 2013; Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2010; Omatsu et al., 2010). Megs secrete quiescence-inducing factors; CXCL4, TGF- β 1, and TPO, but also factors that induce HSC proliferation and expansion in response to stress such as FGF1 (Bruns et al., 2014; Nakamura-Ishizu et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2014b). Osteomacs, bone associated macrophages, and osteoclasts, macrophages specializing in bone resorption through secretion of protons and collagenases, control HSCs indirectly by crosstalk with MSCs and remodeling of bone. Lastly, sympathetic nerve fibers activate the β 3-adrenergic receptors expressed on MSCs and OBs in a circadian fashion. This leads to downregulation of CXCL12, leading to the periodic mobilizations of HSPCs into the bloodstream (Asada et al., 2013; Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2008).

Findings in the human HSC niche have been acquired through primarily two different research strategies; histological sectioning of both benign and leukemic bone marrow biopsies, and *in vitro* co-culture of human HSPCs with various cells known to be part of the niche, assessing their effect on stem cell proliferation and maintenance. The results are quite similar to murine studies; 86% of CD34⁺ cells are found around perivascular MSCs (Flores-Figueroa et al., 2012), and the more undifferentiated CD34⁺CD38⁻ population is enriched around the trabeculated bone areas (Guezguez et al., 2013). Several studies have confirmed the importance of MSCs for human HSCs as well, where co-culture was shown to enhance their *in vivo* repopulating ability (Li et al., 2014; Pinho et al., 2013; Taichman, 2005). In an effort to better understand and model the human hematopoietic niche, several groups are developing advanced 3D culture systems and mouse models containing ectopic human BM-microenvironments (Chen et al., 2012; Groen et al., 2012; Leisten et al., 2012; Raic et al., 2014; Sharma et al., 2012).

Cytokines and interleukins are an essential regulatory element of the hematopoietic (and the immune) system. Generally, pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as tumour necrosis factor α (TNF- α), IL1 β , IL3 and IL6 amongst others, are positive regulations of HSC differentiation and negative regulators of quiescence. This is seemingly intuitive since inflammation requires activation of the hematopoietic system increasing its output, particularly in the myeloid lineage. On the other hand, SCF and TPO are two cytokines promoting HSC maintenance and guiescence and are guite often used in in vitro culture systems of both murine and human HSCs. Quite interestingly, the effects of TPO seem to be somewhat different in vitro vs. in vivo. TPO enhances both survival and proliferation of HSPCs in vitro, while in vivo, TPO is rather inhibiting apoptosis through by suppressing p53 (Borge et al., 1996; Ema et al., 2000; Keller et al., 1995; Li and Johnson, 1994; Pestina et al., 2001; Sitnicka et al., 1996; Yoshihara et al., 2007). Naturally, TPO is a regulator of megakaryocytes, and it is guite possible that TPO also regulates HSPCs directly and indirectly, the latter through modification of niche Megs. Further studies will be required to truly map out the nature of this interaction

During the last decade, it has become more and more appreciated that the HSC niche is an active contributor and even an initiator of hematopoietic neoplasms. The HSC niche has lately also become a key player in the field of stem cell aging, rejuvenation and anti-aging medicine (Neves et al., 2017; Wong et al., 2015). Linking these three processes together is inflammation, a strong, and context

dependent, regulator of HSC activity and fate. The three central inflammatory cytokines; IFN, G-CSF and IL-1 act both as stimulators of HSC proliferation and inducers of myeloid differentiation. Interestingly, the HSC proliferation is transient; after certain time, even if the pro-inflammatory cytokines are still present, the HSCs return to a quiescent state. The increased proliferation is caused by suppression of quiescence-inducing TFs such as Foxo3a, and stabilization of the proto-oncogene c-Myc. Differentiation induction can be caused by activation of multiple signaling pathways, however, the majority of them seem to converge on nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B)-dependent PU.1 activation (Ehninger et al., 2014; Essers et al., 2009; Pietras et al., 2014; Pietras et al., 2016; Schuettpelz et al., 2014; Zhao et al., 2014a).

Proliferation and differentiation, induced by inflammatory cytokines, including IFNs, IL-1, TLRs and TNF, have been shown to impair the self-renewal of HSCs (Baldridge et al., 2010; Herman et al., 2016; Matatall et al., 2014; Takizawa et al., 2017). These results however, have been derived from transplantation studies, and while quite relevant for BMT (see next chapter), it is unclear whether inflammation causes HSC exhaustion and/or BM failure in a steady-state context, devoid of chemotherapy or infection (Matatall et al., 2016).

While inflammatory cytokines seem to impair HSC self-renewal in the adult system, during development, they rather function as positive regulators of definitive hematopoiesis. Here, G-CSF, IL-1, IL-3, IFN- γ , and TNF, activate NF- κ B and Notch1, driving the specification of HSCs from hemogenic endothelium (Espin-Palazon et al., 2014; Kim et al., 2014; Orelio et al., 2008; Robin et al., 2006; Stachura et al., 2013). Interestingly, mice with deficient NF- κ B, subjected to antibiotic therapy during pregnancy or kept in very sterile environments during development have an impaired hematopoiesis and smaller myeloid compartments in particular (Espin-Palazon and Traver, 2016; Grossmann et al., 1999; Josefsdottir et al., 2017; Khosravi et al., 2014). Possibly, on a general level, the inflammatory signals are required to prime the hematopoietic system, to ensure it develops properly and is able to respond adequately and efficiently to address the acute needs during the lifespan of the organism (Pietras, 2017).

Inflammation is usually an acute response to address a certain acute need in the body, an infection for instance. In the case of the inflammation not resolving properly, it becomes chronic, with serious consequences for homeostasis, tissue function, and even life span. Several autoimmune and metabolic diseases cause increased levels of chronic inflammation, and so does aging. Apart from the effect of aging on blood cell composition, aging is also associated with abundance of inflammatory cytokines (including IL-1, IL-6 and TNF), a combination also known as the senescence-associated secretory phenotype (Coppe et al., 2010). SASP cytokines are likely produced by aged BM cells, and we know from

previous studies of their involvement in various hematological malignancies (Orjalo et al., 2009). Some components of the chronic inflammation network are even attributed as key drivers in certain cancer states (Rambaldi et al., 1993; Stifter et al., 2005; Welner et al., 2015). It is not yet known what effects the SASP has on HSCs, but we do know that inflammation together with endogenous DNA-repair defects contribute to a preleukemic state and dysregulation of the BM niche (Walter et al., 2015; Zambetti et al., 2016). Targeting old age itself could therefore perhaps be a quite plausible therapeutic, or preventative, strategy against hematologic (and other) malignancies (Fang et al., 2017; Rhyasen et al., 2013).

4.2. Intrinsic regulators

The identification of intrinsic regulators has been pursued through different techniques in mice and humans. In the mouse, a large fraction of now known regulators were identified through classic reverse genetics knockout studies, where knockout of a gene causes decreased HSC activity (positive regulator) or increased HSC activity (negative regulator). Considerable effort has been devoted to characterization of murine knockout models. In human cells on the other hand, many discoveries were made during the quest for *ex vivo* expansion of HSPCs for transplantation purposes. Here, the focus has been not only on proliferation, but on improved homing to the bone marrow as well. On a general level, HSCs are governed by pan-cellular mechanisms; cell cycle regulation, stress- and damage response to DNA and organelles, metabolic activity, chromosome conformation, transcription factors and miRNAs as well as more HSC-specific genes and pathways (Domen et al., 2000; Folmes et al., 2012; Han et al., 2010; O'Connell et al., 2010; Oi et al., 2010; Pietras et al., 2011; Sauvageau et al., 2004). Efforts to expand engraftable human HSCs have yielded a hit list of a wide diversity.

Several genetic pathways, critical during embryonic development, also control the fate of HSPCs during adult life. The Homeobox (Hox) family of transcription factors (controlling body axis segmentation during development) have been extensively studied in murine HSCs, where overexpression of HoxA9 and HoxB4 in particular have shown drastic increases in engraftable murine HSCs. HOXB4 has been found to be somewhat translatable to the human system (Amsellem et al., 2003; Antonchuk et al., 2002; Krosl et al., 2003). Overactivation of the Notch signaling pathway causes similar results, with a near 6-fold increase in engraftable CD34⁺ cells in NSG mice (Delaney et al., 2010; Delaney et al., 2005; Ohishi et al., 2002).

It has been somewhat more difficult to ascertain the precise role of Wnt signaling, possibly due to there being several receptor types with a complex interaction pattern with their various ligands, or as in the case for TPO, a seemingly different

effect and requirement of Wnt *in vitro* vs. *in vivo*. Nonetheless, active Wnt signaling enhances self-renewal and proliferation of HSCs *in vitro* (Austin et al., 1997; Reya et al., 2003; Willert et al., 2003), and inhibition of GSK-3 β (a negative regulator of Wnt signalling) enhances *in vivo* reconstitution ability of both murine LSK cells and human CD34⁺ cells (Ko et al., 2011; Trowbridge et al., 2006). While studies of an isolated signaling pathway yields important insights, it must be kept in mind that many pathways likely interact with each other. For instance, Wnt signaling, while having a HSC promoting effect in its own right, has also synergistic effects with other central signal transduction pathways including Notch, PKB and mTOR (Duncan et al., 2005; Huang et al., 2012; Perry et al., 2011). Furthermore, inhibition of GSK-3 β seems to contribute to leukemic development, partly by affecting Akt and mTOR in addition to Wnt (Guezguez et al., 2016).

It is a general consensus that HSCs are usually kept dormant and quiescent in their niche during steady state. Excessive cell cycling induced by loss of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors (CDKN) is generally associated with stem cell exhaustion (Pietras et al., 2011). Interestingly, lentiviral knockdown of CDKN1A (p21), while pushing the HSCs into cycle, causes a relative expansion of the HSC pool (Stier et al., 2003), contrary to the effect observed when depleting other members of the same (CDKN1; p21, p27 and p57) or related (CDKN2; p15, p16, p18 and p19) families of cell cycle inhibitors, which instead all cause exhaustion. The complete mechanism behind this effect is not entirely understood though.

Expansion of umbilical cord blood (CB) derived HSCs has been a major goal of hematopoietic transplantation medicine for decades. Several important human HSC regulators have been identified due to these efforts.

By screening for a stimulatory effect on the human CD34⁺ population obtained from the mobilized peripheral blood of healthy donors using a very wide range of small molecules Boitano et al. identified StemRegenin1 (SR1) as a potent activator of human HSC activity, increasing it near 17-fold as measured by transplantation into NSG mice (Boitano et al., 2010). This effect was attributed to binding and antagonism of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR). AHR is perhaps best known as the receptor for dioxin, known cancer-inducing mutagen and environmental toxin.

Several subsequent studies have tried to uncover the mechanism behind this dramatic increase. However, given that AHR is a receptor that primarily influences cell function through its effects on transcription, this has proven to be quite tough. As is custom, this question has been addressed using traditional mouse knockout studies. The results are somewhat conflicting depending on which part of AHR was deleted and which mouse strain was used but overall; homozygous loss of AHR results in increased levels of phenotypic LSKs and LT-

HSCs but at the expense of functionality, resulting in decreased chimerism levels where the AHR deficient hematopoiesis resembles aged hematopoiesis and even myelodysplasia and MDS (Singh et al., 2014). Interestingly, this points to a dual and dose-dependent role of AHR signaling. While partial antagonism stimulates proliferation of engraftable HSCs, partly through modulation of the endosteal BM niche (Unnisa et al., 2016), knockout results in decreased reconstitution and development of malignancy, and agonism of AHR supports malignant development as well (Murray et al., 2014). The case of AHR nicely illustrates the difficulty of delineating the mechanism of action and even the identification of upstream and downstream targets; the heterogeneity of HSPCs, different experimental methods and dose sensitivity all affects the results and their interpretation.

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) is another molecule frequently mentioned in the context of HSPC expansion. Prostaglandins are mostly known for their role in the immune response, increasing blood flow and capillary permeability in response to inflammatory stimuli. While initially discovered in the murine system, where stimulation by PGE2 increased both self-renewal and homing (by upregulation of CXCR4, downregulation of caspase 3, and modulation of Wnt-signalling pathway) (Frisch et al., 2009; Goessling et al., 2009; Hoggatt et al., 2009), similar enhanced function has been demonstrated for human CD34⁺ HSPCs as well (Goessling et al., 2011).

Epigenetic regulation, (the concept of modifying genes by methylating DNA or methylating and/or acetylating histones rather than changing the actual DNA sequence,) is another critical pan-cellular mechanism of gene regulation. In the context of stem cell biology, an inverse correlation between chromatin accessibility (euchromatin) and cell differentiation, has recently become more appreciated and established (Ugarte et al., 2015). This was initially believed to give embryonic and hematopoietic stem cells in particular their plastic, pluri/multipotent state, however, the recent discoveries described above ("2.3. Biology of HSPCs") regarding lineage restriction in LT-HSCs have brought some doubt in this regard. Nonetheless, modulation of epigenetic modification has also proven to be a viable strategy to instruct cell fate.

Adding the well-known histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor valproic acid (VPA) has been shown to enhance the proliferation and both murine and human HSPCs *in vitro* (Bug et al., 2005; De Felice et al., 2005; Seet et al., 2009). The polycomb repressor complexes (PRCs) methylate histones at specific lysine residues, thereby modulating gene expression. PRC1 and PRC2 appear to have an opposing role in HSPCs, where PRC1 promotes self-renewal while PRC2 promotes differentiation (Majewski et al., 2010). Modifying core or accessory proteins of these two complexes is therefore likely a feasible strategy to influence

HSPC fate and is the topic of **paper II** presented in this thesis. Lysine-specific demethylase 1 (LSD1) is yet another indispensable regulator of differentiation as well as HSC activity in murine HSPCs, whose effect is quite context dependent (Kerenyi et al., 2013). Fine tuning the activity of this epigenetic regulator will likely be a feasible strategy to influence HSPC fate.

The effect of epigenetic modifiers is often not as clear cut as in the examples above. Azacytidine and decitabine (RNA and DNA-based analogues of cytidine), two hypomethylating agents (HMA) nicely illustrate this. Used in the treatment of various hematological malignancies, the mechanism of action seems to be opposite of the expected; the hypomethylation caused by this drug releases the differentiation block observed in AML and MDS rather than promoting HSC self-renewal (DNA methylation and differentiation is normally associated with gene silencing, it would therefore be more plausible to expect decreased differentiation in the hypomethylated state and not the opposite). HMAs have several mechanisms of action though, and it is also not entirely clear which genes get hypomethylated. Indeed, it is possible that the differentiation inducing genes are more sensitive to HMA than others. (Stresemann and Lyko, 2008).

Lastly, there are several orphan regulators and "expanders" of HSPCs; compound and molecules with an often profound effect on HSPC expansion, but where a clear mechanistic target has not been identified. A good example of this is the pyrimidoindole derivate UM171 that expands human CD34⁺ cells near 250-fold *in vitro* and over 13-fold *in vivo*, but while gene expression studies clearly identify differentially expressed genes, a mechanism of action is still not clearly identified (Fares et al., 2014). In our own group, we have identified multiple shRNAs with off-target effects showing a profound effect on human HSPC expansion *in vitro* and *in vivo*, but where the true target could not be identified despite rigorous attempts (Ali et al., 2009; Baudet et al. unpublished data; Galeev et al. unpublished data).

To summarize, we know that developmental signaling pathways and transcription factors (Notch, WNT, HOXB4), pyrimidoindole derivatives (SR1, UM171, tranylcypromine), inflammation modulators (PGE2, TNF- α , NF- κ B) and epigenetic modifiers (acetylation and methylation modifiers) all have an effect on human HSC function. Genetic regulators of HSPCs identified using RNA interference screens are described below in chapter 3.3 in the last part of the thesis.

MALIGNANT HEMATOPOIESIS

1. Introduction to malignant hematopoiesis

Malignancy, or cancer, can easily be defined as cells that have lost their cell cycle control and boundaries in the tissues. Thus, they show excessive proliferation, invasion, and metastasis. The organ infiltration shuts the organs off directly (liver metastases causing hepatic failure, bone marrow invasion causing pancytopenia etc.) or indirectly through hormonal effects, the so-called paraneoplastic syndrome. Inevitably, through these mechanisms, cancer leads to multiorgan failure and death.

In solid-state tumors, there is usually a sequential accumulation of mutations that results in increased proliferation, decreased differentiation, resistance to apoptosis, loss of boundaries, invasion into other tissues, and finally metastasis. This malignant transformation requires many mutations to occur, and often there are chromosomal translocations or outright aneuploidy (chromosome loss or gain, resulting in abnormal amount of genetic material in the malignant cell).

Blood, the largest of the very few "liquid" organ systems in the body, has a different dynamic of malignant transformation. First, significantly less mutations or chromosomal translocations are required for development of a severe hematopoietic cancer (leukemia). Often, mere two mutations or a single chromosomal translocation is enough. Possibly, this is due to the inherent high proliferative state of blood cells; less is required for malignant transformation. Second, mutations in the "classic" cancer genes are less common (such as TP53, RB1, ATM, BRCA1/2), rather mutations in epigenetic regulators, chromatin modifiers and the spliceosome machinery are prominent in the genetic landscape (Welch et al., 2012). Third, not all leukemias show a clear causative mutation, in some cases, the leukemic driver is not known.

Leukemias are usually categorized based on how quickly they develop (acute vs. chronic), and which hematopoietic lineage affected (myeloid vs. lymphoid), in effect generating four major groups; acute myeloid leukemia (AML), chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL) and chronic lymphogeneous leukemia (CLL). In the case of leukemia, the myeloid lineage includes malignancies of the erythroid and platelet lineages as well. In about 10% of cases, the leukemia contains cancerous cells of different lineages and is then called mixed-lineage-leukemia (MLL). The common denominator for leukemias is their cell of origin, all leukemias develop from undifferentiated cells; either stem

cells or progenitors. Cancers of mature B-cells and mature T-cells are naturally also disorders of the hematopoietic system, but are traditionally called lymphomas. They have different pathophysiology and presentation and are thus treated fairly differently from leukemias and will not be covered here. It should be pointed out however, that BMT is a curative treatment option for lymphomas as well. Due to complications and the course of the disease, this option is more rarely pursued in the context of lymphoma treatment.

The hematopoietic system also harbors several pre-malignant states. Despite variation in the severity of symptoms, the pre-malignant states have an increased risk of further on developing into a full-blown cancer. The pre-malignant states include the myeloproliferative neoplasm (MPN) consisting of polycythemia vera (PV), essential thrombocytosis (ET) and myelofibrosis (MF). CML can also be categorized as a pre-malignant state, that in the absence of therapy leads to a blast crisis that closely resembles AML. Monoclonal gammapathy of unknown significance (MGUS) is perhaps the most classic premalignant state, with an annual risk of 1% of developing multiple myeloma (MM).

In the context of AML and MDS (see below), it has recently been shown that these two diseases are often preceded by "clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential" (CHIP). Clonal hematopoiesis is characterized by clonal expansion of the HSC pool; i.e. there are several-fold fewer HSCs giving rise to mature cells as compared healthy hematopoiesis. These HSCs have thus undergone clonal expansion. The 115-year-old lady mention in the beginning most certainly had CHIP. Interestingly, it is the same mutations that cause CHIP as AML and MDS. While the complete significance of this premalignant state has not been completely delineated, it is likely that we will be able to use CHIP as a quantitative risk marker in the future (Jaiswal et al., 2014).

Finally, there is myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), an HSC disorder characterized by increased HSC proliferation with subsequent exhaustion resulting in cytopenias in one or any combination of the three hematopoietic lineages. While this disease is characterized by underproduction of both progenitors and mature blood cells, often displaying decreased cellularity in the bone marrow, just as for MPN, there is a significant risk of the phenotype "reversing" and transformation into AML, effectively making MDS a pre-malignant state also.

It has been known for many years and is widely accepted that in the context of hematopoietic disease, particularly cancers of the blood system (leukemia), the cell of origin is an undifferentiated hematopoietic cell, either an HSC or shortly downstream. In the context of the niche, there two fundamental mechanisms of niche contribution to hematopoietic disease; altered signal interpretation and niche remodeling (Schepers et al., 2015). After the discovery that CML progenitors have altered adhesion properties in 1987 (Gordon et al., 1987), more recent studies have

shown that (i) leukemic cells can "hijack" the vascular niche space by responding more strongly to homing signals than healthy HSCs, thereby outcompeting them (Schepers et al., 2013; Sipkins et al., 2005). (ii) leukemic cells become less sensitive to Notch and TGF- β , signals that normally limit primitive cell expansion and myeloid differentiation (Krause et al., 2014; Santaguida et al., 2009). (iii) Leukemic cells can remodel the niche, including stromal cells, osteoblasts and nerve fibers, to support LSCs over healthy HSCs. LSC are also less dependent on survival signals from the niche compared to healthy HSCs (Arranz et al., 2014; Hanoun et al., 2014; Schepers et al., 2015). (iv) Contrary to the old dogma where leukemia is initiated through mutation acquisition in hematopoietic cells; mutations in non-hematopoietic BM cells alone have shown to be enough to cause leukemias. Errors in NF- κ B, Notch and Wnt signaling as well as mutations in the miRNA processor Dicer1, is enough to cause both an MPN-like and an AML-like disease in otherwise healthy, normal HSPCs (Kim et al., 2008; Raaijmakers et al., 2010; Rupec et al., 2005; Walkley et al., 2007a; Walkley et al., 2007b). It is however, not definitely proven whether this occurs in humans, and while sequencing of biopsy samples indicates that this could indeed be the case, the number of studies is so far limited. Kode et al. showed that human HSPCs from AML patients had upregulated Notch signaling as a direct consequence of Wnt mutations in the BM stroma (Kode et al., 2014), and there are major discrepancies observed between the mutational landscape of malignant HSPCs and their stroma (Blau et al., 2007; Kastrinaki et al., 2013). However, given that the biopsies are taken at the point of disease, it is hard to ascertain which genetic aberration is the actual initializing event. A study including 80 patients with AML, MDS or MPN showed that near 40% had mutations in the BM stroma in β -catenin and RUNX2; mutations that were not present in the actual hematopoietic malignant cells. Due to the time of sample collection, it is yet unclear whether the initiating mutational event occurred in cells of hematopoietic or of non-hematopoietic origin. (v) Regardless of origin and causality, mutations can happen in all cell types in the BM niche; ECs, OBs, OBC, MSCs, and nerve cells. Separately, or together, they can all contribute to hematopoietic disease (Arranz et al., 2014; Hanoun et al., 2014). These discoveries open up a very interesting therapeutic opportunity in targeting not only the leukemic cells, but the dysfunctional and/or leukemic niche as well.

2. Acute myeloid leukemia

2.1. Epidemiology and pathogenesis

AML is the most common leukemia in adults, where it accounts for around 80% of leukemias (Yamamoto and Goodman, 2008) with an incidence of 3-5 new cases per 100 000 people per year (Siegel et al., 2017). While AML can occur in young adulthood, and even in children, its incidence strongly increases with age (>12 in people over 65 years of age). Contrary to CML, there are few inhibitor drugs on the market for AML, although clinical trials have been initiated. The cornerstone of AML treatment is BMT, but the severe intensity and stress of this therapy is poorly tolerated in older individuals, especially those above the age of 70, where this disease has its highest prevalence. Because of this, and the aggressive nature of this leukemia subtype, the prognosis for the older patients remains dismal; near 70% will die of their disease within the first year after diagnosis (Meyers et al., 2013), while advances have significantly improved prognosis of younger patients with AML. In approximately 60% of AML cases, the karyotype is normal, with the remaining 40% showing various levels of aneuploidy (Hiddemann et al., 1986).

While the majority of AML cases are *de novo*, AML has the unique property of being an "end stage point" for several other hematological conditions. While ALL and CLL are isolated diseases in their own right, and AML could start *de novo*, it can also develop from myelodysplastic syndrome (MDS), from CML as well as from the MPNs; PV, ET and MF (Sill et al., 2011).

Regardless of origin, the pathology of AML involves proliferation of immature myeloid cells in the bone marrow, the blood, and occasionally in other organs. This massive proliferation results in a huge number of dysfunctional cells that occupy the bone marrow, decreasing the output of healthy and functional blood cells through multiple mechanisms as described above. If left untreated, death occurs merely a few months after developing the disease, from invasive infections, bleeding, emboli, or disseminated intravascular coagulation causing multiorgan ischemia (Figure 4). AML is classified based on lineage/phenotype of the leukemic cells as well as genetic alterations, in effect subdividing AML into three prognostic categories; favorable, intermediate and adverse (Dohner et al., 2010; Mrozek et al., 2012).



Figure 4. Schematic illustration of the development of AML and MDS.

2.2. Treatment

Currently, therapy for AML consists of several stages. First, induction therapy is given, a treatment designed to decrease the amount of the leukemic cell burden several orders of magnitude. Induction therapy usually consists of cytarabine (a nucleoside analog leading to apoptosis) and an anthracycline (DNA alkylator and topoisomerase II inhibitor, thus interfering with both replication and transcription).

While this therapy is often enough to drastically reduce disease burden, relapse will inevitably follow if the therapy is discontinued (Estey, 2014; Gong et al., 2015; Li et al., 2015). This has recently been attributed to the presence of leukemic stem cells (LSCs) that contrary to their progeny, are much more resistant to chemotherapy (Pollyea et al., 2014).

To minimize the risk of relapse, induction therapy is followed by consolidation therapy, which can be either additional chemotherapy (additional nucleoside analogs and anthracyclines), or bone marrow transplantation (BMT). While it is unclear which of these two forms of consolidation is a better option for AML with a favorable prognosis, BMT is significantly better for patients with intermediate risk and clearly better for patients with adverse risk (Koreth et al., 2009; Yanada et al., 2005). This is likely due to the graft-vs-leukemia (GvL) effect, i.e. cells from a donor are considerably more effective at eliminating the remnants of leukemia including the LSCs than conventional chemotherapy. Indeed, patients experiencing graft-vs-host disease (GvHD) have a higher risk of relapse since GvHD is treated with immunosuppressants, attenuating the GvL at the same time (Kolb, 2008).

BMT however, carries a risk in its own right, given that the patient's own hematopoietic system needs to be destroyed before donor bone marrow can be transplanted. Apart from the overall systemic toxicity of chemotherapeutic agents, this procedure also results in a several day-long period where the patient does not have a functional immune system, and despite prophylactic antibiotics, that after all work together with the immune system and not independently, can prove fatal, particularly in older patients. To improve survival for older patients with AML (>65), it is therefore pivotal to either make BMT a safer procedure, or design targeted therapies (targeting the leukemia or the leukemic niche) to ensure eradication of LSCs and prevent relapse upon discontinuation of chemotherapy.

However, given the genetic diversity of AML, developing targeted therapy beyond Vitamin A derivatives (described in detail in part 5 below) has proven hard. There are several drugs in clinical trials; FLT3 inhibitors sorafenib, midostaurin, quizartinib and crenolanib, IDH1 and IDH2 blockers ivosidenib and enasidenib, and monoclonal antibodies such gemtuzumab (targeting CD33) all show good results, particularly in patient with an unfavorable cytogenetic and genetic mutation profile, but are restricted to patients harboring these particular genetic mutations. Chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells, while quite successful in lymphoblastic leukemias and some lymphomas, have so far not been successful in AML due to very serious side effects (targeting CD33 results in profound myeloid cytopenia, and other appropriate antigens have so far not been identified).

3. Myelodysplastic syndrome

3.1. Epidemiology and pathogenesis

Myelodysplastic syndrome, while it shares many mutations with AML is fundamentally a different disease. Whereas in AML the bone marrow produces to many cells, patients with MDS produce too few. The incidence of MDS is similar to AML with 3-4 cases per 100 000 people per year, but an even greater skewing towards old age, with an incidence of 30 in people above the age of 70 (Sekeres, 2010). MDS has a very variable prognosis with median survival, much more so than AML, ranging from 5 years to 6 months depending on karyotype, with an overall median survival of 30 months (Germing et al., 2013; Greenberg et al., 2012).

The mutation spectrum of MDS is similar to that of AML, however, around 50% of cases show MDS-specific, cytogenetic abnormalities (Gangat et al., 2015; Schanz et al., 2012). Clinically, MDS is characterized by cytopenias, either in one

lineage, or in several. Interestingly, the cytopenias have no correlation to the cellularity in the bone marrow, which can be hyper- normo- or hypocellular (Figure 4). From a therapeutic perspective, management of MDS is fraught with challenges and complications arising from the cytopenias; anemia (with tiredness, dizziness, headache and malaise in milder cases and myocardial infarction in more severe), thrombocytopenia (with excessive bleeding, particularly from the mucosa, in effect causing a secondary anemia), and leukopenia resulting in frequent and recurrent infections. Furthermore, there is a 30% risk of a leukemic transformation, where the MDS transforms into secondary AML (sAML) that responds much more poorly to induction chemotherapy than a *de novo* AML (Greenberg et al., 2012; Malcovati et al., 2007; Sekeres, 2010).

3.2. Treatment

Due to the nature of MDS, the only curative therapy is BMT. However, the strong prevalence skewing towards older individuals with MDS makes the majority of patients ineligible for this therapy. Instead, therapy is focused on management of the symptoms; erythropoietin (EPO) injections or transfusions in patients not responding to EPO, platelet transfusion when these reach a critical threshold and prophylactic antibiotics and/or myeloid stimulating factors such as G-CSF or its synthetic analog filgrastim. A smaller group of patients respond to hypomethylating agents, such as azacytidine or decitabine. Lenalidomide (originally used for treatment of multiple myeloma) could be used to reduce transfusion dependence in patients with del5q MDS. Danazol and ATG can also be used to treat anemia in some patients (Chabannon et al., 1994; Greenberg et al., 2009; List et al., 2006; Young et al., 2006).

There are a number of drugs in clinical trials showing encouraging results; romiplastim and eltrombopag decreasing bleeding and platelet transfusion dependence and sotatercept and luspatercept achieving the same for anemia (Giagounidis et al., 2014; Komrokji et al., 2018; Oliva et al., 2017; Platzbecker et al., 2017), but not only are they effective in a small subgroup of patients, these therapies are for all practical purposes palliative as well; despite some patients with low-risk MDS living with their disease for years, decades even, the majority become non-responsive to the aforementioned therapies, suffer serious side effects from the transfusions and/or the disease evolves into a sAML. Other examples of drugs in the development pipelines are the histone deacetylase inhibitors mocetinostat och pracinostat, and IDH1/2 inhibitors rigosertib and volasertib, all sharing the same limitations as the approved drugs (Gangat et al., 2016). Since none of the approved drugs for treating MDS are curative (Fenaux et al., 2009;

Kantarjian et al., 2006; List et al., 2005), MDS is perhaps in an even bigger need of novel, targeted therapies than AML.

4. Differences between AML and MDS

4.1. Disease development

Seemingly there are more similarities than differences between AML and MDS. One possible explanation behind the observed different phenotypes behind these two diseases is where in the hematopoietic hierarchy the mutation occurs. MDS is considered a pure "HSC-disease". AML on the other hand, was initially thought to arise more downstream, at the progenitor cell level, with little role of HSCs. However, more recent studies have brought doubt to this theory, instead arguing that the initiating mutations do indeed occur in the HSCs, often giving rise to the clonal hematopoiesis that is observed before the development of *de facto* AML. Eventually, should an additional detrimental mutation occur in a more downstream progenitor (such as the GMP), AML will ensue (Jan et al., 2012). AML caused by fusion genes/chromosomal translocations on the other hand, is likely initiated at the level of GMP. Several studies have clearly shown the relative ease with which AML can be induced upon introduction of a leukemic fusion protein into healthy GMPs. An interesting side note is that LT-HSCs on the other hand, seem to be protected from fusion protein-induced AML (Ugale et al., 2014). The susceptibility of GMP for fusion-protein AML could be due to their shown ability to activate a self-renewal program (Herault et al., 2017). If this program is not turned off properly during differentiation, cancer will likely be the result. It was previously thought that LT-HSCs are somewhat protected from DNA damage due to their quiescent nature and low metabolic rate however, this view has changed and it has now become fairly established that mutations accumulate in LT-HSCs throughout life even without the presence of exogenously introduced DNA damaging agents (such as chemotherapeutic drugs) and regardless of cell cycle status (Beerman, 2017). LT-HSCs could have a strong demand on the integrity of their genome though, or are simply not actively cycling enough for leukemia to develop.

4.2. Mutation landscape

On a genetic level, while many mutations are shared between these two diseases, there are notable differences. Interestingly, out of the three most common

mutations in AML (FLT3, NPM1 and DNMT3A), only DNMT3A is shared with MDS. Likewise, the most commonly mutated gene in MDS; SF3B1, a component of the spliceosome machinery, is not observed in AML while other spliceosomal mutations are. Overall, mutations in AML and MDS can be grouped into several broad categories; epigenetic regulators, spliceosomal machinery, cohesin, DNA processing enzymes, transcription factors and known tumor suppressors (Papaemmanuil et al., 2013; Welch et al., 2012). One of the most common mutation (if not the most common one) in AML is over activation of NPM1, a protein involved in ribosome biogenesis, nucleolar trafficking and G-quadruplex binding. However, this mutation is rare in MDS. Conversely, mutations in the spliceosome machinery (most notably SF3B1) are quite common in MDS but much rarer in AML (except for U2AF1). Finally, while the prevalence of karyotypic abnormalities is fairly similar between AML and MDS (40% vs. 50%), the chromosomal fusions, inversions and translocations are distinct for each disease (Hiddemann et al., 1986).

5. Gene and hematopoietic stem cell therapies

The hematopoietic system is likely the system where both stem cell therapy and gene therapy are easiest to achieve. Having said that, it of course not an entirely trivial matter. Given that most mature blood cells have a relatively short lifespan and all arise from the undifferentiated HSPCs, genetically modifying the HSPCs will subsequently propagate the corrected gene into the mature effector cells, alleviating the disease phenotype. This is in stark contrast to genetic disorders affecting mature solid-state organs; it is much harder to do gene therapy on the brain or the kidneys for instance. Several serious diseases of the blood and immune system have been cured by gene therapy of HSPCs, including X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID) (De Ravin et al., 2016), chronic granulomatous disease (CGD) (Grez et al., 2011), Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome (WAS) (Aiuti et al., 2013) and Adrenoleukodystrophy (Cartier et al., 2009).

The terms hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (HSCT) and bone marrow transplantation (BMT) are sometimes used interchangeably. Since actual HSCT is never done (transplantation of mature progenitors is important to shorten the period of immunosuppression) and is practically impossible currently (we cannot isolate HSCs to that level of purity), I will use the more correct term "BMT" throughout this thesis.

5.1. History

Research into BMT began over a decade before the hallmark experiments of Till and McCullough. In the wake of World War II, it was discovered that people exposed to the smallest lethal irradiation dose died of bone marrow failure. Spurred on by this, in 1949, Jacobson et al. showed that a mouse can survive lethal irradiation as long as the spleen is protected from the radiation (Jacobson, 1949). Following this, Lorenz and colleagues showed that splenic protection was unnecessary for survival, simple intravascular infusion of spleen or bone marrow cells was just as effective at saving the mice (Lorenz, 1951).

Following these discoveries, studies diversified into successfully treating leukemic mice (Barnes, 1956), and at almost the same time, treating human patients (Thomas, 1957). The human studies were however much less successful and only transient graft was observed, with subsequent bone marrow failure. The only condition that allowed long term engraftment in humans was when using an identical twin donor (Thomas, 1959). A review concluded that from over 200 allogeneic marrow transplants done in humans in the late 50s and early 60s, not a single one had been successful (Bortin, 1970). The critical part that was missing was the immunological matching, and after the discovery and clarification of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) groups (Dausset, 1958; Miescher, 1954; van Rood, 1958), bone marrow transplantation in humans started experiencing the success we see today, with the several decades-long complication-free survival (Bach, 1968; Bortin, 1994; deKoning, 1969), and a new era in transplantation medicine was born.

5.2. Sources of human HSCs

Human HSPCs can be collected through needle aspiration of the bone marrow, usually the iliac crest or the sternum is punctured, or by simple venous blood collection after treating the donor with an HSPCs mobilizing agent such as plerixafor or cyclophosphamide. Umbilical cord blood was discovered in 1974 by Knudtzon and colleagues who showed that this blood, previously considered a complete useless by-product by everyone, contained cells showing HSPC activity, at least *in vitro* (Knudtzon, 1974) (Figure 5). However, this did not generate a lot of interest before it was shown that these cells were capable of multilineage reconstitution *in vivo* and could be handled, stored and frozen without any detrimental effects to their activity (Broxmeyer et al., 1989) (Koike, 1983). After the first cord blood transplantation was successfully performed in 1988, curing a child with Fanconi anemia (Gluckman et al., 1989), considerable efforts have been

made to improve and broaden the applicability of this therapy, being able to offer it to a wide clientele of patients.

A critical advantage of CB-HSCs is their "immunological immaturity", in effect not requiring the same rigorous matching between donor and patient as from adult sources (Petersdorf et al., 1998), possibly due to the presence of fewer activated/mature lymphocytes, particularly T-cells, the main cause of graft-vs-host disease (GvHD) (Garderet et al., 1998). However, the disadvantage is the limited amount of engraftable HSCs and prolonged neutropenia. These problems, particularly the first one, have dominated the field since its inception but we are finally starting to solve the first one. Many positive regulators of CB-derived HSPCs-expansion have been identified, and several have made it to clinical trials showing quite encouraging preliminary results.



Figure 5. The three different sources of HSCs for bone marrow transplantation as well as research.

5.3. Bone marrow transplantation

BMT can be performed for several reasons. Possibly the most common one is in treating leukemias and lymphomas. In this case, a suitable donor has to be found, preferably with four or five matches of the six major histocompatibility complex (MHC) proteins. Since there are over 1000 different variants of each, this is sometimes quite challenging. When possible, a close relative (sibling, parent or child) could be the donor. In the context of cancer, it has been shown that it is even advantageous not to have complete six out of six match, since this triggers a graft vs. leukemia (GvL) effect, killing off the remaining malignant cells, and the leukemic stem cells (LSCs) in particular that are resistant to the chemotherapy used prior to BMT.

The second reason is to safeguard cells from high dose irradiation or chemotherapy. Here, the patient's own BM is harvested and stored. After

collection, the patient is exposed to high dose chemotherapy or irradiation in an attempt to cure a malignancy. Since enough HSPCs to repopulate an adult are kept outside the body, the patient can be treated with significantly higher doses of cytotoxic agents, doses that otherwise would have killed the blood system. Multiple myeloma (MM) for instance, can be treated in this manner. Naturally, this can only be done for cancers that can be cured with high dose chemotherapy and that with great certainty have not engaged the bone marrow; there is currently no possible way to discern an LSC from an HSC, and however tempting it might be to harvest the bone marrow of a leukemia patients, in the absence of a donor for instance, this strategy is pointless.

Third, BMT can also be used as an immunological "reset", engaging other medical specializations apart from hematology. This is usually used to treat highly aggressive autoimmune diseases such as primary progressive multiple sclerosis (MS) or disease modifying anti-rheumatic drug (DMARD) resistant rheumatoid arthritis (RA). The harvesting and chemotherapeutic procedure is almost identical as in the second case, however here the chemotherapy is actually given with the purpose of destroying the hematopoietic and immune systems. When the collected HSPCs are re-infused, no disease maintaining lymphocytes are left, and since there are no lymphocytic memory cells, the risks of relapse are quite small.

And finally, BMT is used to correct a genetic disease in the hematopoietic system. Usually, no conditioning is required, cells are merely harvested, the erroneous gene is corrected *in vitro*, and the genetically modified cells are reintroduced back into the patients. For many diseases, a complete (100%) function of a particular gene is rarely required, often mere 10-25% expression is enough. This number is much easier to achieve with the safer gene therapy delivery vectors.

5.4. Improvements and future challenges for BMT

Despite BMT having been performed for many decades, there several areas where major improvements are desired (Figure 6). First, there is a requirement of safe gene delivery systems. For gene therapy within the hematopoietic system, lentiviruses are preferentially used, and while their safety profile in terms of insertional mutagenesis and the ability to infect non-dividing cells makes them more desirable than gammaretroviral vectors for instance, there is, at least currently, always a hazard when using viral vectors. A small clinical pilot study attempting to correct the mutation causing WAS, reported seven cases of leukemia out of the thirteen boys enrolled in the clinical trial (Braun et al., 2014). Since there have been major improvements in the treatment of pediatric malignancies, and six of the seven children were cured. However, this example clearly illustrates the need for safer vectors.

Second, and perhaps even more important, is the dire need of safer conditioning regimens. A common cause of death in people over the age of 65 with hematological malignancies is their frailty, making it impossible for them to survive the conditioning regimens prior to BMT. There have been several studies in the murine system, showing successful engraftment of donor marrow cells without radiation or chemotherapy, using a CD45-immunotoxin for instance, however these are still in the pre-clinical stage (Palchaudhuri et al., 2016).

Third is the lack of matched donors. A significant group of patients in need cannot receive BMT therapy due to the lack of a suitable donor. For some minorities, the situation is even more difficult. Cord blood is one option, allowing less rigorous MHC matching, but cells from this source usually too few to engraft an adult and due to their immature nature, cause approximately two-three-fold longer period of immunosuppression, significantly limiting the use of cord blood. Clearly, development of safe and efficient ways of expanding engraftable human cord blood-derived HSCs is of utmost importance. Several strategies can be used to address this, for instance; engineering a matching donor sample through gene therapy on donor MHC loci, developing more effective ways of expanding and differentiating HSPCs derived from CB, or generating patient-specific HSCs from induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC). Regardless, improvements in any of these areas are likely to benefit millions of patients annually.



Figure 6. The three points of attack to improve treatment of hematological malignancies. Developing safer conditioning regimens is not illustrated here.

6. Targeted therapies for hematopoietic malignancies

Possibly, the best example of the success of targeted therapies is the treatment and cure of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL), a subtype of AML. In 95% of this disease, there is a translocation involving the retinoic acid receptor-alpha (RARA) on chromosome 17 with the promyelocytic leukemia gene (PML) on chromosome 15, abbreviated t(15;17). This fusion creates a hybrid protein that blocks transcription and differentiation of granulocytes. Since the fusion protein involves the RARA gene, APL responds quite well to Vitamin A therapy; treating patients with vitamin A derivates lifts the differentiation block imposed on the granulocytic progenitors by the PML-RARA fusion gene, allowing terminal differentiation. The remission induced by Vitamin A is often short-lived and ordinary chemotherapy (primarily anthracyclines) is required as well as the antibody-drug conjugate gemtuzumab-ozogamicin that delivers toxic substances to the myeloid CD33-positive cells. Nonetheless, the combination of these two targeted therapies gives APL the best overall prognosis and survival compared to other AML subtypes, with no requirement for BMT or high dose chemotherapy consolidation.

Curing other subtypes of AML and other leukemias is a challenge, even when using targeted therapies. Similar to APL, CML is caused by a translocation between the BCR gene, a serine/threonine kinase (STK) without a completely clear function, on chromosome 22 and ABL1, another cytoplastic and nuclear STK located on chromosome 9. Upon the t(9;22) translocation in HSCs, this creates the BCR-ABL fusion protein that pushes the HSCs into overdrive, producing more and more mature blood cells, particularly leukocytes. Interestingly, this is achieved without any overt HSC exhaustion. Primary treatment (Dubash et al., 2013) is tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) such as imatinib, dasatinib and ponatinib. While few patients get cured with this therapy, the majority have to stay on this drug for life, and in an unlucky few, the leukemia becomes resistant, causing increased blast levels and eventually transformation to AML.

Over 95% of MPNs are caused by mutations in either MPL, JAK2 or CALR, where over 50% are driven by JAK2. Because of these few, clearly defined mutations, MPNs are also amenable to targeted therapy, and several inhibitors of mutated JAK2 have been developed including ruxolitinib, lestaurtinib and pacritinib, all having a similar therapeutic principle as the BCR-ABL inhibitors for CML.

A critical difference between these examples and AML and MDS is the complexity, while CML and MPNs are caused by the same mutations in only a few genes for most patients, AML and MDS are genetically much more diverse. It is therefore a larger challenge to offer targeted therapies for patients with the latter two diseases. Furthermore, even the TKIs have many off-target effects; sorafenib for instance, is an antagonist of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR), platelet derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) and RAF-kinases in addition to FLT3. Nonetheless, given the successes of targeted therapies in hematopoietic malignancies, including AML with specific mutations, and our assumption that not all causative mutations have been identified to date, I explored the possibility of identifying previously unknown driver mutations in AML and MDS (**paper IV**). The road from the discovery to development of a corrective therapy for that particular gene is quite long, but it is my hope that with added unraveling of the complexity of this disease, we might come closer to offering better therapies for AML and MDS patients.

RNA INTERFERENCE

1. RNA interference – Basic principles and discovery

A critical element of posttranscriptional regulation is RNA-interference. Conceptually, it a process where nascent mRNA that has been transcribed in the nucleus and exported to the cytosol for translation, before its loading onto the ribosome, is bound by another RNA molecule (the interfering one), and by doing that, instead of resulting in translation, leads to degradation of the mRNA. This seemingly "ineffective" process has likely evolved in order to finetune transcription control to meet specific functional requirements, quite possibly enabling the development and evolution of more complex, multicellular organisms. While the response at the post-transcriptional level is not as rapid as on the post-translational, this also likely allows a cell to respond quicker to changes in the environment.

The discovery of RNA-interference (RNAi) was awarded the Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine in 2006 to Andrew Z. Fire and Craig Mello for the nominal work published in Nature in 1998 (Fire et al., 1998). Here, the authors were trying to understand how gene expression is regulated in the nematode worm *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C. elegans*), a very common model organism in molecular biological research. RNAi is a critical gene regulatory mechanism that is deeply evolutionary conserved; from yeast to simple plants to worms to humans (Nellen and Lichtenstein, 1993). Additionally, the authors showed that this process was catalytic where only a tiny amount of interfering RNA was required to achieve silencing and how this process can spread between cells, which previously was thought not to happen due to the size and charge of the RNA molecule. This paper thus heralded an entire new research area in molecular biology.

2. RNAi – from Saccharomyces to Homo sapiens

2.1. Exogenous and endogenous RNAi

RNA interference adds a complex and versatile layer of gene expression control at the post-transcriptional level. RNAi can be divided into two broad categories: microRNA (miRNA) and short interfering RNA (siRNA), where short hairpin RNA (shRNA) is a subtype of the latter and the RNA type that has been used throughout this thesis (Carthew and Sontheimer, 2009).

There are two main differences between miRNA and siRNA. miRNAs are endogenously expressed from the cells own genome. In humans, it is hypothethized that over 5% of the genome is encoding over 1000 miRNAs that fine-tune and regulate the expression of over 30% of all genes (Jinek and Doudna, 2009; Macfarlane and Murphy, 2010). Given that miRNAs control such a large fraction of known human genes, they have been implicated in a wide and diverse range of cellular processes; ranging from cell growth and tissue differentiation to formation of hetero- and euchromatin. Concordantly, dysfunction of miRNAs have been implicated in a wide range of diseases including the cardiovascular system, central nervous system, as well as cancer (Lu et al., 2008). A quite interesting observation is that while the size of the genome does not correlate with the complexity or the intelligence of an organism in any way (the rare Japanese flower *Paris Japonica* has around 150 billion bases (Pellicer et al., 2010), over 45 times more than humans) the number of miRNA does seem to do so, where humans have the highest number known to date (Berezikov, 2011).

The term "siRNA" on the other hand, while it can be endogenously derived as well, is typically used to describe either exogenous synthethic RNAi that has been delivered into a cell using electroporation, liposomal particles or a virus. The cellular response to a true viral infection also induces the siRNA machinery, in this case endogenously (Carthew and Sontheimer, 2009). The final product of both these pathways is very similar; an Argonaute protein bound to a single stranded RNA (ssRNA) ~20-30nt long, that binds to mRNA with full or near-full complementarity and thus induces either degradation of the mRNA or repressed transcription.

RNAi achieves gene level reduction through several mechanisms; binding of the complementary strand can lead to cleavage, physical blocking leads to direct translation repression or induction of deadenylation with subsequent mRNA destabilization and decay (Jackson and Standart, 2007). siRNAs usually feature perfect complementarity with the target strand, while miRNAs contain mismatches. Presumably, this reflects their individual biological role; siRNAs are synthetized as a direct response to a particular process or infection while miRNAs function as fine-tuning molecules. Mechanistically, this causes various degrees of silencing in proportion to the siRNAs and miRNAs complementarity to the target sequence. Given their profound role in pathology, RNAi has been exploited for therapeutic purposes with considerable success, with several projects now in clinical trials (Lam et al., 2015).

2.2. The mechanism of RNA interference

Whether the RNAi molecule is endogenously expressed or exogenously introduced into the hosts genome, it follows the same sequence of transcription and processing (Figure 7). The genesis of the si/miRNA begins in the nucleus where a primary transcript is produced, usually >1000 nt long, containing single or multiple double stranded si/miRNA molecules (Saini et al., 2007). There is conflicting data whether RNA polymerase II or RNA polymerase III is responsible for transcription of miRNAs (Borchert et al., 2006; Lee et al., 2004). However, given the critical importance of this post-transcriptional gene regulatory mechanism, it is likely that a level of redundancy is involved. Exogenously introduced siRNA can also be transcribed either by Pol II or Pol III, depending upon which promoter is designed to drive the expression of the exogenous construct. In this thesis, the common RNA polymerase III U6 promoter in the pLKO.1-vector has been used.

After transcription, the pre-si/miRNA is cleaved by the microprocessor complex comprising the RNase III family enzyme Drosha, and the dsRNA binding protein DiGeorge syndrome critical region gene 8 (DGCR8) (Kim and Kim, 2007). This results in a ~65-70nt long precursor si/miRNA (pre-si/miRNA) that is exported to the cytoplasm by Exportin 5 and RanGTP (Lund and Dahlberg, 2006). Depending on the length of the pre-si/miRNA, different numbers of pre-si/miRNA are produced.

In the cytoplasm, the pre-si/miRNA is further trimmed by the Dicer enzyme (a protein that also contains RNase III domains, like Drosha), resulting in a 21-25 nt long dsRNA (Schwarz et al., 2003; Shabalina and Koonin, 2008). The cleaved dsRNA, while being bound to Dicer, is simultaneously bound by an additional dsRNA-binding protein (dsRBP), and subsequently loaded onto an Argonaute family protein. Upon loading of the pre-si/miRNA to Argonaute, Dicer and the dsRBP dissociate, and the formed ribonucleoprotein complex of the pre-si/miRNA with Argonaute is called the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). Dicer and dsRBP, while being pivotal in bringing pre-si/miRNA and Argonaute together, are not required to mediate the RNA-interference, they comprise the RISC-loading complex (RLC) but are not part of RISC themselves (MacRae et al., 2008). In human cells, the effectiveness in terms of expression and target gene silencing of the long dsRNA rapidly leads to interferon response and apoptosis, and is therefore an unsuitable construct. Therefore, the optimal range, yielding the highest possible specificity while avoiding the interferon response, is around 21-23 nucleotides (Elbashir et al., 2001).

The least understood process of the RNAi pathway is strand selection, which happens after loading of the dsRNA onto RISC. For RNA mediated silencing to

occur, one strand needs to dissociate from RISC exposing the hydrogen bonds of the other strand to base pair with endogenous mRNAs present in the cytosol. While it is known that the exonuclease C3PO is critical to ensure degradation of the passenger strand, much less is known about how C3PO "knows" which strand to degrade (Hu et al., 2009; Ye et al., 2011).



Illustration: Veronika Bendoriūtė

Figure 7. Schematic illustration of RNA interference. PIC: pre-integration complex, RT: reverse transcriptase, RISC: RNA-induced silencing complex.

After passenger strand degradation, the active RISC (containing a single-stranded RNA (ssRNA)), is free to move around the cytosol binding to mRNAs that show sequence complementarity. The complementarity need not be perfect; rather, the first 2-6 nucleotides are the pivotal seed sequences, initializing binding of RISC to the mRNA but the subsequent nucleotides can have several mismatches. This is a

key reason to the unspecific, or "off-target" effects of RNAi as will be described below (Wilson and Doudna, 2013).

In the case of perfect complementarity, the target mRNA can be cleaved immediately if the Argonaute protein bound to the guide ssRNA has a catalytic domain. Interestingly, out of the four different Argonaute proteins found in human cells (AGO1-4), only AGO2 has this property (Janowski et al., 2006). However, even in the context of incomplete match, RISC can induce transcriptional repression by other, non-endonucleolytic, mechanisms such deanylation and destabilization of the mRNA and ribosome stalling (Fabian et al., 2009). Regardless of the mechanism, the level of the translated product decreases, where the magnitude of the decrease is multi-factorial involving base-pair complementarity, the Argonaute isoform that the siRNA is bound to, and the presence of other mRNAs with sequence similarities acting as a "sponge" for the siRNA, in effect, diluting out the specific gene knockdown (Wilson and Doudna, 2013).

3. Using RNAi to study gene function

3.1. RNA interference in the study of hematopoiesis

Probably, the most well-established approach to identify genetic regulators is using reverse genetics. In reverse genetics, the correlation of "gene to phenotype" is used, where a gene is disrupted or overexpressed and the phenotype is subsequently scored and evaluated. Conversely, *forward genetics* starts with a certain (pre)defined phenotype, and then, the genes underlying this phenotype are identified.

An early and crude example of forward genetics in understanding gene function was through unspecific mutagenesis, the so-called Ames test; bacteria would be subjected to a mutation inducing chemical agent, and subsequently cultured on plates where they normally would be unable to grow; a plate containing an atypical growth nutrient or an antibiotic. Bacteria that managed to grow in these conditions would be isolated and the causative mutation identified (Ames et al., 1973). Naturally, this approach is quite laborious, particularly identifying the causative mutation, and does not lend itself as easy when studying eukaryotic cells, and human cells in particular.

Selecting candidate genes for the reverse genetics approach can often be done using transcriptome analysis and functional data from different studies and contexts. When studying the hematopoietic system, one option would be to sort out different HSPC populations, including HSCs as in (Laurenti et al., 2013), and compare the expression profile of HSCs to more downstream progenitors. The hypothesis is that certain differentially expressed genes have significance for proper function of the HSCs. To investigate whether this is the case, the genes are disrupted one at a time and the subsequent phenotype and effects of this disruption are assayed and characterized. Indeed, the phenotypic validation is often combined with transcriptomic approaches as well, creating a process reminiscent of a positive feedback loop; transcriptome analyses give hints about novel regulatory genes of interest. The novel gene is then disrupted in the same manner as the previous ones and subjected to the same phenotype characterization and transcriptomic analysis. This characterization likely identifies additional candidate regulators among the differentially expressed genes, essentially restarting the process. Continuation in this manner eventually allows mapping of complex regulatory networks.

This classic strategy has three major drawbacks. First, it is quite time consuming particularly since complete knockout mouse models often have to be generated. Second, this strategy is mostly limited to intrinsic regulators of HSCs, although knockout in a cell that is part of the hematopoietic niche in the bone marrow could be done as well. Third, some prior knowledge is required, since this process is too cumbersome and costly to be done randomly.

A completely different concept is to instead use the forward genetics approach by performing screens. Screens are done under a few assumptions. First, by adding different chemicals or nucleic acids to different cells, a seemingly homogenous cell population is made heterogeneous. Second, a selection pressure has to be applied to the cultured cells; for instance, a requirement to maintain stem cell activity or simply proliferate. Cells whose modification gives an advantage under such conditions will increase in numbers, and this is assayed at the end time point.

In the simplest format, a screen would be done in an arrayed fashion (Figure 8) where cells are plated in individual wells and different chemicals, ORFs or siRNA/shRNA molecules are added. The effects of each compound are then assayed in terms of cell proliferation and or/stem cell maintenance (Moffat et al., 2006). Unless automated, this format limits the number of compounds that can be screened in this fashion. To circumvent the limitation of the systemic format, pooled screens can be used (Paddison et al., 2004; Westbrook et al., 2005). Here, cDNA, si/shRNA, transposons etc. are screened in parallel, and the desired phenotype (such as proliferation or stem cell maintenance) is read out in the end (Figure 9). The pooled nucleic acid screen becomes a very powerful tool when combined with NGS (Church, 2006; Mardis, 2008), where each sequence in effect also serves as a molecular barcode. Thus, NGS is used as a "transduce and track" method, where the changes in relative frequency of each shRNA before and after

culture is a direct representation of that particular hairpins effect of cell proliferation and/or stem cell activity. In the context of RNAi screening, NGS has made it possible to screen libraries containing hundreds of thousands of shRNAs using the pooled setup without increasing the workload in any significant way.



Figure 8. Outline of an arrayed screen.



Figure 9. Outline of a pooled screen.

Achieving the same level of coverage for each sequence is not often possible in the pooled setting, where sub-optimal representation of the library to be screened easily causes sequences to be lost. Another drawback is of course that small molecular compounds (i.e. chemicals) cannot be screened in a pooled fashion. However, despite these drawbacks, the pooled screen is significantly more time and cost efficient (Karlsson et al., 2014). and are an attractive option where thousands of hairpins can be assayed at once, drastically decreasing the cost and time expenditure compared to the arrayed format. On the other hand, large pooled screens may not be feasible for certain cell types and assays, particularly when complex phenotypes need to be assayed visually, although automated imaging acquisition and analysis has improved drastically in recent years, making storage space more of a limiting factor (Karlsson et al., 2014).

After the discovery of RNAi in 1998 *C. elegans*, the concept of RNAi screening was initially introduced and used in that same organism (Tabara et al., 1998). *C. elegans* was found to be quite amenable to RNA interference, not only from a mechanistic but also from a practical approach when it was discovered that culturing this worm in the presence of bacteria engineered to effectively express double-stranded interfering RNA effectively led to ingestion of bacteria by *C. elegans* and subsequent induction of the RNAi machinery (Timmons et al., 2001). It was then relatively easy to apply the concept from classical genetics together with a molecular approach, identifying the RNA responsible for the phenotype. In *C. elegans*, it was almost equally easy to perform RNAi screens *in vivo* as *in vitro*.

Quite soon thereafter, the concept of RNAi was introduced in Drosophila, where RNAi screens were quite successful not least because of the low genetic redundancy in Drosophila and a high efficiency of RNA transfer, expression and silencing (Boutros and Ahringer, 2008; Clemens et al., 2000). However, *in vivo* screens were not as technically easy. Simple feeding of transgenic bacteria does not work in Drosophila, although RNAi could be injected into the developing embryo. To achieve *in vivo* screening in Drosophila, it is instead more feasible to generate a library of transgenic flies, each expression of dsRNA hairpin (>200 bp) that upon cross breeding become activated. Subjecting these flies with different dsRNA inserts to various selection pressure (nutrient depletion, temperature changes etc.) will allow identification of flies and sequences conferring that particular survival advantage (Dietzl et al., 2007). Needless to say, the generation of such "fly libraries" is extensively laborious, and a more feasible approach in Drosophila would be simpler *in vitro* screens after establishing cell lines originating from different tissues of the fly (Bai et al., 2008).

More recently, multiple commercial genome-wide shRNA libraries targeting several different mammalian cells have been generated, where the shRNA construct can either be packaged into lentiviral particles for transduction or simply

transfected into cells. Screens of this kind can be performed either individually or in pools. Since the creation of large lentiviral libraries (Figure 10 and 11), RNAi makes it now possible to perform pooled genetic screens, silencing thousands of genes in both cell lines and primary mammalian cells, including human (Campeau and Gobeil, 2011; Echeverri and Perrimon, 2006; Moffat and Sabatini, 2006).



Illustration: Veronika Bendoriūtė

Figure 10. Structure of the HIV-based lentivirus, often used in gene therapy and to deliver RNAi vectors.

RNAi is fairly easily introduced into cells, virtually any gene can be targeted, and by keeping the complementary interfering sequence short, the negative effects are lowered. Furthermore, RNAi can be used in both reverse and forward genetics; a gene can be knocked down with subsequent classic phenotype characterization studies, but also, multiple RNA sequences can be designed, targeting different genes with different RNA introduced into different cells. Applying a selection pressure as in the Ames test would then constitute a forward genetics approach. In summary, one could say that RNAi screens are forward genetics screens that use molecular biology tools from reverse genetics.



Figure 11. Genome of the native and engineered lentivirus. The top panel illustrates the nine genes constituting the genome of wild-type HIV. The three panels below illustrate the HIV virus redesigned to introduce specific genetic material into the host cells genome, in this case an shRNA construct. The shRNA insert, viral envelope and enzymes are all expressed from different plasmids. Since there are no packaging sequences on the plasmids coding for the viral envelope and enzymes (bottom two panels), they do not get inserted into the newly assembled virion, making the produced virus lack any replicative abilities.

3.2. Identification of HSC regulators using RNAi screens

Identifying regulators of HSCs has been a primary goal in hematology for a long time for several reasons; (i) to improve bone marrow transplantation (BMT), expanding HSCs *in vitro*, thereby being able to offer this therapy to a broader group of patients, (ii) to understand the changes that occur upon aging, establishment of clonal hematopoiesis and formation of malignancies, identifying novel therapeutic targets towards this, (iii) to get a better and deeper understanding of the blood cell development process from a biological and academic point of view.

The blood system renders itself particularly well to study through RNAi-screens. The success of RNAi screens depends in part on the ability of lentiviral RNAi-vectors to infect a sufficient number of target cells, ensuring an adequate coverage, as well as having the tools to design a readout assay with a high enough specificity and sensitivity (Galeev et al., 2017) (Figures 10 and 11). HSPCs have advantages in both respects, they can be acquired and transduced in sufficient quantities (Woods et al., 2000), are easily cultured, and flow cytometry can be used to sort out any desired phenotypic sub-population. Since HSPCs are only able to maintain their undifferentiated state for a short time in culture, this limitation can be used as a functional selection criterion where augmented expression of a certain cell

surface marker or simply increased proliferation can be detected by positive selection.

Using both the aforementioned genome-wide libraries as well as shorter, custommade ones, many RNAi screens have been performed in both murine and human hematopoietic systems. In 2010, using a custom-made library targeting 20 known polarity factors, Hope et al. did a selected screen in murine HSCs, identifying Msi2 as a positive HSC regulator and Prox1 as a negative one (Hope et al., 2010). In 2011, screening a custom-made library targeting chromatin regulators in AML cells *in vivo*, Zuber et al. identified Brd4 as a critical and selective negative regulator of leukemic stem cells, where knockdown of Brd4 had a strong antiproliferative effect on leukemic cells but only a very mild phenotype on wildtype healthy cells (Zuber et al., 2011).

DNA-damage response has always been a critical issue not just in HSCs but also in stem cell biology in general. Screening 947 cancer related genes in an in vivo RNAi screen (transplanting transduced HSPCs and analyzing the relative shRNA distribution weeks after engraftment) identified Batf as a mediator of cell cycle arrest upon DNA damage in murine HSPCs (Wang et al., 2012). Continuing on the interesting topic of in vivo screens, Miller et al. identified the exclusive dependence on ITGB3 signaling of leukemic cells, something that was not required for healthy human HSPCs (Miller et al., 2013). Naturally, the findings of Zuber and Miller make Brd4 and ITGB3 very attractive novel therapeutic targets for AML. Building on the knowledge of AML development, an elegant in vivo screen performed by Puram et al. identified circadian rhythm transcription factors Clock and Bmall as genes crucial for growth of leukemic cells in vitro and in vivo. Depleting these genes produced anti-leukemic effects while sparing the healthy HSCs, opening an additional therapeutic opportunity (Puram et al., 2016). In our lab, we have successfully used RNAi screening to identify regulators of cell adhesion (Rak et al., 2017), a process critical to increase engraftment efficiency after BMT, as well as novel regulators of self-renewal (Baudet et al., 2012; Galeev et al., 2016; Kinkel et al., 2015), where the latter three are presented as articles in this thesis.

More recently, the discovery and development of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR) technology has become a powerful tool to not only, more selectively attenuate or knockout genes with high precision, but also overexpress genes to reasonable levels and not the supraphysiological levels achieved by classic open reading frame (ORF) overexpression vectors (Cong et al., 2013; Shalem et al., 2014; Wang et al., 2014). Two key advantages of CRISPR over RNAi are the significantly lower off-target effects and the ability to modify any region in the genome such as enhancers or promoters; since the modification occurs on the DNA in contrast to the RNA level, no expression is required. While
this technology works quite well in cell lines, using the CRISPR system to modify gene expression in primary cells, especially human, has been harder, although significant improvements have been made using human CD34⁺ as well as other primary cells (Tothova et al., 2017). Much work therefore remains to be done, but once achieved it is doubtless that CRISPR together with RNAi will be a very strong combination for studying gene function.

AIMS OF THIS THESIS

In this thesis, I have focused on identifying novel intrinsic regulators of human HSPCs, with the aim of (I) understanding the regulation of human CB-derived HSCs; which genes push the HSCs towards a particular cell fate, and attempting to differ between healthy, physiological expansion and that of leukemia. (II) Delineating the mechanisms that result in malignant hematopoiesis, specifically AML and MDS, with the aim of designing better, and more targeted therapies in the future.

With this goal in mind, I have tried to identify genetic regulators in the leastbiased way possible, using the largest available RNAi library at the time to employ a near-genome wide approach, without any preconceptions about as to which genes are likely to be important and which are not, with no apparent grounding in previous studies, other than those showing the feasibility of this particular approach.

In is my hope that, with the findings presented in this thesis, we have understood the regulation of the human HSC a bit more, came a small step closer to improving BMT therapies, enabling us to offer it to more people, especially the elderly, but also helped us to identify novel therapeutic targets for myeloid malignancies, AML and MDS in particular.

SUMMARY OF ARTICLES

Paper I – RNAi screen identifies MAPK14 as a druggable suppressor of human hematopoietic stem cell expansion

In this paper, we focused specifically on identifying target genes that act as negative regulators of human HSC expansion *in vitro* and at the same time were druggable and could be targeted by specific molecular inhibitors. To this end, we used a pooled subset of the RNAi consortium (TRC), targeting around 1000 kinases and phosphatases with an average of 5 hairpins per gene. $CD34^+$ cells were put in culture and transduced with the aforementioned lentiviral library. Normally, the expression of CD34 on the cell surface is lost fairly rapidly as cells differentiate *in vitro*. Therefore, using the limited persistence of CD34 expression during culture as a functional selection tool, we isolated cells that still maintained CD34 expression after three weeks of *in vitro* culture. By directly comparing the relative distribution of each shRNA before and after the culture period, we ranked each individual shRNA based on its ability to expand or maintain CD34 expression.

To minimize noise of the assay, (more on this in "General discussion" below), we introduced stringent selection criteria; enrichment of multiple shRNAs per gene, validated (>50%) knockdown of each shRNA, expression of the gene of interest in $CD34^+$ cells and finally, whether the candidate gene could be targeted by a small molecule inhibitor. Using these criteria to rank all included genes, the highest scoring gene was mitogen-activated protein kinase 14 (MAPK14), having three individual hairpins in the enriched fraction. Using four different chemical inhibitors, we showed that attenuation of MAPK14 results in an increase of CD34-expressing HSPCs during a 5-week period of *in vitro* culture and cells treated with the MAPK14 inhibitors show higher chimerism levels upon transplantation *in vivo*. This study clearly illustrates the feasibility of using forward RNAi screens to identify regulators of hematopoietic stem cell activity, and was the basis for our future screens. Having shown the proof-of-concept and feasibility of our approach in this study, we scaled up our screening paradigm to do a near genome-wide screen (Paper II).

Paper II – Genome-wide RNAi screen identifies Cohesin genes as modifiers of renewal and differentiation in human HSCs

In paper II, due to our success in identifying a novel regulator of HSPCs in our previous study, we decided to widen our approach using a near genome-wide library to include 15 000 genes with an average of 5 hairpins per gene, yielding in effect, 75 000 shRNAs, using the same screening paradigm as in paper I. Given the vast depth of the data, we decided to focus not just on individual genes, but also include groups of genes belonging to the same gene family, cell signaling pathway or protein complex in an attempt to understand more complex aspects of gene regulation in human HSPCs. To this end, we ranked each "group of genes" based on the ability of each constituent gene to expand CD34⁺ cells. Interestingly, we found that four out of five members of the Cohesin complex (STAG2, SMC3, RAD21 and STAG1), all scored within the top 1% of our gene list. Subsequent validation studies revealed that knockdown of each Cohesin component individually resulted in an increase of undifferentiated cells in vitro and in vivo, coupled with a myeloid skewing *in vivo* and the ability to engraft secondary recipients, resembling the early stages of a myeloid disorder where a significant fraction of engrafted cells showed atypical nuclei. Further, we showed that knockdown of any Cohesin component results in relative upregulation of HSCspecific genes. Whether this is a direct effect of Cohesin deficiency or just a consequence pertaining to the failure to upregulate differentiation promoting genes remains to be determined. Further, it is not quite clear whether the effect is direct or indirect, i.e. if HSC genes actually are upregulated or whether this is simply a consequence of performing the analysis in bulk, a mere consequence of increased HSC numbers

Paper III – Jarid2 regulates hematopoietic stem cell function by acting with polycomb repressive complex 2

This work has been done in collaboration with Dr. Marnie E. Blewitts group in Melbourne, Australia. In the early phases of the analysis of our genome-wide screening data, we discovered that JARID2 was the highest-ranking DNA binding protein overall. Upon validation of this finding, we saw that knockdown of JARID2 resulted in expansion of HSPCs from multiple different sources; human

fetal liver, cord blood, as well as bone marrow, all showed increase in CD34⁺ *in vitro*. Similarly, *in vivo*, knockdown of JARID2 resulted in increased human chimerism levels in blood and bone marrow of recipient animals, together with the ability to engraft secondary hosts and upregulation of HSC-specific genes. At the same time, our collaborators in Australia had done a similar discovery for Jarid2 in murine cells, derived both from fetal liver and adult bone marrow. Jarid2 appears to regulate HSPCs function by direction interaction with PRC2, recruiting this protein complex to the genome. The roles of PRC1 and PRC2 in gene regulation are very complex, but it has been shown before that at least in murine HSCs they appear to have antagonistic roles where PRC1 increases HSC-function while PRC2 decreases it. It is therefore a plausible mechanistic explanation that in the absence of Jarid2, PRC2 does not bind as effectively shifting the epigenetic landscape towards that of PRC1, thereby increasing HSC function.

Paper IV – Identification of potential disease associated genes in acute myeloid leukemia and myelodysplastic syndrome using RNAi screens and targeted sequencing

The nature of the genome-wide screen we conducted was focused on cell proliferation, an enrichment of tumor suppressor genes is therefore an expected finding. Indeed, JARID2 and Cohesin have been shown in many studies to be mutated in AML and MDS. Assuming that not all causative mutations in these two heterogeneous diseases are known, we reasoned that perhaps our screen preselects both known and unknown genes with tumor suppressor gene (TSG) function.

To investigate this, we designed custom DNA probes to target the top 500 genes from our genome-wide lentiviral shRNA screen and used these probes to sequence near 400 patients suffering from either AML or MDS. We then decided to focus on genes showing recurrent (≥ 2 patients), and deleterious (i.e. frame-shift, stopgain/loss and splice site mutations) mutations in our data set. Using this analysis, we narrowed down the potential candidates from 500 to 17. The 17 candidate genes were functionally validated in our *in vitro* assay for proliferation and maintenance of immature markers as well as assaying knockdown efficiency and overall expression of the 17 candidate genes in hematopoietic cells. This further reduced the candidate number to two; non-SMC Condensin I complex subunit D2 (NCAPD2) and serum deprivation response (SDPR).

To investigate whether Ncapd2 and Sdpr are actively involved in AML or MDS pathogenesis, we decided to investigate the effects of their knockdown on the preleukemic FLT3-ITD mouse model background. Knockdown of Ncapd2 or Sdpr in LSK cells from FLT3-ITD homozygous mice showed a strongly increased serial replating activity, although the effect on immature cell surface markers was moderate and there was no correlation between knockdown efficiency and phenotype, possibly due to lower levels of expression of Ncapd2 and Sdpr in the murine cells. We are currently planning on using other preleukemic mouse models and also fine tuning our transduction protocols and cell usage, in order to more closely mimic the natural leukemogenic process in humans. We hope this will help clarify and validate whether our two potential regulators indeed are involved in leukemogenesis.

Additionally, since AML and MDS are genetically heterogeneous, we are aiming to achieve a higher mutation resolution; sequencing additional patient samples; bone marrow aspirates taken upon diagnosis but also relapse, quantifying the disease burden in the bone marrow, all aiming to increase the specificity and sensitivity of our assay, where stringent preselection would likely increase the chances of generating a true, positive hit.

CONCLUSIONS

Forward RNAi screens are a successful strategy to identify regulators of cell fate of both normal and malignant hematopoiesis (papers I-IV).

As long as a feasible selection pressure and readout assay can be found, RNAi screens could likely be used on other cell types and for other purposes (papers I-III).

Inhibition of MAPK14 increases HSC-activity *in vitro* and *in vivo*, or at least prevents exhaustion (paper I).

JARID2, a PRC2 accessory factor regulates human and murine HSC-function through direct interaction with PRC2 (paper III).

Cohesin, a critical protein complex mediating proper sister-strand segregation during cell division and facilitating long-range chromatin interactions, is a critical regulator of the self-renewal and differentiation balance in human HSPCs (paper II).

Knockdown of Cohesin and JARID2 likely induces stem cell-specific gene expression programs in HSPCs (papers II, III).

NCAPD2 and SDPR are potential novel AML/MDS associated genes (paper IV).

Due to the limitations of the assay, there are likely more important HSC regulators that have yet to be validated (papers I-III).

Introducing stringent selection criteria when ranking shRNA and gene ranking decreases the noise of the assay substantially (paper I-IV).

Combining RNAi screens with NGS is a powerful tool to study regulators of cell fate in this context (papers I-IV).

GENERAL DISCUSSION

RNAi-based genetic screens

RNAi clearly has several limitations, causing both false negative and false positive hits. In the work presented here, false negative hits occur due to several reasons. First, due to different knockdown efficiencies of different shRNA molecules, a potentially important regulator could be missed due to insufficient knockdown. Second, the studies presented in this thesis have utilized cord blood derived CD34⁺ HSPCs. This population is inherently heterogeneous where the actual engrafting stem cell frequency is quite low. The principle behind our RNAi screen is applying a selection pressure after making a homogeneous population heterogeneous; in this case, we transduce CD34⁺ cells with a lentiviral library, where each cell has a unique shRNA giving them a certain advantage or disadvantage in *in vitro* culture. The application of a selection pressure, in this case simple *in vitro* culture since HSPCs tend to lose their CD34 expression under normal conditions, enables us to identify those shRNAs that have caused retainment or expansion of CD34⁺ cells under these conditions.

The caveat is that CD34⁺ are not particularly homogeneous, CD34 is also expressed on every upstream progenitor; CMP, GMP, MEP and CLP. Unfortunately, this expression is stable and no difference in expression levels are observed between an HSC and the different progenitor populations making it impossible to sort out cells based on cell surface expression levels. We are thus working with quite a heterogeneous population from the start, that after transduction becomes even more heterogeneous. Not every shRNA has then the opportunity to exert its proliferative effects; the results become a stochastic probability of which cell a particular shRNAs happens to hit.

There is, therefore, a substantial risk that the true HSC, or a more upstream progenitor at least, is not targeted, and a potentially important shRNA never "gets the chance" to exert its effect. Due to the fact that it is much harder to counteract the prevalence of false negative hits vs. false positive ones in this assay, there is a big chance that potential critical regulators were missed. Sadly, technical limitations make it infeasible to use a more defined, and thus more homogeneous population (for the work presented in this thesis, over 500 cords were collected).

The two main culprits behind false positive hits are insertional mutagenesis and off-target effects. The former happens when the strong promoter of the gene delivery vector happens to, by chance, get inserted next to a proto-oncogene,

causing extensive cell proliferation. While lentiviruses have a substantially lower risk of this event compared to older generation of viral vectors (such as the gamma retroviral vectors) (Cattoglio et al., 2007; Neschadim et al., 2007), it is not negligible and thus a point of concern. To counteract this phenomenon, multiple replicates are usually used, and we have used six transduction replicates, screening for candidates that perform well overall. It is an unlikely scenario for insertional mutagenesis to occur in the same locus in multiple replicates (even if certain regions are more insert prone than others). The latter; off-target effects, are significantly more difficult to compensate for in a screening setting. These are usually mediated by a fraction of the shRNA, usually 6-9 bases of the final 21nucleotide RNA (Wilson and Doudna, 2013). Subsequent validation of presumptive hits is where off-target effects can truly be assayed, primarily by measuring knockdown efficiency; this is the strategy that was pursued in the studies described here. Naturally, separate transductions were carried out for the in vitro and in vivo studies as well. The in vivo model used here, the NSG mouse, has several limitations in its own right, discussed in chapter 3 in the first part of the thesis

In paper IV, our aim was to identify novel regulators in AML and MDS. The 500 candidate genes that had the strongest expansion phenotype in the screen were sequenced in a cohort of near 400 patients. This rationale also poses the risk of generating false negative hits, since there are many more ways to silence or disrupt a gene than simply mutating its coding sequence. Epigenetic deregulation has become more and more appreciated in hematological disorders during the last decade, and disruption of the epigenetic landscape is believed to be an early event in leukemogenesis. While studies have shown that the epigenetic disruption is due to mutations on the genetic level of such regulators (Kotini et al., 2017), other mechanisms cannot be ruled out. Naturally, adding a complete epigenetic profile would have significantly improved on the study, however due to technical limitations, this was not possible to do to date.

Throughout the thesis, due to the ease of acquisition, human umbilical cord bloodderived HSPCs have been used for the majority of experiments. While many aspects of biology are quite similar between CB HSPCs and adult BM-derived HSPCs, there are still notably differences, not least in HSC activity and mutation load (as described in chapter 1 in the first part of the thesis). It is possible that a different gene list of negative regulators of proliferation would have been obtained had BM HSPCs been used for the screen instead. Also, for our leukemia study, using adult or even old human HSPCs could perhaps make it easier to trigger a leukemic transformation.

There is also the issue of bulk vs. single cell analysis, a topic that has received more and more attention in the last two-three years. Since each phenotypic population within the hematopoietic hierarchy has been shown to be significantly more heterogeneous and less plastic than previously thought, it makes it difficult to ascertain the actual effects of our knockdown phenotypes, and a mechanism of action in particular. It is not clear whether an observed change in the transcriptome for instance, is due to actual changes in gene expression or simply a population shift. For practical reasons, not all assays have to be done on the single cell level, however, but to get a more thorough mechanistic picture, validation experiments, and gene expression/RNA-seq studies should. With the speed at which advances in molecular biology takes place, it is quite plausible that this will be widely available within a few years.

Cohesin as a novel regulator of HSPCs and a therapeutic target in leukemia

A major finding in this thesis has been the discovery of the cohesin complex as a novel regulator of HSPC fate. Cohesin is an evolutionary conserved protein, initially discovered already in 1985 (Larionov et al., 1985), where several subunits of this complex were identified as critical in maintaining proper chromosome segregation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (*S. cerevisiae*) (Guacci et al., 1997; Michaelis et al., 1997). Several years later, the same function was attributed to the mammalian cohesin complex (Nasmyth and Haering, 2009), where cells lacking cohesin develop genome instability and aneuploidy (Remeseiro et al., 2012). Therefore, when the mutations in this complex were described as causing AML and MDS in 2012 (2013; Welch et al., 2012), it was initially believed that this was due to genomic instability caused by deficient cohesin, improper chromosome segregation during mitosis, and aneuploidy. However, more detailed studies failed to show any link between cohesin mutations and aneuploidy in hematological malignancies (Fisher, 2017; Kon et al., 2013).

Instead, the in-depth sequencing studies revealed five key characteristics of cohesin mutations. (i) the majority (if not all) of cohesin mutations have loss-of-function consequences. And while there are activating mutations in some solid-state cancers (overexpression of RAD21 correlates with poor prognosis in breast and colorectal cancers for instance (Deb et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2011)), in the context of leukemia, cohesin likely has a tumor suppressor function, and a clear correlation between cohesin mutations and prognosis has so far not been shown (Fisher, 2017). (ii) Mutations are generally heterozygous, indicating a haploinsufficient mechanism, although it must be pointed out that STAG2 and SMC1A are located on the X-chromosome, making the mutations functionally homozygous at least in males (and perhaps also in females depending on the level

of chromosome imprinting). (iii) Cohesin mutations show a high variant allele frequency (VAF), indicating that they occur relatively early in leukemogenesis (Jan et al., 2012). (iv) Mutations in cohesin have been linked to CHIP in elderly humans, and because of the relatively high VAF, are likely early contributors to a pre-leukemic state (Genovese et al., 2014; Jaiswal et al., 2014; McKerrell et al., 2015). (v) Lastly, cohesin mutations are mutually exclusive. The mutation status of cohesin genes in AML and MDS have been ascertained for thousands of patients, and of these, only two patient had multiple mutations, where the second one was a missense. Thus, it is unlikely that there is any selective advantage or enhanced leukemogenesis upon additional disruption of the complex. Rather, the opposite seems more plausible; a more severe disruption may inhibit cell function as well as cancer development.

After the discovery of cohesin mutations in leukemia, four papers, including paper III in this thesis, came out within a short time frame, all describing the effects of isolated cohesin deficiency in HSPCs (Mazumdar et al., 2015; Mullenders et al., 2015; Viny et al., 2015). Two of the four studies used murine cells and two used human cells. The strategies to disrupt cohesin were quite different; homozygous/heterozygous knockout, inducible shRNAs *in vivo*, overexpression of leukemia-specific cohesin mutants, and constitutive shRNA expression from lentiviral provirus. Despite this, the results were remarkably similar overall with increased HSC activity, impaired differentiation, and myeloid skewing.

Isolated cohesin deficiency in HSPCs of both species caused increased frequency of MPP and ST-HSCs (LT-HSCs show conflicting results however), and cohesin deficient HSPCs show higher chimerism upon transplantation, harbor enhanced HSC expansion *in vivo*, cause a myeloid skewing *in vitro* and *in vivo*, have an increased serial transplantation capacity as well as increased serial replating potential in CFC assays. Interestingly, while there is a clear preservation of HSPCs upon cohesin deficiency, this does not seem to be the case for more differentiated progenitors; depletion of cohesin in a CMP or GMP for instance has a very mild phenotype, and these cells differentiated quite normally (Mazumdar et al., 2015). Apart from linking cohesin mutations to CHIP, their role in leukemogenesis was functionally proven where haploinsufficiency in Smc3 on a Flt3-ITD background, induced an aggressive AML with decreased latency upon serial transplantation (Mullenders et al., 2015).

Deciphering a clear mechanism of action behind cohesin deficiency has been considerably harder. There are multiple plausibly theories, but it is quite difficult to offer definitive proof, not least due to reasons described in the previous section; the vast heterogeneity of blood cell progenitors. That the mechanism of leukemogenesis is not caused by improper chromosome segregation with subsequent aneuploidy is seemingly clear though.

In mammals, cohesin consists of four core subunits; RAD21, SMC1A, SMC3, and either STAG1 or STAG2 (Peters et al., 2008). These four subunits form a circular structure, capable of encircling chromatin, but they lack direct DNA binding properties, instead relying on various adaptor proteins, CTCF being the most common for DNA localization (Rubio et al., 2008). Apart from the key role of cohesin in mitosis, studies during the last decade have also defined cohesin as a pivotal regulator of the 3D conformation structure of chromatin, and stabilization of chromatin loops, in effect, affecting both replication, transcription, and longrange interactions (Dixon et al., 2012; Ji et al., 2016). With this knowledge, the leading theory has become that cohesin, both independently and together with CTCF, modulates insulation and enhancer interactions within and between preestablished chromosomal architectural compartments and topology associated domains (TADs), thereby influencing gene expression. Additionally, contrary to transcription factors, cohesin remains bound to chromatin during replication (not only at the centromere), suggesting it may play a role in the re-establishment of a certain transcriptional program after mitosis (Yan et al., 2013).

More specifically, in the context of HSPCs, deficiency of cohesin causes global changes in chromosome structure and organization. Overall, the chromatin becomes denser and more compacted, while certain specific loci instead show increased accessibility (Mazumdar et al., 2015; Mullenders et al., 2015; Viny et al., 2015). Mazumdar et al. for instance, showed that overexpression of dominant negative cohesin mutants as well as knockdown of endogenous cohesin caused a relative enrichment in DNA binding motifs for ERG, RUNX1 and GATA2, all known positive regulators of HSC self-renewal. Therefore, a plausible theory is that cohesin deficiency transforms a substantial part of euchromatin to heterochromatin, thus disabling lineage-specific gene activation and blocking differentiation, instead maintaining HSC-specific gene expression programs. Should cohesin be depleted in a more downstream progenitor, where the differentiation program is not only epigenetically primed, but also transcriptionally activated, the effects are negligible (Mazumdar et al., 2015).

Despite the heterogeneity of the mutation landscape of AML and MDS, cohesin has emerged as a major player in both of these diseases where an average of 10-12% of patients harbor mutations in cohesin genes (Fisher, 2017). As a side note, in Down syndrome-acute megakaryoblastic leukemia (DS-AMKL), a subtype of AML, 53% of patients have cohesin mutations (Yoshida et al., 2013). The cause of this overwhelming prevalence is not known though. Clearly, cohesin has become positioned as one of the major gene categories associated with myeloid malignancies.

From a clinical perspective, it is of course very tempting to speculate how cohesin mutations can be exploited for therapeutic benefit, given that a significant number

of patients harbor these mutations. Approaching this problem from the general point of view, with the aim of either restoring function or targeting the defective protein would, in this context, likely prove to be quite difficult. Restoring cohesin function to leukemic cells would require quite advanced gene therapy, and targeting a defective protein is rarely a viable strategy when the disruption is an LOF. Additionally, as cohesin mutations occur early on and leukemia is known to go through several stages of clonal evolution, it is unclear whether established disease is at all dependent on defective cohesin function, bringing even more uncertainty to these two strategies.

An entirely different strategy would be to use the mutual exclusivity of cohesin mutations as a therapeutic advantage, and disrupt cohesin function even further. At first glance, this may seem paradoxical, since defective cohesin correlates with leukemia. However, due to the mutual exclusivity of cohesin mutations, it does seem that mutations in two different core subunits are not tolerated by the leukemic cells. Indeed, a homozygous disruption in just one gene is detrimental to HSPCs as shown by Viny et al., where heterozygous Smc3 deletion causes increased HSPCs activity while homozygous deletion results in aplastic bone marrow, pancytopenia and death (Viny et al., 2015). We have observed a similar dose-dependent effect of RAD21 knockdown in human HSPCs, where partial (40-50%) knockdown induces expansion while near complete knockdown (>90%) results in cell death, further supporting this notion (Galeev, R., and Larsson, J. unpublished data). Targeting the healthy allele of the mutated cohesin gene or one allele of another, healthy cohesin gene, may provide an effective therapy to eradicate leukemic cells.

This concept; synthetic lethality, has already been demonstrated for mutations in splicing genes, commonly mutated in MDS. Like cohesin mutations, they are also heterozygous and mutually exclusive, indicating that only a partial loss of the spliceosomal machinery can be tolerated. Further attenuation of the splicing process in leukemias already harboring mutations in a splicing gene, selectively and strongly perturbed the leukemic cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Yoshida et al., 2011).

Should synthetic lethality be pursued in the context of cohesin mutations, great care must be taken not to induce malignancy in healthy cells, since targeting leukemic cells exclusively is quite difficult, not least due to the high morphological similarity, and some level of cohesin disruption would likely be induced in healthy cells as well. Based on sequencing studies, and also our data presented in paper III, STAG1 appears to be the core subunit showing the mildest phenotype, indicating that this gene could be a viable target. Indeed, two recent papers demonstrated synthetic lethality between STAG1 and STAG2, albeit in cancer cell lines (Benedetti et al., 2017; van der Lelij et al., 2017). Nevertheless,

these studies also showed no significant abnormalities upon isolated STAG1 disruption. The key challenge will obviously be developing therapeutically viable and safe strategies of targeting STAG1 in humans.

Nevertheless, the discovery of the role of cohesin in hematopoiesis and leukemia has opened an exciting new avenue for research and development of targeted therapeutics, but also added an additional layer of understanding transcriptional regulation at the epigenetic level in modulation of fundamental hematopoietic cell fate options. In the end, it is a fascinating observation that an evolutionary conserved and general protein complex like cohesin can induce specific gene expression programs in stem cells.

SVENSK SAMMANFATTNING

Bildandet av blodceller, hematopoesen, utgår från ett litet antal av de så kallade hematopoetiska stamceller som sitter i vår benmärg. Dessa celler har förmågan att ge upphov till alla mogna blodcellstyper av de tre hematopoetiska linjerna, samtidigt som de genom celldelning bibehåller sin egna mängd. Det har uppskattats att vi endast har några tusen hematopoetiska stamceller, men trots deras relativt lilla antal, har de den enastående förmågan att generera runt 11 miljoner mogna blodceller varje sekund, hela livet.

Trots att hematopoetiska stamceller sannolikt är de stamceller det forskats mest kring, är vår förståelse kring hur de regleras på molekylär och genetisk fortfarande inkomplett. I syfte att öka vår förståelse om den genetiska regleringen av hematopoetiska stamceller både i normal och malign blodbildning (leukemi), har vi i denna avhandling använt oss av RNA interferens (RNAi) applicerat på blodstamceller från navelsträngsblod i syfte att identifiera gener som styr stamcellernas självförnyelse och celldelning. Genom att använda både ett förvalt och genetiskt komplett RNAi virusbibliotek, har vi funnit att MAPK14, cohesinkomplexet and JARID2 negativa genetiska regulatorer är av blodstamceller. Attenuering av samtliga dessa gener medförde ökad funktionalitet hos stamcellerna.

Vi har också använt datan från vår RNAi screen som ett verktyg att preselektera gener i syfte att även identifiera genetiska regulator i malign hematopoes, särskilt akut myeloisk leukemi och myelodysplastiskt syndrom. Genom att sekvensera de preselekterade generna i över 400 patientprover och därefter funktionellt validera våra upptäckter i både humana och murina celler, har vi identifierat NCAPD2 och SDPR som potentiellt AML- och MDS-associerade gener.

Sammanfattningsvis har vi i denna avhandling använt oss av en global, helgenomtäckande RNAi screen i mänskliga stamceller isolerade från navelsträngsblod. Vi har visat att detta är en användbar metod att hitta nya genetiska stamcellsregulator och i kombination med helgenomssekvensering att även hitta funktionellt relevanta sjukdomsassocierade gener i hematopoetiska maligniteter.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This part of the thesis was easily the most difficult to write. I don't know how many times I've re-read it, afraid of having left someone out. Because in the end, even if it may seem so to the observer, a thesis is rarely a one-person job, and this one most certainly is not.

First, I must express my deepest gratitude to Jonas Larsson. Your encouragement, advise, time, dedication and mentoring have been truly invaluable. I am also extremely grateful for all your support and encouragement in regards to my clinical studies and work, without which my dream of combining research and clinical practice would never be possible. Also, a huge thanks to our previous professor **Stefan Karlsson**, for all the gatherings in your home, dinner parties, and especially for creating this amazing scientific environment I've had the privilege of being part of here at Lund Stem Cell Center.

Thanks to my co-supervisor Niels-Bjarne Woods and also David Bryder, Jörg Cammenga, Kenichi Miharada, Kees-Jan Pronk (KJ), Johan Flygare and Björn Nilsson for always having time to discuss issues in science, medicine and otherwise, and offering very helpful and practical advice. A special thank you to Aurélie Baudet for all the help you gave me in the beginning of my PhD-career, when I barely knew what I was doing with anything, I remember in particular the occasion when I transduced kidney-derived (or were they neuronal? :p) cell lines and expected them to engraft.

All my office mates, past and present, deserve a special mention here, since you all were so amazing at putting up with the vortex of my insanity every day! Carmen Flores Bjuström, Carolina Guibentif, Valgardur Sigurdsson, Pekka Jaako, Kristian Reckzeh, Matilda Rehn, Ilana Moscatelli, Svetlana Soboleva, Mark van der Garde, Leal Oburoglu, Sofia Wijk, Ludwig Schmiderer and Mitsuyoshi Suzuki. © Praveen Kumar, thank you for always keeping me up to date with the literature by searching for "hematopoietic stem cell" on pubmed every morning.

Thanks to **Beata Lindqvist Perlowska** for always making great viruses and always on such short notice. I promise we will take more Harley trips in the future! Kris is also getting one btw! **Karin Olsson**, **Ineke de Jong** and **Xiaojie Xian**, you have been invaluable helping me not only with lab work, but especially finding all my reagents that I constantly misplace and can't find. After all these years, I'm still in need of your help on a daily basis. **Christine Karlsson** for doing such an amazing job with the scientific administration, (nothing gets by you, ever) most importantly keeping me informed about all the interesting talks through emails and Facebook posts, though I still manage to forget some.

Kristijonas Žemaitis, thanks for joining our lab, continuing the projects I started, and introducing me to the mentorship role; both in science and motorcycle riding. Congratulations btw! You're really a high energy guy, doing a great job (Donald Trump-pronunciation :D). Best of luck to you in your pursuit of your own PhD. Honestly, I don't think you'll need it. Thanks **Agatheeswaran Subramaniam** for also continuing the projects together with Kris, and **Mehrnaz Safaee Talkhoncheh** for all your help with cord blood acquisition. **David Yudovich** and **Alexandra Bäckström**, thanks for your always immediate assistance with CRISPR.

Simon Hultmark for always helping me out with the Harley, no matter what weather or time of day it is. **Shubhranshu Debnath** for making sure to keep half of BMC informed about my birthday, every year.

Doing this PhD has really made me cut down on physical activities, I therefore must acknowledge all the people in our die-hard floorball team: **Hugo** Åkerstrand, Nicola Guzzi, Roberto Munita, Rebecca Warfvinge, Alexander Doyle, Göran Karlsson, and Mikael Sigvardsson.

Thank you to members of the Bryder group, especially **Eva Erlandsson**, **Amol Ugale** and **Martin Wahlestedt** for always allowing me to work in your lab, and sharing your knowledge about all the advanced tools of molecular biology.

Ram Krishna Thakur, your enthusiasm is incredibly contagious and inspiring, thank you for always offering to help out in the lab with such a huge amount of energy. **Trine Kristiansen**, thanks for all the helpful advice and discussions with next generation sequencing. **Mattias Aine** for solving all my bioinformatics problems I've thrown at you with remarkable precision and speed, I wouldn't have gotten anywhere on that front without your help. **Zhi Ma** and **Teona Roschupkina**, you have been invaluable for all my use of our flow cytometers throughout the years. **Ewa Sitnicka** and **Lilian Wittmann** for the ever quick and generous supply of genetically modified mice.

A big thank you to all my friends and colleagues in Stockholm; Eva Hellström Lindberg, Mohsen Karimi Arzenani, Robert Månsson and Charlotte Gustafsson as well as in Japan; Seishi Ogawa and Kenichi Yoshida for your generous collaboration, your supply of precious AML and MDS samples and all the advice and discussion for paper IV. Anders Kvist and Therese Törngren for helping us with NGS when this technology was still in its cradle.

Jakob Engman and **Niklas Tibbelin**, thank for being such amazing friends for near two decades, the "mongo preps", epic "Bordeaux-fylla", the road trips to Europe and all the support. And **Michel Gustavsson**, thanks for teaching me probably the most important skill of all. Last but certainly not least, all the past and present member of the Larsson group, and everyone else on A12 and B12 for creating an amazing working environment, and especially tolerating the noise of my motorcycle outside our offices for the better part of the year.

REFERENCES

(2013). Genomic and epigenomic landscapes of adult de novo acute myeloid leukemia. The New England journal of medicine *368*, 2059-2074.

Adolfsson, J., Mansson, R., Buza-Vidas, N., Hultquist, A., Liuba, K., Jensen, C.T., Bryder, D., Yang, L., Borge, O.J., Thoren, L.A., *et al.* (2005). Identification of Flt3+ lympho-myeloid stem cells lacking erythro-megakaryocytic potential a revised road map for adult blood lineage commitment. Cell *121*, 295-306.

Aiuti, A., Biasco, L., Scaramuzza, S., Ferrua, F., Cicalese, M.P., Baricordi, C., Dionisio, F., Calabria, A., Giannelli, S., Castiello, M.C., *et al.* (2013). Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy in patients with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Science (New York, NY) *341*, 1233151.

Ali, N., Karlsson, C., Aspling, M., Hu, G., Hacohen, N., Scadden, D.T., and Larsson, J. (2009). Forward RNAi screens in primary human hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Blood *113*, 3690-3695.

Ambrosi, T.H., Scialdone, A., Graja, A., Gohlke, S., Jank, A.M., Bocian, C., Woelk, L., Fan, H., Logan, D.W., Schurmann, A., *et al.* (2017). Adipocyte Accumulation in the Bone Marrow during Obesity and Aging Impairs Stem Cell-Based Hematopoietic and Bone Regeneration. Cell stem cell *20*, 771-784.e776.

Ames, B.N., Lee, F.D., and Durston, W.E. (1973). An improved bacterial test system for the detection and classification of mutagens and carcinogens. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *70*, 782-786.

Amsellem, S., Pflumio, F., Bardinet, D., Izac, B., Charneau, P., Romeo, P.H., Dubart-Kupperschmitt, A., and Fichelson, S. (2003). Ex vivo expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells by direct delivery of the HOXB4 homeoprotein. Nature medicine *9*, 1423-1427.

Antonchuk, J., Sauvageau, G., and Humphries, R.K. (2002). HOXB4-induced expansion of adult hematopoietic stem cells ex vivo. Cell *109*, 39-45.

Arranz, L., Sanchez-Aguilera, A., Martin-Perez, D., Isern, J., Langa, X., Tzankov, A., Lundberg, P., Muntion, S., Tzeng, Y.S., Lai, D.M., *et al.* (2014). Neuropathy of haematopoietic stem cell niche is essential for myeloproliferative neoplasms. Nature *512*, 78-81.

Asada, N., Katayama, Y., Sato, M., Minagawa, K., Wakahashi, K., Kawano, H., Kawano, Y., Sada, A., Ikeda, K., Matsui, T., *et al.* (2013). Matrix-embedded osteocytes regulate mobilization of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. Cell stem cell *12*, 737-747.

Austin, T.W., Solar, G.P., Ziegler, F.C., Liem, L., and Matthews, W. (1997). A role for the Wnt gene family in hematopoiesis: expansion of multilineage progenitor cells. Blood *89*, 3624-3635.

Bach, F.H., Albertini, R.J., Joo, P., Anderson, J.L., and Bortin, M.M. (1968). Bone-marrow transplantation in a patient with the Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome. Lancet *ii*, 1364-1366.

Bai, J., Binari, R., Ni, J.Q., Vijayakanthan, M., Li, H.S., and Perrimon, N. (2008). RNA interference screening in Drosophila primary cells for genes involved in muscle assembly and maintenance. Development (Cambridge, England) *135*, 1439-1449.

Baldridge, M.T., King, K.Y., Boles, N.C., Weksberg, D.C., and Goodell, M.A. (2010). Quiescent haematopoietic stem cells are activated by IFN-gamma in response to chronic infection. Nature *465*, 793-797.

Barnes, D.W.H., Corp, M.J., Loutit, J.F., and Neal, F.E. (1956). Treatment of murine leukaemia with X-rays and homologous bone marrow. British Medical Journal *ii*, 626-627.

Baudet, A., Karlsson, C., Safaee Talkhoncheh, M., Galeev, R., Magnusson, M., and Larsson, J. (2012). RNAi screen identifies MAPK14 as a druggable suppressor of human hematopoietic stem cell expansion. Blood *119*, 6255-6258.

Baum, C.M., Weissman, I.L., Tsukamoto, A.S., Buckle, A.M., and Peault, B. (1992). Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *89*, 2804-2808.

Becker, A., McCulloch, E., and Till, J. (1963). Cytological demonstration of the clonal nature of spleen colonies derived from transplanted mouse marrow cells. Nature *197*, 452-454.

Beerman, I. (2017). Accumulation of DNA damage in the aged hematopoietic stem cell compartment. Seminars in hematology *54*, 12-18.

Benedetti, L., Cereda, M., Monteverde, L., Desai, N., and Ciccarelli, F.D. (2017). Synthetic lethal interaction between the tumour suppressor STAG2 and its paralog STAG1. Oncotarget *8*, 37619-37632. Berezikov, E. (2011). Evolution of microRNA diversity and regulation in animals. Nature reviews Genetics *12*, 846-860.

Bianconi, E., Piovesan, A., Facchin, F., Beraudi, A., Casadei, R., Frabetti, F., Vitale, L., Pelleri, M.C., Tassani, S., Piva, F., *et al.* (2013). An estimation of the number of cells in the human body. Annals of human biology *40*, 463-471.

Blau, O., Hofmann, W.K., Baldus, C.D., Thiel, G., Serbent, V., Schumann, E., Thiel, E., and Blau, I.W. (2007). Chromosomal aberrations in bone marrow mesenchymal stroma cells from patients with myelodysplastic syndrome and acute myeloblastic leukemia. Experimental hematology *35*, 221-229.

Boitano, A.E., Wang, J., Romeo, R., Bouchez, L.C., Parker, A.E., Sutton, S.E., Walker, J.R., Flaveny, C.A., Perdew, G.H., Denison, M.S., *et al.* (2010). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor antagonists promote the expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Science (New York, NY) *329*, 1345-1348.

Borchert, G.M., Lanier, W., and Davidson, B.L. (2006). RNA polymerase III transcribes human microRNAs. Nature structural & molecular biology *13*, 1097-1101.

Borge, O.J., Ramsfjell, V., Veiby, O.P., Murphy, M.J., Jr., Lok, S., and Jacobsen, S.E. (1996). Thrombopoietin, but not erythropoietin promotes viability and inhibits apoptosis of multipotent murine hematopoietic progenitor cells in vitro. Blood *88*, 2859-2870.

Bortin, M.M. (1970). A compendium of reported human bone marrow transplants. Transplantation *9*, 571-587.

Bortin, M.M., Bach, F.H., van Bekkum, D.W., Good, R.A., and van Rood, J.J. (1994). 25th anniversary of the first successful allogeneic bone marrow transplants. Bone marrow transplantation *14*, 211-212.

Boutros, M., and Ahringer, J. (2008). The art and design of genetic screens: RNA interference. Nature reviews Genetics *9*, 554-566.

Braun, C.J., Witzel, M., Paruzynski, A., Boztug, K., von Kalle, C., Schmidt, M., and Klein, C. (2014). Gene therapy for Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome-Long-term reconstitution and clinical benefits, but increased risk for leukemogenesis. Rare diseases (Austin, Tex) *2*, e947749.

Broxmeyer, H.E., Douglas, G.W., Hangoc, G., Cooper, S., Bard, J., English, D., Arny, M., Thomas, L., and Boyse, E.A. (1989). Human umbilical cord blood as a potential source of transplantable hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells.

Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *86*, 3828-3832.

Bruns, I., Lucas, D., Pinho, S., Ahmed, J., Lambert, M.P., Kunisaki, Y., Scheiermann, C., Schiff, L., Poncz, M., Bergman, A., *et al.* (2014). Megakaryocytes regulate hematopoietic stem cell quiescence through CXCL4 secretion. Nature medicine *20*, 1315-1320.

Buchholz, V.R., Schumacher, T.N., and Busch, D.H. (2016). T Cell Fate at the Single-Cell Level. Annual review of immunology *34*, 65-92.

Bug, G., Gul, H., Schwarz, K., Pfeifer, H., Kampfmann, M., Zheng, X., Beissert, T., Boehrer, S., Hoelzer, D., Ottmann, O.G., *et al.* (2005). Valproic acid stimulates proliferation and self-renewal of hematopoietic stem cells. Cancer research *65*, 2537-2541.

Busch, K., Klapproth, K., Barile, M., Flossdorf, M., Holland-Letz, T., Schlenner, S.M., Reth, M., Hofer, T., and Rodewald, H.R. (2015). Fundamental properties of unperturbed haematopoiesis from stem cells in vivo. Nature *518*, 542-546.

Butler, J.M., Nolan, D.J., Vertes, E.L., Varnum-Finney, B., Kobayashi, H., Hooper, A.T., Seandel, M., Shido, K., White, I.A., Kobayashi, M., *et al.* (2010). Endothelial cells are essential for the self-renewal and repopulation of Notch-dependent hematopoietic stem cells. Cell stem cell *6*, 251-264.

Calvi, L.M., Adams, G.B., Weibrecht, K.W., Weber, J.M., Olson, D.P., Knight, M.C., Martin, R.P., Schipani, E., Divieti, P., Bringhurst, F.R., *et al.* (2003). Osteoblastic cells regulate the haematopoietic stem cell niche. Nature *425*, 841-846.

Campeau, E., and Gobeil, S. (2011). RNA interference in mammals: behind the screen. Briefings in functional genomics *10*, 215-226.

Cao, X., Shores, E.W., Hu-Li, J., Anver, M.R., Kelsall, B.L., Russell, S.M., Drago, J., Noguchi, M., Grinberg, A., Bloom, E.T., *et al.* (1995). Defective lymphoid development in mice lacking expression of the common cytokine receptor gamma chain. Immunity *2*, 223-238.

Carrelha, J., Meng, Y., Kettyle, L.M., Luis, T.C., Norfo, R., Alcolea, V., Boukarabila, H., Grasso, F., Gambardella, A., Grover, A., *et al.* (2018). Hierarchically related lineage-restricted fates of multipotent haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *554*, 106-111.

Carthew, R.W., and Sontheimer, E.J. (2009). Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. Cell *136*, 642-655.

Cartier, N., Hacein-Bey-Abina, S., Bartholomae, C.C., Veres, G., Schmidt, M., Kutschera, I., Vidaud, M., Abel, U., Dal-Cortivo, L., Caccavelli, L., *et al.* (2009). Hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy with a lentiviral vector in X-linked adrenoleukodystrophy. Science (New York, NY) *326*, 818-823.

Catlin, S.N., Busque, L., Gale, R.E., Guttorp, P., and Abkowitz, J.L. (2011). The replication rate of human hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Blood *117*, 4460-4466.

Cattoglio, C., Facchini, G., Sartori, D., Antonelli, A., Miccio, A., Cassani, B., Schmidt, M., von Kalle, C., Howe, S., Thrasher, A.J., *et al.* (2007). Hot spots of retroviral integration in human CD34+ hematopoietic cells. Blood *110*, 1770-1778.

Chabannon, C., Molina, L., Pegourie-Bandelier, B., Bost, M., Leger, J., and Hollard, D. (1994). A review of 76 patients with myelodysplastic syndromes treated with danazol. Cancer *73*, 3073-3080.

Chan, C.K., Chen, C.C., Luppen, C.A., Kim, J.B., DeBoer, A.T., Wei, K., Helms, J.A., Kuo, C.J., Kraft, D.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2009). Endochondral ossification is required for haematopoietic stem-cell niche formation. Nature *457*, 490-494.

Chen, Y., Jacamo, R., Shi, Y.X., Wang, R.Y., Battula, V.L., Konoplev, S., Strunk, D., Hofmann, N.A., Reinisch, A., Konopleva, M., *et al.* (2012). Human extramedullary bone marrow in mice: a novel in vivo model of genetically controlled hematopoietic microenvironment. Blood *119*, 4971-4980.

Cheng, T., Rodrigues, N., Shen, H., Yang, Y., Dombkowski, D., Sykes, M., and Scadden, D.T. (2000). Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence maintained by p21cip1/waf1. Science (New York, NY) *287*, 1804-1808.

Chow, A., Huggins, M., Ahmed, J., Hashimoto, D., Lucas, D., Kunisaki, Y., Pinho, S., Leboeuf, M., Noizat, C., van Rooijen, N., *et al.* (2013). CD169(+) macrophages provide a niche promoting erythropoiesis under homeostasis and stress. Nature medicine *19*, 429-436.

Christensen, J.L., and Weissman, I.L. (2001). Flk-2 is a marker in hematopoietic stem cell differentiation: a simple method to isolate long-term stem cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *98*, 14541-14546.

Christensen, J.L., Wright, D.E., Wagers, A.J., and Weissman, I.L. (2004). Circulation and chemotaxis of fetal hematopoietic stem cells. PLoS biology *2*, E75.

Church, G.M. (2006). Genomes for all. Scientific American 294, 46-54.

Civin, C.I., Strauss, L.C., Brovall, C., Fackler, M.J., Schwartz, J.F., and Shaper, J.H. (1984). Antigenic analysis of hematopoiesis. III. A hematopoietic progenitor cell surface antigen defined by a monoclonal antibody raised against KG-1a cells. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950) *133*, 157-165.

Clemens, J.C., Worby, C.A., Simonson-Leff, N., Muda, M., Maehama, T., Hemmings, B.A., and Dixon, J.E. (2000). Use of double-stranded RNA interference in Drosophila cell lines to dissect signal transduction pathways. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *97*, 6499-6503.

Cong, L., Ran, F.A., Cox, D., Lin, S., Barretto, R., Habib, N., Hsu, P.D., Wu, X., Jiang, W., Marraffini, L.A., *et al.* (2013). Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. Science (New York, NY) *339*, 819-823.

Coppe, J.P., Desprez, P.Y., Krtolica, A., and Campisi, J. (2010). The senescenceassociated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. Annual review of pathology *5*, 99-118.

Coughlan, A.M., Harmon, C., Whelan, S., O'Brien, E.C., O'Reilly, V.P., Crotty, P., Kelly, P., Ryan, M., Hickey, F.B., O'Farrelly, C., *et al.* (2016). Myeloid Engraftment in Humanized Mice: Impact of Granulocyte-Colony Stimulating Factor Treatment and Transgenic Mouse Strain. Stem cells and development *25*, 530-541.

da Silva, E.Z., Jamur, M.C., and Oliver, C. (2014). Mast cell function: a new vision of an old cell. The journal of histochemistry and cytochemistry : official journal of the Histochemistry Society *62*, 698-738.

Dausset, J. (1958). Iso-leuco-anticorps. Acta Haematologica 20, 156-166.

De Felice, L., Tatarelli, C., Mascolo, M.G., Gregorj, C., Agostini, F., Fiorini, R., Gelmetti, V., Pascale, S., Padula, F., Petrucci, M.T., *et al.* (2005). Histone deacetylase inhibitor valproic acid enhances the cytokine-induced expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Cancer research *65*, 1505-1513.

De Ravin, S.S., Wu, X., Moir, S., Anaya-O'Brien, S., Kwatemaa, N., Littel, P., Theobald, N., Choi, U., Su, L., Marquesen, M., *et al.* (2016). Lentiviral hematopoietic stem cell gene therapy for X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency. Science translational medicine *8*, 335ra357.

Deb, S., Xu, H., Tuynman, J., George, J., Yan, Y., Li, J., Ward, R.L., Mortensen, N., Hawkins, N.J., McKay, M.J., *et al.* (2014). RAD21 cohesin overexpression is a

prognostic and predictive marker exacerbating poor prognosis in KRAS mutant colorectal carcinomas. British journal of cancer *110*, 1606-1613.

deKoning, J., van Bekkum, D.W., Dicke, K.A., Dooren, L.J., Radl, J., and van Rood, J.J. (1969). Transplantation of bone-marrow cells and fetal thymus in an infant with lymphopenic immunological deficiency. Lancet *i*, 1223-1227.

Delaney, C., Heimfeld, S., Brashem-Stein, C., Voorhies, H., Manger, R.L., and Bernstein, I.D. (2010). Notch-mediated expansion of human cord blood progenitor cells capable of rapid myeloid reconstitution. Nature medicine *16*, 232-236.

Delaney, C., Varnum-Finney, B., Aoyama, K., Brashem-Stein, C., and Bernstein, I.D. (2005). Dose-dependent effects of the Notch ligand Delta1 on ex vivo differentiation and in vivo marrow repopulating ability of cord blood cells. Blood *106*, 2693-2699.

Dietzl, G., Chen, D., Schnorrer, F., Su, K.C., Barinova, Y., Fellner, M., Gasser, B., Kinsey, K., Oppel, S., Scheiblauer, S., *et al.* (2007). A genome-wide transgenic RNAi library for conditional gene inactivation in Drosophila. Nature *448*, 151-156.

Ding, L., and Morrison, S.J. (2013). Haematopoietic stem cells and early lymphoid progenitors occupy distinct bone marrow niches. Nature *495*, 231-235.

Ding, L., Saunders, T.L., Enikolopov, G., and Morrison, S.J. (2012). Endothelial and perivascular cells maintain haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *481*, 457-462.

Dixon, J.R., Selvaraj, S., Yue, F., Kim, A., Li, Y., Shen, Y., Hu, M., Liu, J.S., and Ren, B. (2012). Topological domains in mammalian genomes identified by analysis of chromatin interactions. Nature *485*, 376-380.

Dohner, H., Estey, E.H., Amadori, S., Appelbaum, F.R., Buchner, T., Burnett, A.K., Dombret, H., Fenaux, P., Grimwade, D., Larson, R.A., *et al.* (2010). Diagnosis and management of acute myeloid leukemia in adults: recommendations from an international expert panel, on behalf of the European LeukemiaNet. Blood *115*, 453-474.

Domen, J., Cheshier, S.H., and Weissman, I.L. (2000). The role of apoptosis in the regulation of hematopoietic stem cells: Overexpression of Bcl-2 increases both their number and repopulation potential. The Journal of experimental medicine *191*, 253-264.

Dubash, A.D., Koetsier, J.L., Amargo, E.V., Najor, N.A., Harmon, R.M., and Green, K.J. (2013). The GEF Bcr activates RhoA/MAL signaling to promote

keratinocyte differentiation via desmoglein-1. The Journal of cell biology 202, 653-666.

Duncan, A.W., Rattis, F.M., DiMascio, L.N., Congdon, K.L., Pazianos, G., Zhao, C., Yoon, K., Cook, J.M., Willert, K., Gaiano, N., *et al.* (2005). Integration of Notch and Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cell maintenance. Nature immunology *6*, 314-322.

Dykstra, B., Kent, D., Bowie, M., McCaffrey, L., Hamilton, M., Lyons, K., Lee, S.J., Brinkman, R., and Eaves, C. (2007). Long-term propagation of distinct hematopoietic differentiation programs in vivo. Cell stem cell *1*, 218-229.

Echeverri, C.J., and Perrimon, N. (2006). High-throughput RNAi screening in cultured cells: a user's guide. Nature reviews Genetics *7*, 373-384.

Ehninger, A., Boch, T., Uckelmann, H., Essers, M.A., Mudder, K., Sleckman, B.P., and Trumpp, A. (2014). Posttranscriptional regulation of c-Myc expression in adult murine HSCs during homeostasis and interferon-alpha-induced stress response. Blood *123*, 3909-3913.

Elbashir, S.M., Harborth, J., Lendeckel, W., Yalcin, A., Weber, K., and Tuschl, T. (2001). Duplexes of 21-nucleotide RNAs mediate RNA interference in cultured mammalian cells. Nature *411*, 494-498.

Ellis, S.L., Grassinger, J., Jones, A., Borg, J., Camenisch, T., Haylock, D., Bertoncello, I., and Nilsson, S.K. (2011). The relationship between bone, hemopoietic stem cells, and vasculature. Blood *118*, 1516-1524.

Ema, H., Morita, Y., and Suda, T. (2014). Heterogeneity and hierarchy of hematopoietic stem cells. Experimental hematology *42*, 74-82.e72.

Ema, H., Takano, H., Sudo, K., and Nakauchi, H. (2000). *In vitro* self-renewal division of hematopoietic stem cells. The Journal of experimental medicine *192*, 1281-1288.

Espin-Palazon, R., Stachura, D.L., Campbell, C.A., Garcia-Moreno, D., Del Cid, N., Kim, A.D., Candel, S., Meseguer, J., Mulero, V., and Traver, D. (2014). Proinflammatory signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell emergence. Cell *159*, 1070-1085.

Espin-Palazon, R., and Traver, D. (2016). The NF-kappaB family: Key players during embryonic development and HSC emergence. Experimental hematology *44*, 519-527.

Essers, M.A., Offner, S., Blanco-Bose, W.E., Waibler, Z., Kalinke, U., Duchosal, M.A., and Trumpp, A. (2009). IFNalpha activates dormant haematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Nature *458*, 904-908.

Estey, E.H. (2014). Acute myeloid leukemia: 2014 update on risk-stratification and management. American journal of hematology *89*, 1063-1081.

Fabian, M.R., Mathonnet, G., Sundermeier, T., Mathys, H., Zipprich, J.T., Svitkin, Y.V., Rivas, F., Jinek, M., Wohlschlegel, J., Doudna, J.A., *et al.* (2009). Mammalian miRNA RISC recruits CAF1 and PABP to affect PABP-dependent deadenylation. Molecular cell *35*, 868-880.

Fang, J., Bolanos, L.C., Choi, K., Liu, X., Christie, S., Akunuru, S., Kumar, R., Wang, D., Chen, X., Greis, K.D., *et al.* (2017). Ubiquitination of hnRNPA1 by TRAF6 links chronic innate immune signaling with myelodysplasia. Nature immunology *18*, 236-245.

Fares, I., Chagraoui, J., Gareau, Y., Gingras, S., Ruel, R., Mayotte, N., Csaszar, E., Knapp, D.J., Miller, P., Ngom, M., *et al.* (2014). Cord blood expansion. Pyrimidoindole derivatives are agonists of human hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal. Science (New York, NY) *345*, 1509-1512.

Fares, I., Chagraoui, J., Lehnertz, B., MacRae, T., Mayotte, N., Tomellini, E., Aubert, L., Roux, P.P., and Sauvageau, G. (2017). EPCR expression marks UM171-expanded CD34+ cord blood stem cells. Blood.

Fenaux, P., Mufti, G.J., Hellstrom-Lindberg, E., Santini, V., Finelli, C., Giagounidis, A., Schoch, R., Gattermann, N., Sanz, G., List, A., *et al.* (2009). Efficacy of azacitidine compared with that of conventional care regimens in the treatment of higher-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: a randomised, open-label, phase III study. The Lancet Oncology *10*, 223-232.

Fire, A., Xu, S., Montgomery, M.K., Kostas, S.A., Driver, S.E., and Mello, C.C. (1998). Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature *391*, 806-811.

Fisher, J.B., McNulty, M., Burke, M.J., Crispino, J.D., Rao, R. (2017). Cohesin Mutatios in Myeloid Malignancies. Trends in Cancer *3*, 282-293.

Flach, J., Bakker, S.T., Mohrin, M., Conroy, P.C., Pietras, E.M., Reynaud, D., Alvarez, S., Diolaiti, M.E., Ugarte, F., Forsberg, E.C., *et al.* (2014). Replication stress is a potent driver of functional decline in ageing haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *512*, 198-202.

Flores-Figueroa, E., Varma, S., Montgomery, K., Greenberg, P.L., and Gratzinger, D. (2012). Distinctive contact between CD34+ hematopoietic progenitors and CXCL12+ CD271+ mesenchymal stromal cells in benign and myelodysplastic

bone marrow. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology *92*, 1330-1341.

Folmes, C.D., Dzeja, P.P., Nelson, T.J., and Terzic, A. (2012). Metabolic plasticity in stem cell homeostasis and differentiation. Cell stem cell *11*, 596-606.

Frenette, P.S., Pinho, S., Lucas, D., and Scheiermann, C. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cell: keystone of the hematopoietic stem cell niche and a stepping-stone for regenerative medicine. Annual review of immunology *31*, 285-316.

Frisch, B.J., Porter, R.L., Gigliotti, B.J., Olm-Shipman, A.J., Weber, J.M., O'Keefe, R.J., Jordan, C.T., and Calvi, L.M. (2009). In vivo prostaglandin E2 treatment alters the bone marrow microenvironment and preferentially expands short-term hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *114*, 4054-4063.

Galeev, R., Baudet, A., Kumar, P., Rundberg Nilsson, A., Nilsson, B., Soneji, S., Torngren, T., Borg, A., Kvist, A., and Larsson, J. (2016). Genome-wide RNAi Screen Identifies Cohesin Genes as Modifiers of Renewal and Differentiation in Human HSCs. Cell Rep *14*, 2988-3000.

Galeev, R., Karlsson, C., Baudet, A., and Larsson, J. (2017). Forward RNAi Screens in Human Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Methods in molecular biology (Clifton, NJ) *1622*, 29-50.

Gangat, N., Patnaik, M.M., Begna, K., Kourelis, T., Al-Kali, A., Elliott, M.A., Hogan, W.J., Letendre, L., Litzow, M.R., Knudson, R.A., *et al.* (2015). Primary Myelodysplastic Syndromes: The Mayo Clinic Experience With 1000 Patients. Mayo Clinic proceedings *90*, 1623-1638.

Gangat, N., Patnaik, M.M., and Tefferi, A. (2016). Myelodysplastic syndromes: Contemporary review and how we treat. American journal of hematology *91*, 76-89.

Garderet, L., Dulphy, N., Douay, C., Chalumeau, N., Schaeffer, V., Zilber, M.T., Lim, A., Even, J., Mooney, N., Gelin, C., *et al.* (1998). The umbilical cord blood alphabeta T-cell repertoire: characteristics of a polyclonal and naive but completely formed repertoire. Blood *91*, 340-346.

Genovese, G., Kahler, A.K., Handsaker, R.E., Lindberg, J., Rose, S.A., Bakhoum, S.F., Chambert, K., Mick, E., Neale, B.M., Fromer, M., *et al.* (2014). Clonal hematopoiesis and blood-cancer risk inferred from blood DNA sequence. The New England journal of medicine *371*, 2477-2487.

Germing, U., Kobbe, G., Haas, R., and Gattermann, N. (2013). Myelodysplastic syndromes: diagnosis, prognosis, and treatment. Deutsches Arzteblatt international *110*, 783-790.

Giagounidis, A., Mufti, G.J., Fenaux, P., Sekeres, M.A., Szer, J., Platzbecker, U., Kuendgen, A., Gaidano, G., Wiktor-Jedrzejczak, W., Hu, K., *et al.* (2014). Results of a randomized, double-blind study of romiplostim versus placebo in patients with low/intermediate-1-risk myelodysplastic syndrome and thrombocytopenia. Cancer *120*, 1838-1846.

Gluckman, E., Broxmeyer, H.A., Auerbach, A.D., Friedman, H.S., Douglas, G.W., Devergie, A., Esperou, H., Thierry, D., Socie, G., Lehn, P., *et al.* (1989). Hematopoietic reconstitution in a patient with Fanconi's anemia by means of umbilical-cord blood from an HLA-identical sibling. The New England journal of medicine *321*, 1174-1178.

Goessling, W., Allen, R.S., Guan, X., Jin, P., Uchida, N., Dovey, M., Harris, J.M., Metzger, M.E., Bonifacino, A.C., Stroncek, D., *et al.* (2011). Prostaglandin E2 enhances human cord blood stem cell xenotransplants and shows long-term safety in preclinical nonhuman primate transplant models. Cell stem cell *8*, 445-458.

Goessling, W., North, T.E., Loewer, S., Lord, A.M., Lee, S., Stoick-Cooper, C.L., Weidinger, G., Puder, M., Daley, G.Q., Moon, R.T., *et al.* (2009). Genetic interaction of PGE2 and Wnt signaling regulates developmental specification of stem cells and regeneration. Cell *136*, 1136-1147.

Gomez Perdiguero, E., Klapproth, K., Schulz, C., Busch, K., Azzoni, E., Crozet, L., Garner, H., Trouillet, C., de Bruijn, M.F., Geissmann, F., *et al.* (2015). Tissueresident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythro-myeloid progenitors. Nature *518*, 547-551.

Gong, Q., Zhou, L., Xu, S., Li, X., Zou, Y., and Chen, J. (2015). High Doses of Daunorubicin during Induction Therapy of Newly Diagnosed Acute Myeloid Leukemia: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Clinical Trials. PloS one *10*, e0125612.

Gordon, M.Y., Dowding, C.R., Riley, G.P., Goldman, J.M., and Greaves, M.F. (1987). Altered adhesive interactions with marrow stroma of haematopoietic progenitor cells in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Nature *328*, 342-344.

Gorgens, A., Radtke, S., Mollmann, M., Cross, M., Durig, J., Horn, P.A., and Giebel, B. (2013). Revision of the human hematopoietic tree: granulocyte subtypes derive from distinct hematopoietic lineages. Cell Rep *3*, 1539-1552.

Greenbaum, A., Hsu, Y.M., Day, R.B., Schuettpelz, L.G., Christopher, M.J., Borgerding, J.N., Nagasawa, T., and Link, D.C. (2013). CXCL12 in early mesenchymal progenitors is required for haematopoietic stem-cell maintenance. Nature *495*, 227-230.

Greenberg, P.L., Sun, Z., Miller, K.B., Bennett, J.M., Tallman, M.S., Dewald, G., Paietta, E., van der Jagt, R., Houston, J., Thomas, M.L., *et al.* (2009). Treatment of myelodysplastic syndrome patients with erythropoietin with or without granulocyte colony-stimulating factor: results of a prospective randomized phase 3 trial by the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (E1996). Blood *114*, 2393-2400.

Greenberg, P.L., Tuechler, H., Schanz, J., Sanz, G., Garcia-Manero, G., Sole, F., Bennett, J.M., Bowen, D., Fenaux, P., Dreyfus, F., *et al.* (2012). Revised international prognostic scoring system for myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood *120*, 2454-2465.

Greiner, D.L., Hesselton, R.A., and Shultz, L.D. (1998). SCID mouse models of human stem cell engraftment. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) *16*, 166-177.

Grez, M., Reichenbach, J., Schwable, J., Seger, R., Dinauer, M.C., and Thrasher, A.J. (2011). Gene therapy of chronic granulomatous disease: the engraftment dilemma. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy *19*, 28-35.

Groen, R.W., Noort, W.A., Raymakers, R.A., Prins, H.J., Aalders, L., Hofhuis, F.M., Moerer, P., van Velzen, J.F., Bloem, A.C., van Kessel, B., *et al.* (2012). Reconstructing the human hematopoietic niche in immunodeficient mice: opportunities for studying primary multiple myeloma. Blood *120*, e9-e16.

Grossmann, M., Metcalf, D., Merryfull, J., Beg, A., Baltimore, D., and Gerondakis, S. (1999). The combined absence of the transcription factors Rel and RelA leads to multiple hemopoietic cell defects. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *96*, 11848-11853.

Guacci, V., Koshland, D., and Strunnikov, A. (1997). A direct link between sister chromatid cohesion and chromosome condensation revealed through the analysis of MCD1 in S. cerevisiae. Cell *91*, 47-57.

Guezguez, B., Almakadi, M., Benoit, Y.D., Shapovalova, Z., Rahmig, S., Fiebig-Comyn, A., Casado, F.L., Tanasijevic, B., Bresolin, S., Masetti, R., *et al.* (2016). GSK3 Deficiencies in Hematopoietic Stem Cells Initiate Pre-neoplastic State that Is Predictive of Clinical Outcomes of Human Acute Leukemia. Cancer cell *29*, 61-74.

Guezguez, B., Campbell, C.J., Boyd, A.L., Karanu, F., Casado, F.L., Di Cresce, C., Collins, T.J., Shapovalova, Z., Xenocostas, A., and Bhatia, M. (2013). Regional localization within the bone marrow influences the functional capacity of human HSCs. Cell stem cell *13*, 175-189.

Han, Y.C., Park, C.Y., Bhagat, G., Zhang, J., Wang, Y., Fan, J.B., Liu, M., Zou, Y., Weissman, I.L., and Gu, H. (2010). microRNA-29a induces aberrant self-renewal capacity in hematopoietic progenitors, biased myeloid development, and acute myeloid leukemia. The Journal of experimental medicine *207*, 475-489.

Hanoun, M., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Pinho, S., Pierce, H., Kunisaki, Y., Lacombe, J., Armstrong, S.A., Duhrsen, U., and Frenette, P.S. (2014). Acute myelogenous leukemia-induced sympathetic neuropathy promotes malignancy in an altered hematopoietic stem cell niche. Cell stem cell *15*, 365-375.

Heidt, T., Sager, H.B., Courties, G., Dutta, P., Iwamoto, Y., Zaltsman, A., von Zur Muhlen, C., Bode, C., Fricchione, G.L., Denninger, J., *et al.* (2014). Chronic variable stress activates hematopoietic stem cells. Nature medicine *20*, 754-758.

Herault, A., Binnewies, M., Leong, S., Calero-Nieto, F.J., Zhang, S.Y., Kang, Y.A., Wang, X., Pietras, E.M., Chu, S.H., Barry-Holson, K., *et al.* (2017). Myeloid progenitor cluster formation drives emergency and leukaemic myelopoiesis. Nature *544*, 53-58.

Herman, A.C., Monlish, D.A., Romine, M.P., Bhatt, S.T., Zippel, S., and Schuettpelz, L.G. (2016). Systemic TLR2 agonist exposure regulates hematopoietic stem cells via cell-autonomous and cell-non-autonomous mechanisms. Blood cancer journal *6*, e437.

Hess, D.A., Wirthlin, L., Craft, T.P., Herrbrich, P.E., Hohm, S.A., Lahey, R., Eades, W.C., Creer, M.H., and Nolta, J.A. (2006). Selection based on CD133 and high aldehyde dehydrogenase activity isolates long-term reconstituting human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *107*, 2162-2169.

Hiddemann, W., Wormann, B., Ritter, J., Thiel, E., Gohde, W., Lahme, B., Henze, G., Schellong, G., Riehm, H., and Buchner, T. (1986). Frequency and clinical significance of DNA aneuploidy in acute leukemia. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences *468*, 227-240.

Hirche, C., Frenz, T., Haas, S.F., Doring, M., Borst, K., Tegtmeyer, P.K., Brizic, I., Jordan, S., Keyser, K., Chhatbar, C., *et al.* (2017). Systemic Virus Infections Differentially Modulate Cell Cycle State and Functionality of Long-Term Hematopoietic Stem Cells In Vivo. Cell Rep *19*, 2345-2356.

Hoggatt, J., Singh, P., Sampath, J., and Pelus, L.M. (2009). Prostaglandin E2 enhances hematopoietic stem cell homing, survival, and proliferation. Blood *113*, 5444-5455.

Holstege, H., Pfeiffer, W., Sie, D., Hulsman, M., Nicholas, T.J., Lee, C.C., Ross, T., Lin, J., Miller, M.A., Ylstra, B., *et al.* (2014). Somatic mutations found in the healthy blood compartment of a 115-yr-old woman demonstrate oligoclonal hematopoiesis. Genome research *24*, 733-742.

Holyoake, T.L., Nicolini, F.E., and Eaves, C.J. (1999). Functional differences between transplantable human hematopoietic stem cells from fetal liver, cord blood, and adult marrow. Experimental hematology *27*, 1418-1427.

Hope, K.J., Cellot, S., Ting, S.B., MacRae, T., Mayotte, N., Iscove, N.N., and Sauvageau, G. (2010). An RNAi screen identifies Msi2 and Prox1 as having opposite roles in the regulation of hematopoietic stem cell activity. Cell stem cell 7, 101-113.

Hoppe, P.S., Schwarzfischer, M., Loeffler, D., Kokkaliaris, K.D., Hilsenbeck, O., Moritz, N., Endele, M., Filipczyk, A., Gambardella, A., Ahmed, N., *et al.* (2016). Early myeloid lineage choice is not initiated by random PU.1 to GATA1 protein ratios. Nature *535*, 299-302.

Hu, H.Y., Yan, Z., Xu, Y., Hu, H., Menzel, C., Zhou, Y.H., Chen, W., and Khaitovich, P. (2009). Sequence features associated with microRNA strand selection in humans and flies. BMC genomics *10*, 413.

Huang, J., Nguyen-McCarty, M., Hexner, E.O., Danet-Desnoyers, G., and Klein, P.S. (2012). Maintenance of hematopoietic stem cells through regulation of Wnt and mTOR pathways. Nature medicine *18*, 1778-1785.

Ikuta, K., and Weissman, I.L. (1992). Evidence that hematopoietic stem cells express mouse c-kit but do not depend on steel factor for their generation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *89*, 1502-1506.

Ivanovs, A., Rybtsov, S., Welch, L., Anderson, R.A., Turner, M.L., and Medvinsky, A. (2011). Highly potent human hematopoietic stem cells first emerge in the intraembryonic aorta-gonad-mesonephros region. The Journal of experimental medicine *208*, 2417-2427.

Jackson, R.J., and Standart, N. (2007). How do microRNAs regulate gene expression? Science's STKE : signal transduction knowledge environment 2007, re1.

Jacobson, L.O., Marks, E.K., Robson, M.J., Gaston, E.O., and Zirkle, R.E. (1949). Effect of spleen protection on mortality following x-irradiation. Journal of Laboratory and Clinical Medicine *34*, 1538-1543.

Jaiswal, S., Fontanillas, P., Flannick, J., Manning, A., Grauman, P.V., Mar, B.G., Lindsley, R.C., Mermel, C.H., Burtt, N., Chavez, A., *et al.* (2014). Age-related clonal hematopoiesis associated with adverse outcomes. The New England journal of medicine *371*, 2488-2498.

Jan, M., Snyder, T.M., Corces-Zimmerman, M.R., Vyas, P., Weissman, I.L., Quake, S.R., and Majeti, R. (2012). Clonal evolution of preleukemic hematopoietic stem cells precedes human acute myeloid leukemia. Science translational medicine *4*, 149ra118.

Janowski, B.A., Huffman, K.E., Schwartz, J.C., Ram, R., Nordsell, R., Shames, D.S., Minna, J.D., and Corey, D.R. (2006). Involvement of AGO1 and AGO2 in mammalian transcriptional silencing. Nature structural & molecular biology *13*, 787-792.

Ji, X., Dadon, D.B., Powell, B.E., Fan, Z.P., Borges-Rivera, D., Shachar, S., Weintraub, A.S., Hnisz, D., Pegoraro, G., Lee, T.I., *et al.* (2016). 3D Chromosome Regulatory Landscape of Human Pluripotent Cells. Cell stem cell *18*, 262-275.

Jinek, M., and Doudna, J.A. (2009). A three-dimensional view of the molecular machinery of RNA interference. Nature *457*, 405-412.

Josefsdottir, K.S., Baldridge, M.T., Kadmon, C.S., and King, K.Y. (2017). Antibiotics impair murine hematopoiesis by depleting the intestinal microbiota. Blood *129*, 729-739.

Kantarjian, H., Issa, J.P., Rosenfeld, C.S., Bennett, J.M., Albitar, M., DiPersio, J., Klimek, V., Slack, J., de Castro, C., Ravandi, F., *et al.* (2006). Decitabine improves patient outcomes in myelodysplastic syndromes: results of a phase III randomized study. Cancer *106*, 1794-1803.

Karlsson, C., Rak, J., and Larsson, J. (2014). RNA interference screening to detect targetable molecules in hematopoietic stem cells. Current opinion in hematology *21*, 283-288.

Kastrinaki, M.C., Pavlaki, K., Batsali, A.K., Kouvidi, E., Mavroudi, I., Pontikoglou, C., and Papadaki, H.A. (2013). Mesenchymal stem cells in immunemediated bone marrow failure syndromes. Clinical & developmental immunology *2013*, 265608. Keller, J.R., Ortiz, M., and Ruscetti, F.W. (1995). Steel factor (c-kit ligand) promotes the survival of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in the absence of cell division. Blood *86*, 1757-1764.

Kerenyi, M.A., Shao, Z., Hsu, Y.J., Guo, G., Luc, S., O'Brien, K., Fujiwara, Y., Peng, C., Nguyen, M., and Orkin, S.H. (2013). Histone demethylase Lsd1 represses hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell signatures during blood cell maturation. eLife *2*, e00633.

Khosravi, A., Yanez, A., Price, J.G., Chow, A., Merad, M., Goodridge, H.S., and Mazmanian, S.K. (2014). Gut microbiota promote hematopoiesis to control bacterial infection. Cell host & microbe *15*, 374-381.

Kiel, M.J., Radice, G.L., and Morrison, S.J. (2007). Lack of evidence that hematopoietic stem cells depend on N-cadherin-mediated adhesion to osteoblasts for their maintenance. Cell stem cell *1*, 204-217.

Kiel, M.J., Yilmaz, O.H., Iwashita, T., Yilmaz, O.H., Terhorst, C., and Morrison, S.J. (2005). SLAM family receptors distinguish hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and reveal endothelial niches for stem cells. Cell *121*, 1109-1121.

Kim, A.D., Melick, C.H., Clements, W.K., Stachura, D.L., Distel, M., Panakova, D., MacRae, C., Mork, L.A., Crump, J.G., and Traver, D. (2014). Discrete Notch signaling requirements in the specification of hematopoietic stem cells. The EMBO journal *33*, 2363-2373.

Kim, Y.K., and Kim, V.N. (2007). Processing of intronic microRNAs. The EMBO journal *26*, 775-783.

Kim, Y.W., Koo, B.K., Jeong, H.W., Yoon, M.J., Song, R., Shin, J., Jeong, D.C., Kim, S.H., and Kong, Y.Y. (2008). Defective Notch activation in microenvironment leads to myeloproliferative disease. Blood *112*, 4628-4638.

Kinkel, S.A., Galeev, R., Flensburg, C., Keniry, A., Breslin, K., Gilan, O., Lee, S., Liu, J., Chen, K., Gearing, L.J., *et al.* (2015). Jarid2 regulates hematopoietic stem cell function by acting with polycomb repressive complex 2. Blood.

Knudtzon, S. (1974). In vitro growth of granulocytic colonis from circulating cells in human cord blood. Blood *43*, 357-361.

Ko, K.H., Holmes, T., Palladinetti, P., Song, E., Nordon, R., O'Brien, T.A., and Dolnikov, A. (2011). GSK-3beta inhibition promotes engraftment of ex vivo-expanded hematopoietic stem cells and modulates gene expression. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) *29*, 108-118.

Kode, A., Manavalan, J.S., Mosialou, I., Bhagat, G., Rathinam, C.V., Luo, N., Khiabanian, H., Lee, A., Murty, V.V., Friedman, R., *et al.* (2014). Leukaemogenesis induced by an activating beta-catenin mutation in osteoblasts. Nature *506*, 240-244.

Koike, K. (1983). Cryopreservation of pluripotent and committed hematopoietic progenitor cells from human bone marrow and cord blood. Acta paediatrica japonica *25*, 275-238.

Kolb, H.J. (2008). Graft-versus-leukemia effects of transplantation and donor lymphocytes. Blood *112*, 4371-4383.

Komrokji, R., Garcia-Manero, G., Ades, L., Prebet, T., Steensma, D.P., Jurcic, J.G., Sekeres, M.A., Berdeja, J., Savona, M.R., Beyne-Rauzy, O., *et al.* (2018). Sotatercept with long-term extension for the treatment of anaemia in patients with lower-risk myelodysplastic syndromes: a phase 2, dose-ranging trial. The Lancet Haematology *5*, e63-e72.

Kon, A., Shih, L.Y., Minamino, M., Sanada, M., Shiraishi, Y., Nagata, Y., Yoshida, K., Okuno, Y., Bando, M., Nakato, R., *et al.* (2013). Recurrent mutations in multiple components of the cohesin complex in myeloid neoplasms. Nature genetics *45*, 1232-1237.

Koreth, J., Schlenk, R., Kopecky, K.J., Honda, S., Sierra, J., Djulbegovic, B.J., Wadleigh, M., DeAngelo, D.J., Stone, R.M., Sakamaki, H., *et al.* (2009). Allogeneic stem cell transplantation for acute myeloid leukemia in first complete remission: systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective clinical trials. Jama *301*, 2349-2361.

Kotini, A.G., Chang, C.J., Chow, A., Yuan, H., Ho, T.C., Wang, T., Vora, S., Solovyov, A., Husser, C., Olszewska, M., *et al.* (2017). Stage-Specific Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells Map the Progression of Myeloid Transformation to Transplantable Leukemia. Cell stem cell *20*, 315-328.e317.

Krause, D.S., Lazarides, K., Lewis, J.B., von Andrian, U.H., and Van Etten, R.A. (2014). Selectins and their ligands are required for homing and engraftment of BCR-ABL1+ leukemic stem cells in the bone marrow niche. Blood *123*, 1361-1371.

Krivtsov, A.V., Twomey, D., Feng, Z., Stubbs, M.C., Wang, Y., Faber, J., Levine, J.E., Wang, J., Hahn, W.C., Gilliland, D.G., *et al.* (2006). Transformation from committed progenitor to leukaemia stem cell initiated by MLL-AF9. Nature *442*, 818-822.

Krosl, J., Austin, P., Beslu, N., Kroon, E., Humphries, R.K., and Sauvageau, G. (2003). In vitro expansion of hematopoietic stem cells by recombinant TAT-HOXB4 protein. Nature medicine *9*, 1428-1432.

Kubota, Y., Takubo, K., and Suda, T. (2008). Bone marrow long label-retaining cells reside in the sinusoidal hypoxic niche. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *366*, 335-339.

Kunisaki, Y., Bruns, I., Scheiermann, C., Ahmed, J., Pinho, S., Zhang, D., Mizoguchi, T., Wei, Q., Lucas, D., Ito, K., *et al.* (2013). Arteriolar niches maintain haematopoietic stem cell quiescence. Nature *502*, 637-643.

Lam, J.K., Chow, M.Y., Zhang, Y., and Leung, S.W. (2015). siRNA Versus miRNA as Therapeutics for Gene Silencing. Molecular therapy Nucleic acids *4*, e252.

Lansdorp, P.M., Dragowska, W., and Mayani, H. (1993). Ontogeny-related changes in proliferative potential of human hematopoietic cells. The Journal of experimental medicine *178*, 787-791.

Lansdorp, P.M., Sutherland, H.J., and Eaves, C.J. (1990). Selective expression of CD45 isoforms on functional subpopulations of CD34+ hemopoietic cells from human bone marrow. The Journal of experimental medicine *172*, 363-366.

Larionov, V.L., Karpova, T.S., Kouprina, N.Y., and Jouravleva, G.A. (1985). A mutant of Saccharomyces cerevisiae with impaired maintenance of centromeric plasmids. Current genetics *10*, 15-20.

Larochelle, A., Vormoor, J., Hanenberg, H., Wang, J.C., Bhatia, M., Lapidot, T., Moritz, T., Murdoch, B., Xiao, X.L., Kato, I., *et al.* (1996). Identification of primitive human hematopoietic cells capable of repopulating NOD/SCID mouse bone marrow: implications for gene therapy. Nature medicine *2*, 1329-1337.

Laurenti, E., Doulatov, S., Zandi, S., Plumb, I., Chen, J., April, C., Fan, J.B., and Dick, J.E. (2013). The transcriptional architecture of early human hematopoiesis identifies multilevel control of lymphoid commitment. Nature immunology *14*, 756-763.

Lee, L.K., Ghorbanian, Y., Wang, W., Wang, Y., Kim, Y.J., Weissman, I.L., Inlay, M.A., and Mikkola, H.K.A. (2016). LYVE1 Marks the Divergence of Yolk Sac Definitive Hemogenic Endothelium from the Primitive Erythroid Lineage. Cell Rep *17*, 2286-2298.
Lee, Y., Kim, M., Han, J., Yeom, K.H., Lee, S., Baek, S.H., and Kim, V.N. (2004). MicroRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II. The EMBO journal *23*, 4051-4060.

Leisten, I., Kramann, R., Ventura Ferreira, M.S., Bovi, M., Neuss, S., Ziegler, P., Wagner, W., Knuchel, R., and Schneider, R.K. (2012). 3D co-culture of hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells in collagen scaffolds as a model of the hematopoietic niche. Biomaterials *33*, 1736-1747.

Levesque, J.P., Winkler, I.G., Hendy, J., Williams, B., Helwani, F., Barbier, V., Nowlan, B., and Nilsson, S.K. (2007). Hematopoietic progenitor cell mobilization results in hypoxia with increased hypoxia-inducible transcription factor-1 alpha and vascular endothelial growth factor A in bone marrow. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) 25, 1954-1965.

Li, C.L., and Johnson, G.R. (1994). Stem cell factor enhances the survival but not the self-renewal of murine hematopoietic long-term repopulating cells. Blood *84*, 408-414.

Li, H., Ghazanfari, R., Zacharaki, D., Ditzel, N., Isern, J., Ekblom, M., Mendez-Ferrer, S., Kassem, M., and Scheding, S. (2014). Low/negative expression of PDGFR-alpha identifies the candidate primary mesenchymal stromal cells in adult human bone marrow. Stem cell reports *3*, 965-974.

Li, X., Xu, S., Tan, Y., and Chen, J. (2015). The effects of idarubicin versus other anthracyclines for induction therapy of patients with newly diagnosed leukaemia. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews, Cd010432.

List, A., Dewald, G., Bennett, J., Giagounidis, A., Raza, A., Feldman, E., Powell, B., Greenberg, P., Thomas, D., Stone, R., *et al.* (2006). Lenalidomide in the myelodysplastic syndrome with chromosome 5q deletion. The New England journal of medicine *355*, 1456-1465.

List, A., Kurtin, S., Roe, D.J., Buresh, A., Mahadevan, D., Fuchs, D., Rimsza, L., Heaton, R., Knight, R., and Zeldis, J.B. (2005). Efficacy of lenalidomide in myelodysplastic syndromes. The New England journal of medicine *352*, 549-557.

Lo Celso, C., Fleming, H.E., Wu, J.W., Zhao, C.X., Miake-Lye, S., Fujisaki, J., Cote, D., Rowe, D.W., Lin, C.P., and Scadden, D.T. (2009). Live-animal tracking of individual haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells in their niche. Nature 457, 92-96.

Lorenz, E., Uphoff, D., Reid, T.R., and Shelton, E. (1951). Modification of irradiation injury in mice and guinea pigs by bone marrow injections. Journal of the National Cancer Institute *12*, 197-201.

Lu, M., Zhang, Q., Deng, M., Miao, J., Guo, Y., Gao, W., and Cui, Q. (2008). An analysis of human microRNA and disease associations. PloS one *3*, e3420.

Lund, E., and Dahlberg, J.E. (2006). Substrate selectivity of exportin 5 and Dicer in the biogenesis of microRNAs. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology *71*, 59-66.

Macfarlane, L.A., and Murphy, P.R. (2010). MicroRNA: Biogenesis, Function and Role in Cancer. Current genomics 11, 537-561.

MacRae, I.J., Ma, E., Zhou, M., Robinson, C.V., and Doudna, J.A. (2008). In vitro reconstitution of the human RISC-loading complex. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *105*, 512-517.

Majeti, R., Park, C.Y., and Weissman, I.L. (2007). Identification of a hierarchy of multipotent hematopoietic progenitors in human cord blood. Cell stem cell *1*, 635-645.

Majewski, I.J., Ritchie, M.E., Phipson, B., Corbin, J., Pakusch, M., Ebert, A., Busslinger, M., Koseki, H., Hu, Y., Smyth, G.K., *et al.* (2010). Opposing roles of polycomb repressive complexes in hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Blood *116*, 731-739.

Malcovati, L., Germing, U., Kuendgen, A., Della Porta, M.G., Pascutto, C., Invernizzi, R., Giagounidis, A., Hildebrandt, B., Bernasconi, P., Knipp, S., *et al.* (2007). Time-dependent prognostic scoring system for predicting survival and leukemic evolution in myelodysplastic syndromes. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *25*, 3503-3510.

Mardis, E.R. (2008). The impact of next-generation sequencing technology on genetics. Trends in genetics : TIG 24, 133-141.

Matatall, K.A., Jeong, M., Chen, S., Sun, D., Chen, F., Mo, Q., Kimmel, M., and King, K.Y. (2016). Chronic Infection Depletes Hematopoietic Stem Cells through Stress-Induced Terminal Differentiation. Cell Rep *17*, 2584-2595.

Matatall, K.A., Shen, C.C., Challen, G.A., and King, K.Y. (2014). Type II interferon promotes differentiation of myeloid-biased hematopoietic stem cells. Stem cells (Dayton, Ohio) *32*, 3023-3030.

Matsuzaki, Y., Kinjo, K., Mulligan, R.C., and Okano, H. (2004). Unexpectedly efficient homing capacity of purified murine hematopoietic stem cells. Immunity *20*, 87-93.

Maximow, A.A. (1909). Untersuchungen uber blut und bindegewebe 1. Die fruhesten entwicklungsstadien der blut- und binde- gewebszellan bein saugetierembryo, bis zum anfang der blutbilding unden leber. Arch Mikroskop Anat 73, 444-564.

Mazumdar, C., Shen, Y., Xavy, S., Zhao, F., Reinisch, A., Li, R., Corces, M.R., Flynn, R.A., Buenrostro, J.D., Chan, S.M., *et al.* (2015). Leukemia-Associated Cohesin Mutants Dominantly Enforce Stem Cell Programs and Impair Human Hematopoietic Progenitor Differentiation. Cell stem cell *17*, 675-688.

McGrath, K.E., Frame, J.M., Fegan, K.H., Bowen, J.R., Conway, S.J., Catherman, S.C., Kingsley, P.D., Koniski, A.D., and Palis, J. (2015). Distinct Sources of Hematopoietic Progenitors Emerge before HSCs and Provide Functional Blood Cells in the Mammalian Embryo. Cell Rep *11*, 1892-1904.

McKerrell, T., Park, N., Moreno, T., Grove, C.S., Ponstingl, H., Stephens, J., Crawley, C., Craig, J., Scott, M.A., Hodkinson, C., *et al.* (2015). Leukemia-associated somatic mutations drive distinct patterns of age-related clonal hemopoiesis. Cell Rep *10*, 1239-1245.

Medvinsky, A., and Dzierzak, E. (1996). Definitive hematopoiesis is autonomously initiated by the AGM region. Cell *86*, 897-906.

Mendez-Ferrer, S., Lucas, D., Battista, M., and Frenette, P.S. (2008). Haematopoietic stem cell release is regulated by circadian oscillations. Nature *452*, 442-447.

Mendez-Ferrer, S., Michurina, T.V., Ferraro, F., Mazloom, A.R., Macarthur, B.D., Lira, S.A., Scadden, D.T., Ma'ayan, A., Enikolopov, G.N., and Frenette, P.S. (2010). Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature *466*, 829-834.

Meyers, J., Yu, Y., Kaye, J.A., and Davis, K.L. (2013). Medicare fee-for-service enrollees with primary acute myeloid leukemia: an analysis of treatment patterns, survival, and healthcare resource utilization and costs. Applied health economics and health policy *11*, 275-286.

Michaelis, C., Ciosk, R., and Nasmyth, K. (1997). Cohesins: chromosomal proteins that prevent premature separation of sister chromatids. Cell *91*, 35-45.

Miescher, P.P., and Fauconnet, M. (1954). Mise en e vidence de diffe rents groupes leucocytaires chez l'homme. Schweizerische Medizinische Wochenschrift *84*, 597-599.

Miller, P.G., Al-Shahrour, F., Hartwell, K.A., Chu, L.P., Jaras, M., Puram, R.V., Puissant, A., Callahan, K.P., Ashton, J., McConkey, M.E., *et al.* (2013). In Vivo RNAi screening identifies a leukemia-specific dependence on integrin beta 3 signaling. Cancer cell *24*, 45-58.

Milyavsky, M., Gan, O.I., Trottier, M., Komosa, M., Tabach, O., Notta, F., Lechman, E., Hermans, K.G., Eppert, K., Konovalova, Z., *et al.* (2010). A distinctive DNA damage response in human hematopoietic stem cells reveals an apoptosis-independent role for p53 in self-renewal. Cell stem cell 7, 186-197.

Moffat, J., Grueneberg, D.A., Yang, X., Kim, S.Y., Kloepfer, A.M., Hinkle, G., Piqani, B., Eisenhaure, T.M., Luo, B., Grenier, J.K., *et al.* (2006). A lentiviral RNAi library for human and mouse genes applied to an arrayed viral high-content screen. Cell *124*, 1283-1298.

Moffat, J., and Sabatini, D.M. (2006). Building mammalian signalling pathways with RNAi screens. Nature reviews Molecular cell biology *7*, 177-187.

Mohrin, M., Bourke, E., Alexander, D., Warr, M.R., Barry-Holson, K., Le Beau, M.M., Morrison, C.G., and Passegue, E. (2010). Hematopoietic stem cell quiescence promotes error-prone DNA repair and mutagenesis. Cell stem cell *7*, 174-185.

Mombaerts, P., Iacomini, J., Johnson, R.S., Herrup, K., Tonegawa, S., and Papaioannou, V.E. (1992). RAG-1-deficient mice have no mature B and T lymphocytes. Cell *68*, 869-877.

Morrison, S.J., and Spradling, A.C. (2008). Stem cells and niches: mechanisms that promote stem cell maintenance throughout life. Cell *132*, 598-611.

Morrison, S.J., and Weissman, I.L. (1994). The long-term repopulating subset of hematopoietic stem cells is deterministic and isolatable by phenotype. Immunity *1*, 661-673.

Mrozek, K., Marcucci, G., Nicolet, D., Maharry, K.S., Becker, H., Whitman, S.P., Metzeler, K.H., Schwind, S., Wu, Y.Z., Kohlschmidt, J., *et al.* (2012). Prognostic significance of the European LeukemiaNet standardized system for reporting cytogenetic and molecular alterations in adults with acute myeloid leukemia. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *30*, 4515-4523.

Mukai, K., and Galli, A. (2013). Basophils. ELS Online.

Mullenders, J., Aranda-Orgilles, B., Lhoumaud, P., Keller, M., Pae, J., Wang, K., Kayembe, C., Rocha, P.P., Raviram, R., Gong, Y., *et al.* (2015). Cohesin loss

alters adult hematopoietic stem cell homeostasis, leading to myeloproliferative neoplasms. The Journal of experimental medicine *212*, 1833-1850.

Muller, A.M., Medvinsky, A., Strouboulis, J., Grosveld, F., and Dzierzak, E. (1994). Development of hematopoietic stem cell activity in the mouse embryo. Immunity 1, 291-301.

Murray, I.A., Patterson, A.D., and Perdew, G.H. (2014). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor ligands in cancer: friend and foe. Nature reviews Cancer 14, 801-814.

Na Nakorn, T., Traver, D., Weissman, I.L., and Akashi, K. (2002). Myeloerythroid-restricted progenitors are sufficient to confer radioprotection and provide the majority of day 8 CFU-S. The Journal of clinical investigation *109*, 1579-1585.

Nakamura-Ishizu, A., Takubo, K., Fujioka, M., and Suda, T. (2014). Megakaryocytes are essential for HSC quiescence through the production of thrombopoietin. Biochemical and biophysical research communications *454*, 353-357.

Nasmyth, K., and Haering, C.H. (2009). Cohesin: its roles and mechanisms. Annual review of genetics *43*, 525-558.

Nellen, W., and Lichtenstein, C. (1993). What makes an mRNA anti-sense-itive? Trends in biochemical sciences *18*, 419-423.

Neschadim, A., McCart, J.A., Keating, A., and Medin, J.A. (2007). A roadmap to safe, efficient, and stable lentivirus-mediated gene therapy with hematopoietic cell transplantation. Biology of blood and marrow transplantation : journal of the American Society for Blood and Marrow Transplantation *13*, 1407-1416.

Neves, J., Sousa-Victor, P., and Jasper, H. (2017). Rejuvenating Strategies for Stem Cell-Based Therapies in Aging. Cell stem cell *20*, 161-175.

Nichols, B.A., Bainton, D.F., and Farquhar, M.G. (1971). Differentiation of monocytes. Origin, nature, and fate of their azurophil granules. The Journal of cell biology *50*, 498-515.

Nilsson, S.K., Johnston, H.M., and Coverdale, J.A. (2001). Spatial localization of transplanted hemopoietic stem cells: inferences for the localization of stem cell niches. Blood *97*, 2293-2299.

Nombela-Arrieta, C., Pivarnik, G., Winkel, B., Canty, K.J., Harley, B., Mahoney, J.E., Park, S.Y., Lu, J., Protopopov, A., and Silberstein, L.E. (2013). Quantitative

imaging of haematopoietic stem and progenitor cell localization and hypoxic status in the bone marrow microenvironment. Nature cell biology *15*, 533-543.

Notta, F., Doulatov, S., Laurenti, E., Poeppl, A., Jurisica, I., and Dick, J.E. (2011). Isolation of single human hematopoietic stem cells capable of long-term multilineage engraftment. Science (New York, NY) *333*, 218-221.

Notta, F., Zandi, S., Takayama, N., Dobson, S., Gan, O.I., Wilson, G., Kaufmann, K.B., McLeod, J., Laurenti, E., Dunant, C.F., *et al.* (2016). Distinct routes of lineage development reshape the human blood hierarchy across ontogeny. Science (New York, NY) *351*, aab2116.

O'Connell, R.M., Chaudhuri, A.A., Rao, D.S., Gibson, W.S., Balazs, A.B., and Baltimore, D. (2010). MicroRNAs enriched in hematopoietic stem cells differentially regulate long-term hematopoietic output. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 14235-14240.

Oettinger, M.A., Schatz, D.G., Gorka, C., and Baltimore, D. (1990). RAG-1 and RAG-2, adjacent genes that synergistically activate V(D)J recombination. Science (New York, NY) 248, 1517-1523.

Ogawa, M. (1993). Differentiation and proliferation of hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *81*, 2844-2853.

Ohishi, K., Varnum-Finney, B., and Bernstein, I.D. (2002). Delta-1 enhances marrow and thymus repopulating ability of human CD34(+)CD38(-) cord blood cells. The Journal of clinical investigation *110*, 1165-1174.

Oliva, E.N., Alati, C., Santini, V., Poloni, A., Molteni, A., Niscola, P., Salvi, F., Sanpaolo, G., Balleari, E., Germing, U., *et al.* (2017). Eltrombopag versus placebo for low-risk myelodysplastic syndromes with thrombocytopenia (EQoL-MDS): phase 1 results of a single-blind, randomised, controlled, phase 2 superiority trial. The Lancet Haematology *4*, e127-e136.

Omatsu, Y., Sugiyama, T., Kohara, H., Kondoh, G., Fujii, N., Kohno, K., and Nagasawa, T. (2010). The essential functions of adipo-osteogenic progenitors as the hematopoietic stem and progenitor cell niche. Immunity *33*, 387-399.

Ooi, A.G., Sahoo, D., Adorno, M., Wang, Y., Weissman, I.L., and Park, C.Y. (2010). MicroRNA-125b expands hematopoietic stem cells and enriches for the lymphoid-balanced and lymphoid-biased subsets. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 21505-21510.

Orelio, C., Haak, E., Peeters, M., and Dzierzak, E. (2008). Interleukin-1-mediated hematopoietic cell regulation in the aorta-gonad-mesonephros region of the mouse embryo. Blood *112*, 4895-4904.

Orjalo, A.V., Bhaumik, D., Gengler, B.K., Scott, G.K., and Campisi, J. (2009). Cell surface-bound IL-1alpha is an upstream regulator of the senescenceassociated IL-6/IL-8 cytokine network. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *106*, 17031-17036.

Orkin, S.H., and Zon, L.I. (2008). Hematopoiesis: an evolving paradigm for stem cell biology. Cell *132*, 631-644.

Osawa, M., Hanada, K., Hamada, H., and Nakauchi, H. (1996). Long-term lymphohematopoietic reconstitution by a single CD34-low/negative hematopoietic stem cell. Science (New York, NY) *273*, 242-245.

Paddison, P.J., Silva, J.M., Conklin, D.S., Schlabach, M., Li, M., Aruleba, S., Balija, V., O'Shaughnessy, A., Gnoj, L., Scobie, K., *et al.* (2004). A resource for large-scale RNA-interference-based screens in mammals. Nature *428*, 427-431.

Palchaudhuri, R., Saez, B., Hoggatt, J., Schajnovitz, A., Sykes, D.B., Tate, T.A., Czechowicz, A., Kfoury, Y., Ruchika, F., Rossi, D.J., *et al.* (2016). Non-genotoxic conditioning for hematopoietic stem cell transplantation using a hematopoietic-cell-specific internalizing immunotoxin. Nature biotechnology *34*, 738-745.

Palis, J. (2016). Hematopoietic stem cell-independent hematopoiesis: emergence of erythroid, megakaryocyte, and myeloid potential in the mammalian embryo. FEBS letters *590*, 3965-3974.

Palis, J., and Yoder, M.C. (2001). Yolk-sac hematopoiesis: the first blood cells of mouse and man. Experimental hematology *29*, 927-936.

Papaemmanuil, E., Gerstung, M., Malcovati, L., Tauro, S., Gundem, G., Van Loo, P., Yoon, C.J., Ellis, P., Wedge, D.C., Pellagatti, A., *et al.* (2013). Clinical and biological implications of driver mutations in myelodysplastic syndromes. Blood *122*, 3616-3627.

Pawliuk, R., Eaves, C., and Humphries, R.K. (1996). Evidence of both ontogeny and transplant dose-regulated expansion of hematopoietic stem cells in vivo. Blood *88*, 2852-2858.

Pellicer, J., Fay, M.F., and Leitch, I.J. (2010). The largest eukaryotic genome of them all? Botanical Journal of the Linnean Society *164*.

Perry, J.M., He, X.C., Sugimura, R., Grindley, J.C., Haug, J.S., Ding, S., and Li, L. (2011). Cooperation between both Wnt/{beta}-catenin and PTEN/PI3K/Akt signaling promotes primitive hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal and expansion. Genes & development *25*, 1928-1942.

Pestina, T.I., Cleveland, J.L., Yang, C., Zambetti, G.P., and Jackson, C.W. (2001). Mpl ligand prevents lethal myelosuppression by inhibiting p53-dependent apoptosis. Blood *98*, 2084-2090. Peters, J.M., Tedeschi, A., and Schmitz, J. (2008). The cohesin complex and its roles in chromosome biology. Genes & development *22*, 3089-3114.

Petersdorf, E.W., Gooley, T.A., Anasetti, C., Martin, P.J., Smith, A.G., Mickelson, E.M., Woolfrey, A.E., and Hansen, J.A. (1998). Optimizing outcome after unrelated marrow transplantation by comprehensive matching of HLA class I and II alleles in the donor and recipient. Blood *92*, 3515-3520.

Pietras, E.M. (2017). Inflammation: a key regulator of hematopoietic stem cell fate in health and disease. Blood *130*, 1693-1698.

Pietras, E.M., Lakshminarasimhan, R., Techner, J.M., Fong, S., Flach, J., Binnewies, M., and Passegue, E. (2014). Re-entry into quiescence protects hematopoietic stem cells from the killing effect of chronic exposure to type I interferons. The Journal of experimental medicine *211*, 245-262.

Pietras, E.M., Mirantes-Barbeito, C., Fong, S., Loeffler, D., Kovtonyuk, L.V., Zhang, S., Lakshminarasimhan, R., Chin, C.P., Techner, J.M., Will, B., *et al.* (2016). Chronic interleukin-1 exposure drives haematopoietic stem cells towards precocious myeloid differentiation at the expense of self-renewal. Nature cell biology *18*, 607-618.

Pietras, E.M., Warr, M.R., and Passegue, E. (2011). Cell cycle regulation in hematopoietic stem cells. The Journal of cell biology *195*, 709-720.

Pinho, S., Lacombe, J., Hanoun, M., Mizoguchi, T., Bruns, I., Kunisaki, Y., and Frenette, P.S. (2013). PDGFRalpha and CD51 mark human nestin+ sphere-forming mesenchymal stem cells capable of hematopoietic progenitor cell expansion. The Journal of experimental medicine *210*, 1351-1367.

Platzbecker, U., Germing, U., Gotze, K.S., Kiewe, P., Mayer, K., Chromik, J., Radsak, M., Wolff, T., Zhang, X., Laadem, A., *et al.* (2017). Luspatercept for the treatment of anaemia in patients with lower-risk myelodysplastic syndromes (PACE-MDS): a multicentre, open-label phase 2 dose-finding study with long-term extension study. The Lancet Oncology *18*, 1338-1347.

Pollyea, D.A., Gutman, J.A., Gore, L., Smith, C.A., and Jordan, C.T. (2014). Targeting acute myeloid leukemia stem cells: a review and principles for the development of clinical trials. Haematologica *99*, 1277-1284.

Polyzoidis, S., Koletsa, T., Panagiotidou, S., Ashkan, K., and Theoharides, T.C. (2015). Mast cells in meningiomas and brain inflammation. Journal of neuroinflammation *12*, 170.

Puram, R.V., Kowalczyk, M.S., de Boer, C.G., Schneider, R.K., Miller, P.G., McConkey, M., Tothova, Z., Tejero, H., Heckl, D., Jaras, M., *et al.* (2016). Core Circadian Clock Genes Regulate Leukemia Stem Cells in AML. Cell *165*, 303-316.

Raaijmakers, M.H., Mukherjee, S., Guo, S., Zhang, S., Kobayashi, T., Schoonmaker, J.A., Ebert, B.L., Al-Shahrour, F., Hasserjian, R.P., Scadden, E.O., *et al.* (2010). Bone progenitor dysfunction induces myelodysplasia and secondary leukaemia. Nature *464*, 852-857.

Raic, A., Rodling, L., Kalbacher, H., and Lee-Thedieck, C. (2014). Biomimetic macroporous PEG hydrogels as 3D scaffolds for the multiplication of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. Biomaterials *35*, 929-940.

Rak, J., Foster, K., Potrzebowska, K., and Talkhoncheh, M.S. (2017). Cytohesin 1 regulates homing and engraftment of human hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells. *129*, 950-958.

Rambaldi, A., Torcia, M., Dinarello, C.A., Barbui, T., and Cozzolino, F. (1993). Modulation of cell proliferation and cytokine production in AML by recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Leukemia *7 Suppl 2*, S10-12.

Rebel, V.I., Miller, C.L., Eaves, C.J., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1996a). The repopulation potential of fetal liver hematopoietic stem cells in mice exceeds that of their liver adult bone marrow counterparts. Blood *87*, 3500-3507.

Rebel, V.I., Miller, C.L., Thornbury, G.R., Dragowska, W.H., Eaves, C.J., and Lansdorp, P.M. (1996b). A comparison of long-term repopulating hematopoietic stem cells in fetal liver and adult bone marrow from the mouse. Experimental hematology *24*, 638-648.

Remeseiro, S., Cuadrado, A., Carretero, M., Martinez, P., Drosopoulos, W.C., Canamero, M., Schildkraut, C.L., Blasco, M.A., and Losada, A. (2012). Cohesin-SA1 deficiency drives aneuploidy and tumourigenesis in mice due to impaired replication of telomeres. The EMBO journal *31*, 2076-2089. Reya, T., Duncan, A.W., Ailles, L., Domen, J., Scherer, D.C., Willert, K., Hintz, L., Nusse, R., and Weissman, I.L. (2003). A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *423*, 409-414.

Rhyasen, G.W., Bolanos, L., Fang, J., Jerez, A., Wunderlich, M., Rigolino, C., Mathews, L., Ferrer, M., Southall, N., Guha, R., *et al.* (2013). Targeting IRAK1 as a therapeutic approach for myelodysplastic syndrome. Cancer cell *24*, 90-104.

Robin, C., Ottersbach, K., Durand, C., Peeters, M., Vanes, L., Tybulewicz, V., and Dzierzak, E. (2006). An unexpected role for IL-3 in the embryonic development of hematopoietic stem cells. Developmental cell *11*, 171-180.

Rodriguez-Fraticelli, A.E., Wolock, S.L., Weinreb, C.S., Panero, R., Patel, S.H., Jankovic, M., Sun, J., Calogero, R.A., Klein, A.M., and Camargo, F.D. (2018). Clonal analysis of lineage fate in native haematopoiesis. Nature *553*, 212-216.

Rubio, E.D., Reiss, D.J., Welcsh, P.L., Disteche, C.M., Filippova, G.N., Baliga, N.S., Aebersold, R., Ranish, J.A., and Krumm, A. (2008). CTCF physically links cohesin to chromatin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *105*, 8309-8314.

Rundberg Nilsson, A., Pronk, C.J., and Bryder, D. (2015). Probing hematopoietic stem cell function using serial transplantation: Seeding characteristics and the impact of stem cell purification. Experimental hematology *43*, 812-817.e811.

Rundberg Nilsson, A., Soneji, S., Adolfsson, S., Bryder, D., and Pronk, C.J. (2016). Human and Murine Hematopoietic Stem Cell Aging Is Associated with Functional Impairments and Intrinsic Megakaryocytic/Erythroid Bias. PloS one *11*, e0158369.

Rupec, R.A., Jundt, F., Rebholz, B., Eckelt, B., Weindl, G., Herzinger, T., Flaig, M.J., Moosmann, S., Plewig, G., Dorken, B., *et al.* (2005). Stroma-mediated dysregulation of myelopoiesis in mice lacking I kappa B alpha. Immunity *22*, 479-491.

Sacchetti, B., Funari, A., Michienzi, S., Di Cesare, S., Piersanti, S., Saggio, I., Tagliafico, E., Ferrari, S., Robey, P.G., Riminucci, M., *et al.* (2007). Self-renewing osteoprogenitors in bone marrow sinusoids can organize a hematopoietic microenvironment. Cell *131*, 324-336.

Saini, H.K., Griffiths-Jones, S., and Enright, A.J. (2007). Genomic analysis of human microRNA transcripts. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *104*, 17719-17724.

Samokhvalov, I.M., Samokhvalova, N.I., and Nishikawa, S. (2007). Cell tracing shows the contribution of the yolk sac to adult haematopoiesis. Nature *446*, 1056-1061.

Santaguida, M., Schepers, K., King, B., Sabnis, A.J., Forsberg, E.C., Attema, J.L., Braun, B.S., and Passegue, E. (2009). JunB protects against myeloid malignancies by limiting hematopoietic stem cell proliferation and differentiation without affecting self-renewal. Cancer cell *15*, 341-352.

Sauvageau, G., Iscove, N.N., and Humphries, R.K. (2004). In vitro and in vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells. Oncogene *23*, 7223-7232.

Sawai, C.M., Babovic, S., Upadhaya, S., Knapp, D., Lavin, Y., Lau, C.M., Goloborodko, A., Feng, J., Fujisaki, J., Ding, L., *et al.* (2016). Hematopoietic Stem Cells Are the Major Source of Multilineage Hematopoiesis in Adult Animals. Immunity *45*, 597-609.

Sawen, P., Lang, S., Mandal, P., Rossi, D.J., Soneji, S., and Bryder, D. (2016). Mitotic History Reveals Distinct Stem Cell Populations and Their Contributions to Hematopoiesis. Cell Rep *14*, 2809-2818.

Scadden, D.T. (2006). The stem-cell niche as an entity of action. Nature 441, 1075-1079.

Schanz, J., Tuchler, H., Sole, F., Mallo, M., Luno, E., Cervera, J., Granada, I., Hildebrandt, B., Slovak, M.L., Ohyashiki, K., *et al.* (2012). New comprehensive cytogenetic scoring system for primary myelodysplastic syndromes (MDS) and oligoblastic acute myeloid leukemia after MDS derived from an international database merge. Journal of clinical oncology : official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology *30*, 820-829.

Schepers, K., Campbell, T.B., and Passegue, E. (2015). Normal and leukemic stem cell niches: insights and therapeutic opportunities. Cell stem cell *16*, 254-267.

Schepers, K., Pietras, E.M., Reynaud, D., Flach, J., Binnewies, M., Garg, T., Wagers, A.J., Hsiao, E.C., and Passegue, E. (2013). Myeloproliferative neoplasia remodels the endosteal bone marrow niche into a self-reinforcing leukemic niche. Cell stem cell *13*, 285-299.

Schofield, R. (1978). The relationship between the spleen colony-forming cell and the haematopoietic stem cell. Blood Cells *4*, 7-25.

Schuettpelz, L.G., Borgerding, J.N., Christopher, M.J., Gopalan, P.K., Romine, M.P., Herman, A.C., Woloszynek, J.R., Greenbaum, A.M., and Link, D.C. (2014).

G-CSF regulates hematopoietic stem cell activity, in part, through activation of Toll-like receptor signaling. Leukemia 28, 1851-1860.

Schwarz, D.S., Hutvagner, G., Du, T., Xu, Z., Aronin, N., and Zamore, P.D. (2003). Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. Cell *115*, 199-208.

Scott, E.W., Simon, M.C., Anastasi, J., and Singh, H. (1994). Requirement of transcription factor PU.1 in the development of multiple hematopoietic lineages. Science (New York, NY) *265*, 1573-1577.

Seet, L.F., Teng, E., Lai, Y.S., Laning, J., Kraus, M., Wnendt, S., Merchav, S., and Chan, S.L. (2009). Valproic acid enhances the engraftability of human umbilical cord blood hematopoietic stem cells expanded under serum-free conditions. European journal of haematology *82*, 124-132.

Sekeres, M.A. (2010). The epidemiology of myelodysplastic syndromes. Hematology/oncology clinics of North America *24*, 287-294.

Shabalina, S.A., and Koonin, E.V. (2008). Origins and evolution of eukaryotic RNA interference. Trends in ecology & evolution *23*, 578-587.

Shalem, O., Sanjana, N.E., Hartenian, E., Shi, X., Scott, D.A., Mikkelsen, T.S., Heckl, D., Ebert, B.L., Root, D.E., Doench, J.G., *et al.* (2014). Genome-scale CRISPR-Cas9 knockout screening in human cells. Science (New York, NY) *343*, 84-87.

Sharma, M.B., Limaye, L.S., and Kale, V.P. (2012). Mimicking the functional hematopoietic stem cell niche in vitro: recapitulation of marrow physiology by hydrogel-based three-dimensional cultures of mesenchymal stromal cells. Haematologica *97*, 651-660.

Shultz, L.D., Lyons, B.L., Burzenski, L.M., Gott, B., Chen, X., Chaleff, S., Kotb, M., Gillies, S.D., King, M., Mangada, J., *et al.* (2005). Human lymphoid and myeloid cell development in NOD/LtSz-scid IL2R gamma null mice engrafted with mobilized human hemopoietic stem cells. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950) *174*, 6477-6489.

Shultz, L.D., Schweitzer, P.A., Christianson, S.W., Gott, B., Schweitzer, I.B., Tennent, B., McKenna, S., Mobraaten, L., Rajan, T.V., Greiner, D.L., *et al.* (1995). Multiple defects in innate and adaptive immunologic function in NOD/LtSz-scid mice. Journal of immunology (Baltimore, Md : 1950) *154*, 180-191.

Siegel, R.L., Miller, K.D., and Jemal, A. (2017). Cancer Statistics, 2017. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians 67, 7-30.

Sigurdsson, V., Takei, H., Soboleva, S., Radulovic, V., Galeev, R., Siva, K., Leeb-Lundberg, L.M., Iida, T., Nittono, H., and Miharada, K. (2016). Bile Acids Protect Expanding Hematopoietic Stem Cells from Unfolded Protein Stress in Fetal Liver. Cell stem cell.

Sill, H., Olipitz, W., Zebisch, A., Schulz, E., and Wolfler, A. (2011). Therapyrelated myeloid neoplasms: pathobiology and clinical characteristics. British journal of pharmacology *162*, 792-805.

Singh, K.P., Bennett, J.A., Casado, F.L., Walrath, J.L., Welle, S.L., and Gasiewicz, T.A. (2014). Loss of aryl hydrocarbon receptor promotes gene changes associated with premature hematopoietic stem cell exhaustion and development of a myeloproliferative disorder in aging mice. Stem cells and development *23*, 95-106.

Sipkins, D.A., Wei, X., Wu, J.W., Runnels, J.M., Cote, D., Means, T.K., Luster, A.D., Scadden, D.T., and Lin, C.P. (2005). In vivo imaging of specialized bone marrow endothelial microdomains for tumour engraftment. Nature *435*, 969-973.

Sitnicka, E., Lin, N., Priestley, G.V., Fox, N., Broudy, V.C., Wolf, N.S., and Kaushansky, K. (1996). The effect of thrombopoietin on the proliferation and differentiation of murine hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *87*, 4998-5005.

Spangrude, G.J., Heimfeld, S., and Weissman, I.L. (1988). Purification and characterization of mouse hematopoietic stem cells. Science (New York, NY) *241*, 58-62.

Spencer, J.A., Ferraro, F., Roussakis, E., Klein, A., Wu, J., Runnels, J.M., Zaher, W., Mortensen, L.J., Alt, C., Turcotte, R., *et al.* (2014). Direct measurement of local oxygen concentration in the bone marrow of live animals. Nature *508*, 269-273.

Stachura, D.L., Svoboda, O., Campbell, C.A., Espin-Palazon, R., Lau, R.P., Zon, L.I., Bartunek, P., and Traver, D. (2013). The zebrafish granulocyte colonystimulating factors (Gcsfs): 2 paralogous cytokines and their roles in hematopoietic development and maintenance. Blood *122*, 3918-3928. Stadelmann, W.K., Digenis, A.G., and Tobin, G.R. (1998). Physiology and healing dynamics of chronic cutaneous wounds. American journal of surgery *176*, 26s-38s. Stier, S., Cheng, T., Forkert, R., Lutz, C., Dombkowski, D.M., Zhang, J.L., and Scadden, D.T. (2003). Ex vivo targeting of p21Cip1/Waf1 permits relative expansion of human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood *102*, 1260-1266.

Stifter, G., Heiss, S., Gastl, G., Tzankov, A., and Stauder, R. (2005). Overexpression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in bone marrow biopsies from patients with myelodysplastic syndromes: relationship to anemia and prognosis. European journal of haematology *75*, 485-491.

Stresemann, C., and Lyko, F. (2008). Modes of action of the DNA methyltransferase inhibitors azacytidine and decitabine. International journal of cancer *123*, 8-13.

Suh, H.C., Gooya, J., Renn, K., Friedman, A.D., Johnson, P.F., and Keller, J.R. (2006). C/EBPalpha determines hematopoietic cell fate in multipotential progenitor cells by inhibiting erythroid differentiation and inducing myeloid differentiation. Blood *107*, 4308-4316.

Sun, J., Ramos, A., Chapman, B., Johnnidis, J.B., Le, L., Ho, Y.J., Klein, A., Hofmann, O., and Camargo, F.D. (2014). Clonal dynamics of native haematopoiesis. Nature *514*, 322-327.

Swirski, F.K., Nahrendorf, M., Etzrodt, M., Wildgruber, M., Cortez-Retamozo, V., Panizzi, P., Figueiredo, J.L., Kohler, R.H., Chudnovskiy, A., Waterman, P., *et al.* (2009). Identification of splenic reservoir monocytes and their deployment to inflammatory sites. Science (New York, NY) *325*, 612-616.

Tabara, H., Grishok, A., and Mello, C.C. (1998). RNAi in C. elegans: soaking in the genome sequence. Science (New York, NY) 282, 430-431.

Taichman, R.S. (2005). Blood and bone: two tissues whose fates are intertwined to create the hematopoietic stem-cell niche. Blood *105*, 2631-2639.

Takenaka, K., Prasolava, T.K., Wang, J.C., Mortin-Toth, S.M., Khalouei, S., Gan, O.I., Dick, J.E., and Danska, J.S. (2007). Polymorphism in Sirpa modulates engraftment of human hematopoietic stem cells. Nature immunology *8*, 1313-1323.

Takizawa, H., Boettcher, S., and Manz, M.G. (2012). Demand-adapted regulation of early hematopoiesis in infection and inflammation. Blood *119*, 2991-3002.

Takizawa, H., Fritsch, K., Kovtonyuk, L.V., Saito, Y., Yakkala, C., Jacobs, K., Ahuja, A.K., Lopes, M., Hausmann, A., Hardt, W.D., *et al.* (2017). Pathogen-Induced TLR4-TRIF Innate Immune Signaling in Hematopoietic Stem Cells

Promotes Proliferation but Reduces Competitive Fitness. Cell stem cell 21, 225-240.e225.

Takubo, K., Goda, N., Yamada, W., Iriuchishima, H., Ikeda, E., Kubota, Y., Shima, H., Johnson, R.S., Hirao, A., Suematsu, M., *et al.* (2010). Regulation of the HIF-1alpha level is essential for hematopoietic stem cells. Cell stem cell 7, 391-402.

Tavian, M., and Peault, B. (2005). The changing cellular environments of hematopoiesis in human development in utero. Experimental hematology *33*, 1062-1069.

Thomas, E.D., Lochte, H.L., Jr, Cannon, J.H., Sahler, O.D., and Ferrebee, J.W. (1959). Supralethal whole body irradiation and isologous marrow transplantation in man. Journal of Clinical Investigation *38*, 1709-1716.

Thomas, E.D., Lochte, H.L., Jr, Lu, W.C., and Ferrebee, J.W. (1957). Intravenous infusion of bone marrow in patients receiving radiation and chemotherapy. New England Journal of Medicine *257*, 491-496.

Till, J.E., and McCulloch, C.E. (1961). A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiation Research *14*, 213-222.

Timmons, L., Court, D.L., and Fire, A. (2001). Ingestion of bacterially expressed dsRNAs can produce specific and potent genetic interference in Caenorhabditis elegans. Gene *263*, 103-112.

Tothova, Z., Krill-Burger, J.M., Popova, K.D., Landers, C.C., Sievers, Q.L., Yudovich, D., Belizaire, R., Aster, J.C., Morgan, E.A., Tsherniak, A., *et al.* (2017). Multiplex CRISPR/Cas9-Based Genome Editing in Human Hematopoietic Stem Cells Models Clonal Hematopoiesis and Myeloid Neoplasia. Cell stem cell *21*, 547-555.e548.

Trowbridge, J.J., Xenocostas, A., Moon, R.T., and Bhatia, M. (2006). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is an in vivo regulator of hematopoietic stem cell repopulation. Nature medicine *12*, 89-98.

Uchida, N., and Weissman, I.L. (1992). Searching for hematopoietic stem cells: evidence that Thy-1.1lo Lin- Sca-1+ cells are the only stem cells in C57BL/Ka-Thy-1.1 bone marrow. The Journal of experimental medicine *175*, 175-184.

Ugale, A., Norddahl, G.L., Wahlestedt, M., Sawen, P., Jaako, P., Pronk, C.J., Soneji, S., Cammenga, J., and Bryder, D. (2014). Hematopoietic stem cells are intrinsically protected against MLL-ENL-mediated transformation. Cell Rep *9*, 1246-1255.

Ugarte, F., Sousae, R., Cinquin, B., Martin, E.W., Krietsch, J., Sanchez, G., Inman, M., Tsang, H., Warr, M., Passegue, E., *et al.* (2015). Progressive Chromatin Condensation and H3K9 Methylation Regulate the Differentiation of Embryonic and Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Stem cell reports *5*, 728-740.

Uhm, T.G., Kim, B.S., and Chung, I.Y. (2012). Eosinophil development, regulation of eosinophil-specific genes, and role of eosinophils in the pathogenesis of asthma. Allergy, asthma & immunology research *4*, 68-79.

Unnisa, Z., Singh, K.P., Henry, E.C., Donegan, C.L., Bennett, J.A., and Gasiewicz, T.A. (2016). Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Deficiency in an Exon 3 Deletion Mouse Model Promotes Hematopoietic Stem Cell Proliferation and Impacts Endosteal Niche Cells. Stem cells international *2016*, 4536187.

Vaananen, H.K., Zhao, H., Mulari, M., and Halleen, J.M. (2000). The cell biology of osteoclast function. Journal of cell science *113 (Pt 3)*, 377-381.

van der Lelij, P., Lieb, S., Jude, J., Wutz, G., Santos, C.P., Falkenberg, K., Schlattl, A., Ban, J., Schwentner, R., Hoffmann, T., *et al.* (2017). Synthetic lethality between the cohesin subunits STAG1 and STAG2 in diverse cancer contexts. eLife *6*.

van Rood, J.J., Eernisse, J.G., and van Leeuwen, A. (1958). Leukocyte antibodies in sera from pregnant women. Nature *181*, 1735-1736.

Viny, A.D., Ott, C.J., Spitzer, B., Rivas, M., Meydan, C., Papalexi, E., Yelin, D., Shank, K., Reyes, J., Chiu, A., *et al.* (2015). Dose-dependent role of the cohesin complex in normal and malignant hematopoiesis. The Journal of experimental medicine *212*, 1819-1832.

Vivier, E., Raulet, D.H., Moretta, A., Caligiuri, M.A., Zitvogel, L., Lanier, L.L., Yokoyama, W.M., and Ugolini, S. (2011). Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. Science (New York, NY) *331*, 44-49.

Walkley, C.R., Olsen, G.H., Dworkin, S., Fabb, S.A., Swann, J., McArthur, G.A., Westmoreland, S.V., Chambon, P., Scadden, D.T., and Purton, L.E. (2007a). A microenvironment-induced myeloproliferative syndrome caused by retinoic acid receptor gamma deficiency. Cell *129*, 1097-1110.

Walkley, C.R., Shea, J.M., Sims, N.A., Purton, L.E., and Orkin, S.H. (2007b). Rb regulates interactions between hematopoietic stem cells and their bone marrow microenvironment. Cell *129*, 1081-1095.

Walter, D., Lier, A., Geiselhart, A., Thalheimer, F.B., Huntscha, S., Sobotta, M.C., Moehrle, B., Brocks, D., Bayindir, I., Kaschutnig, P., *et al.* (2015). Exit from dormancy provokes DNA-damage-induced attrition in haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *520*, 549-552.

Wang, J., Sun, Q., Morita, Y., Jiang, H., Gross, A., Lechel, A., Hildner, K., Guachalla, L.M., Gompf, A., Hartmann, D., *et al.* (2012). A differentiation checkpoint limits hematopoietic stem cell self-renewal in response to DNA damage. Cell *148*, 1001-1014.

Wang, T., Wei, J.J., Sabatini, D.M., and Lander, E.S. (2014). Genetic screens in human cells using the CRISPR-Cas9 system. Science (New York, NY) *343*, 80-84.

Warr, M.R., Binnewies, M., Flach, J., Reynaud, D., Garg, T., Malhotra, R., Debnath, J., and Passegue, E. (2013). FOXO3A directs a protective autophagy program in haematopoietic stem cells. Nature *494*, 323-327.

Weekx, S.F., Van Bockstaele, D.R., Plum, J., Moulijn, A., Rodrigus, I., Lardon, F., De Smedt, M., Nijs, G., Lenjou, M., Loquet, P., *et al.* (1998). CD34++ CD38- and CD34+ CD38+ human hematopoietic progenitors from fetal liver, cord blood, and adult bone marrow respond differently to hematopoietic cytokines depending on the ontogenic source. Experimental hematology *26*, 1034-1042.

Welch, J.S., Ley, T.J., Link, D.C., Miller, C.A., Larson, D.E., Koboldt, D.C., Wartman, L.D., Lamprecht, T.L., Liu, F., Xia, J., *et al.* (2012). The origin and evolution of mutations in acute myeloid leukemia. Cell *150*, 264-278.

Welner, R.S., Amabile, G., Bararia, D., Czibere, A., Yang, H., Zhang, H., Pontes, L.L., Ye, M., Levantini, E., Di Ruscio, A., *et al.* (2015). Treatment of chronic myelogenous leukemia by blocking cytokine alterations found in normal stem and progenitor cells. Cancer cell *27*, 671-681.

Westbrook, T.F., Martin, E.S., Schlabach, M.R., Leng, Y., Liang, A.C., Feng, B., Zhao, J.J., Roberts, T.M., Mandel, G., Hannon, G.J., *et al.* (2005). A genetic screen for candidate tumor suppressors identifies REST. Cell *121*, 837-848.

Willert, K., Brown, J.D., Danenberg, E., Duncan, A.W., Weissman, I.L., Reya, T., Yates, J.R., 3rd, and Nusse, R. (2003). Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. Nature *423*, 448-452.

Wilson, R.C., and Doudna, J.A. (2013). Molecular mechanisms of RNA interference. Annual review of biophysics *42*, 217-239.

Winkler, I.G., Barbier, V., Nowlan, B., Jacobsen, R.N., Forristal, C.E., Patton, J.T., Magnani, J.L., and Levesque, J.P. (2012). Vascular niche E-selectin regulates hematopoietic stem cell dormancy, self renewal and chemoresistance. Nature medicine *18*, 1651-1657.

Witko-Sarsat, V., Rieu, P., Descamps-Latscha, B., Lesavre, P., and Halbwachs-Mecarelli, L. (2000). Neutrophils: molecules, functions and pathophysiological aspects. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology *80*, 617-653.

Wong, T.Y., Solis, M.A., Chen, Y.H., and Huang, L.L. (2015). Molecular mechanism of extrinsic factors affecting anti-aging of stem cells. World journal of stem cells 7, 512-520.

Woods, N.B., Fahlman, C., Mikkola, H., Hamaguchi, I., Olsson, K., Zufferey, R., Jacobsen, S.E., Trono, D., and Karlsson, S. (2000). Lentiviral gene transfer into primary and secondary NOD/SCID repopulating cells. Blood *96*, 3725-3733.

Wunderlich, M., Chou, F.S., Link, K.A., Mizukawa, B., Perry, R.L., Carroll, M., and Mulloy, J.C. (2010). AML xenograft efficiency is significantly improved in NOD/SCID-IL2RG mice constitutively expressing human SCF, GM-CSF and IL-3. Leukemia *24*, 1785-1788.

Xu, H., Yan, M., Patra, J., Natrajan, R., Yan, Y., Swagemakers, S., Tomaszewski, J.M., Verschoor, S., Millar, E.K., van der Spek, P., *et al.* (2011). Enhanced RAD21 cohesin expression confers poor prognosis and resistance to chemotherapy in high grade luminal, basal and HER2 breast cancers. Breast cancer research : BCR *13*, R9.

Yamamoto, J.F., and Goodman, M.T. (2008). Patterns of leukemia incidence in the United States by subtype and demographic characteristics, 1997-2002. Cancer causes & control : CCC *19*, 379-390.

Yamamoto, R., Morita, Y., Ooehara, J., Hamanaka, S., Onodera, M., Rudolph, K.L., Ema, H., and Nakauchi, H. (2013). Clonal analysis unveils self-renewing lineage-restricted progenitors generated directly from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell *154*, 1112-1126.

Yan, J., Enge, M., Whitington, T., Dave, K., Liu, J., Sur, I., Schmierer, B., Jolma, A., Kivioja, T., Taipale, M., *et al.* (2013). Transcription factor binding in human cells occurs in dense clusters formed around cohesin anchor sites. Cell *154*, 801-813.

Yanada, M., Matsuo, K., Emi, N., and Naoe, T. (2005). Efficacy of allogenetic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation depends on cytogenetic risk for acute

myeloid leukemia in first disease remission: a metaanalysis. Cancer 103, 1652-1658.

Ye, X., Huang, N., Liu, Y., Paroo, Z., Huerta, C., Li, P., Chen, S., Liu, Q., and Zhang, H. (2011). Structure of C3PO and mechanism of human RISC activation. Nature structural & molecular biology *18*, 650-657.

Yoshida, K., Sanada, M., Shiraishi, Y., Nowak, D., Nagata, Y., Yamamoto, R., Sato, Y., Sato-Otsubo, A., Kon, A., Nagasaki, M., *et al.* (2011). Frequent pathway mutations of splicing machinery in myelodysplasia. Nature *478*, 64-69.

Yoshida, K., Toki, T., Okuno, Y., Kanezaki, R., Shiraishi, Y., Sato-Otsubo, A., Sanada, M., Park, M.J., Terui, K., Suzuki, H., *et al.* (2013). The landscape of somatic mutations in Down syndrome-related myeloid disorders. Nature genetics *45*, 1293-1299.

Yoshihara, H., Arai, F., Hosokawa, K., Hagiwara, T., Takubo, K., Nakamura, Y., Gomei, Y., Iwasaki, H., Matsuoka, S., Miyamoto, K., *et al.* (2007). Thrombopoietin/MPL signaling regulates hematopoietic stem cell quiescence and interaction with the osteoblastic niche. Cell stem cell *1*, 685-697.

Young, N.S., Calado, R.T., and Scheinberg, P. (2006). Current concepts in the pathophysiology and treatment of aplastic anemia. Blood *108*, 2509-2519.

Yu, V.W.C., Yusuf, R.Z., Oki, T., Wu, J., Saez, B., Wang, X., Cook, C., Baryawno, N., Ziller, M.J., Lee, E., *et al.* (2016). Epigenetic Memory Underlies Cell-Autonomous Heterogeneous Behavior of Hematopoietic Stem Cells. Cell *167*, 1310-1322.e1317.

Zambetti, N.A., Ping, Z., Chen, S., Kenswil, K.J.G., Mylona, M.A., Sanders, M.A., Hoogenboezem, R.M., Bindels, E.M.J., Adisty, M.N., Van Strien, P.M.H., *et al.* (2016). Mesenchymal Inflammation Drives Genotoxic Stress in Hematopoietic Stem Cells and Predicts Disease Evolution in Human Preleukemia. Cell stem cell *19*, 613-627.

Zhang, J., Niu, C., Ye, L., Huang, H., He, X., Tong, W.G., Ross, J., Haug, J., Johnson, T., Feng, J.Q., *et al.* (2003). Identification of the haematopoietic stem cell niche and control of the niche size. Nature *425*, 836-841.

Zhao, J.L., Ma, C., O'Connell, R.M., Mehta, A., DiLoreto, R., Heath, J.R., and Baltimore, D. (2014a). Conversion of danger signals into cytokine signals by hematopoietic stem and progenitor cells for regulation of stress-induced hematopoiesis. Cell stem cell *14*, 445-459.

Zhao, M., Perry, J.M., Marshall, H., Venkatraman, A., Qian, P., He, X.C., Ahamed, J., and Li, L. (2014b). Megakaryocytes maintain homeostatic quiescence and promote post-injury regeneration of hematopoietic stem cells. Nature medicine *20*, 1321-1326.

Zhou, X., Zhang, Z., Feng, J.Q., Dusevich, V.M., Sinha, K., Zhang, H., Darnay, B.G., and de Crombrugghe, B. (2010). Multiple functions of Osterix are required for bone growth and homeostasis in postnatal mice. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America *107*, 12919-12924.

Zuber, J., Shi, J., Wang, E., Rappaport, A.R., Herrmann, H., Sison, E.A., Magoon, D., Qi, J., Blatt, K., Wunderlich, M., *et al.* (2011). RNAi screen identifies Brd4 as a therapeutic target in acute myeloid leukaemia. Nature *478*, 524-528.